DIGITAL COMMONS © UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

University of South Florida Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

November 2017

Generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable systems and their integrable couplings and Darboux transformations

Morgan Ashley McAnally University of South Florida, mamcanal@mail.usf.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Mathematics Commons

Scholar Commons Citation

McAnally, Morgan Ashley, "Generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable systems and their integrable couplings and Darboux transformations" (2017). *USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations.* https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/7423

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

Generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable systems and their integrable couplings and Darboux transformations

by

Morgan Ashley McAnally

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Mathematics and Statistics College of Art and Sciences University of South Florida

Major Professor: Wen-Xiu Ma, Ph.D. Razvan Teodorescu, Ph.D. Athanassios Kartsatos, Ph.D. Seung-Yeop Lee, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: November 16th, 2017

Keywords: Soliton hierarchies, Integrable couplings, Darboux transformations, Hamiltonian structures, Liouville integrability

Copyright © 2017, Morgan McAnally

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my beloved Carleigh, Cameron, Garry, Kathy, Meggin, Melanne, Bryan, Elizabeth, and Allison. Without all of your support, this undertaking would not be possible.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to extend my sincerest appreciation towards Dr. Wen-Xiu Ma for his guidance from the very beginning of my doctoral journey. His stimulating conversations and original ideas have been major inspirations for this dissertation. I would also like to thank my doctoral committee Dr. Razvan Teodorescu, Dr. Athanassios Kartsatos, and Dr. Seung-Yeop Lee. Dr. Kartsatos excited my fascination of mathematics in one of my first classes at the University of South Florida, Calculus I. Dr. Teodoresu helped lay the foundations of my mathematical knowledge through teaching many graduate courses I attended and Dr. Seung-Yeop Lee for giving many intriguing talks at the analysis seminar. To all three professors, I am deeply grateful for all the wisdom and knowledge you shared. My utmost thanks goes to Dr. David Rabson, Chair of the Department of Physics, for taking time out of his busy schedule to chair the defense.

In my ten years at the University of South Florida, I have met many friends of whom I am very grateful. Dr. Kristina Hilton, Meng Yang, Dr. Solomon Manukure, Eric Thompson, Lynnette Crawford, Melissa Gonzalez, Dr. Matthew Freeman and all other friends I have met along the way, I am grateful for your friendship, support, and ideas throughout my journey. Each and every one of you contributed something unique to my life and academic pursuit.

Last, but certainly not least, I want to offer my greatest thanks to my family. Without your continual support and encouragement, I know my pursuit of a doctoral degree in mathematics would not be possible. My fiancée, Carleigh, and my soon to be stepson, Cameron, have been supportive, patient, and understanding during this lengthy process. My parents have offered guidance and strength when I needed it the most. My siblings, Meggin, Melanne, Bryan, Elizabeth, and Allison,

supported and loved me every step of the way. I wish to recognize each of you for the many blessings you have given my life and express my warmest appreciation.

Contents

1	Inti	roduction 1			
	1.1	Background			
	1.2	Preliminaries			
		1.2.1 Integrable systems			
		1.2.2 Hamiltonian structures			
2	Infi	nite-dimensional integrable systems 16			
	2.1	Introduction			
	2.2	A method for soliton hierarchy construction			
		2.2.1 Lax pairs			
	2.3	Zero curvature equations and soliton equations			
		2.3.1 Trace identity			
		2.3.2 A general scheme to construct a soliton hierarchy			
	2.4	Two integrable soliton hierachies and their Hamiltonian structures			
		2.4.1 A simple matrix loop algebra			
		2.4.2 A generalized D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem			
		2.4.3 The soliton hierarchy			
		2.4.4 Hamiltonian structure			
		2.4.5 A bi-Hamiltonian reduced integrable hierarchy			
	2.5	Summary			
3	Integrable couplings 51				
	3.1	Introduction $\ldots \ldots 51$			
	3.2	A method for constructing integrable couplings			
		3.2.1 Semi-direct sums and non-semisimple Lie algebras			
		3.2.2 Variational identity			
		3.2.3 A general algorithm for integrable couplings			
4	$\mathbf{T}\mathbf{w}$	o integrable couplings and their Hamiltonian structures 57			
	4.1	An enlarged non-semisimple matrix loop algebra			
	4.2	Generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings			
	4.3	A specific reduction with two less potentials			
		4.3.1 Constructing bilinear forms over a non-semisimple Lie algebra			
		4.3.2 Hamiltonian structures of generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings 75			

		4.3.3 Bi-Hamiltonian structures of the reduced integrable couplings	84
	4.4	Summary	86
5	Dar	boux Transformations	87
	5.1	Introduction	87
	5.2	Background	88
	5.3	Darboux transformations of integrable systems	91
	5.4	Darboux transformations of integrable couplings	95
	5.5	An application to integrable couplings of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell hierarchy 1	.06
		5.5.1 Integrable couplings of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell hierarchy	.06
		5.5.2 Darboux transformations of generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings . 1	.09
	5.6	Summary	16
6	Cor	cluding Remarks	18

Abstract

We present a new spectral problem, a generalization of the D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem, associated with the Lie algebra $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$. Zero curvature equations furnish the soliton hierarchy. The trace identity produces the Hamiltonian structure for the hierarchy. Lastly, a reduction of the spectral problem is shown to have a different soliton hierarchy with a bi-Hamiltonian structure. The first major motivation of this dissertation is to present spectral problems that generate two soliton hierarchies with infinitely many commuting conservation laws and high-order symmetries, i.e., they are Liouville integrable.

We use the soliton hierarchies and a non-seimisimple matrix loop Lie algebra in order to construct integrable couplings. An enlarged spectral problem is presented starting from a generalization of the D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem. Then the enlarged zero curvature equations are solved from a series of Lax pairs producing the desired integrable couplings. A reduction is made of the original enlarged spectral problem generating a second integrable coupling system. Next, we discuss how to compute bilinear forms that are symmetric, ad-invariant, and non-degenerate on the given non-semisimple matrix Lie algebra to employ the variational identity. The variational identity is applied to the original integrable couplings of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy to furnish its Hamiltonian structures. Then we apply the variational identity to the reduced integrable couplings. The reduced coupling system has a bi-Hamiltonian structure. Both integrable coupling systems retain the properties of infinitely many commuting high-order symmetries and conserved densities of their original subsystems and, again, are Liouville integrable.

In order to find solutions to a generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable coupling system, a theory

of Darboux transformations on integrable couplings is formulated. The theory pertains to a spectral problem where the spectral matrix is a polynomial in λ of any order. An application to a generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings system is worked out, along with an explicit formula for the associated Bäcklund transformation. Precise one-soliton-like solutions are given for the *m*-th order generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable coupling system.

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

The theory of integrable systems has vastly contributed to nonlinear science and modern mathematical physics. One major contributor is the branch of nonlinear science known as soliton theory. This theory describes various types of stable movements occurring in nature, such as a solitary water wave, solitary signals in optical fiber, etc., and has many applications in science and technology such as optical signal communication. Soliton research has furthered understanding of tidal bores, cyclones, and massive ocean waves like tsunamis. Mathematically speaking, it also gives many effective methods for getting explicit solutions for nonlinear partial differential equations. In general, this is not an easy task. However, for a special class of equations known as soliton equations, various methods have been found to get solutions.

Many important discoveries in the theory of integrable systems came from a simple observation of a soliton. In 1834, J. S. Russell reported his first observation of a soliton wave stating that it "rolled forward with great velocity, assuming the form of a large solitary elevation, a rounded, smooth and well-defined heap of water, which continued its course along the channel apparently without change of form or diminution of speed" [1,2]. A half century later in 1895, D. Korteweg and G. de Vries [3] studied traveling shallow water waves created in a channel and found a (1 + 1)dimensional, nonlinear equation describing the wave motion. This equation,

$$u_t - 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0, (1)$$

famously became known as the KdV equation. They found a single-soliton solution [3] to the KdV (1) as

$$u(x,t) = -\frac{c}{2}\operatorname{sech}^{2}\left[\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{c}(x-ct-x_{0})\right].$$
(2)

More generally, the KdV equation is referred to as

$$u_t + \beta u u_x + \alpha u_{xxx} = 0, \tag{3}$$

where α, β are non-zero constants. Although the first soliton was observed in the 1830's, soliton theory was not given much attention until the 1960's.

In 1965, N. J. Zabusky and M. D. Kruskal [4] analyzed the nonlinear interacting process of the collision between solitary waves in plasma. Using computer simulations, they found that if two solitary waves traveling at different speeds collided, they would keep their original shape, energy, momentum, and direction. They named these waves "solitons" because this type of stability was usually observed in elastic particles. Zabusky and Kruskal also discovered numerical computations of solutions to the KdV equation (1). Formally, a solitary wave solution or *soliton* is a solution to any nonlinear equation that satisfies the following three properties [10]:

- (i) represents a wave of permanent form;
- (ii) is localized (asymptotically constant at ±∞ or obeys a periodicity conditions imposed on the original equation);
- (iii) can interact strongly with other solitons and retain its size and shape.

Two years later, C. S. Gardner, J. M. Greene, M. D. Kruskal, and R. M. Miura determined a method for finding soliton solutions for the KdV equation famously known as the Inverse Scattering Transform (IST) [5]. The next year, P. D. Lax [6–8] generalized the IST and revealed more remarkable properties of the KdV. Lax discovered two linear operators, named a Lax pair, generate the KdV equation through a compatibility condition. In 1974, M. J. Ablowitz, D. J. Kaup, A. C. Newel, and H. Segur [9] showed an infinite number of integrable equations can be found using the IST on nonlinear evolution equations. These contributions have provided the groundwork for the tools used for problems presented in this work.

This dissertation is organized by four chapters. The first chapter provides some preliminary material necessary for the chapters to follow. In the second chapter, the necessary information for integrable systems is presented to show the construction of two integrable soliton hiearchies associated with a generalized D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem. Chapter three is dedicated to the development and presentation of integrable couplings for the integrable soliton hierachies in chapter two. The fourth chapter formulates a theory for Darboux transformations of integrable couplings where the associated spectral matrix is a polynomial in λ of any degree. This theory is applied to the integrable couplings presented in chapter three where the spectral matrix is a polynomial in λ of degree two. We conclude the dissertation with a discussion of interesting problems for further research.

1.2 Preliminaries

1.2.1 Integrable systems

We now present some basic notation, assumptions, definitions, theorems, and corollaries for the integrable systems necessary for this dissertation. Let $x, t \in \mathbb{R}$ be independent variables in space and time, respectively.

DEFINITION 1.1. The Schwartz space, $S(\mathbb{R})$, is the space of rapidly decreasing functions on \mathbb{R} defined as

$$S(\mathbb{R}) = \{ f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) : ||f||_{\alpha,\beta} < \infty, \forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \}, where ||f||_{\alpha,\beta} = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} |x^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} f(x)|.$$
(4)

The operator $\partial = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ introduces an equivalence relation among elements of S,

$$f \sim g \leftrightarrow \exists h \in S$$
 such that $f - g = \partial h$.

The equivalence class that contains f is denoted by $\int f dx$,

$$\int f dx = \{f + \partial h | h \in S\}.$$

For our purposes, let $u_i = u_i(x, t), 1 \le i \le q$, be dependent variables in the Schwartz space on \mathbb{R} for any fixed $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $S^q(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ be the set of all vectors $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_q)^T$ [28].

DEFINITION 1.2. An evolution equation is a partial differential equation of the form

$$u_t = K(u) = K(u, u_x, u_{xx}, u_{xxx}, ...),$$
(5)

where u(x,t) is a dependent variable, and K(u) is a function on u and its derivatives with respect to x. If K is a nonlinear, it is called a nonlinear evolution equation.

Clearly, the KdV (1) is an example of a nonlinear evolution equation where $K(u) = 6uu_x - u_{xxx}$.

DEFINITION 1.3. For any real-valued function P(x, t, u), its Gateaux derivative with respect to uin the direction of $v = (v_1, ..., v_N)^T \in S^q(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ is defined by

$$P'[v] = P'(u)[v] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} P(u + \epsilon v)|_{\epsilon=0} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} P(u_1 + \epsilon v_1, ..., u_N + \epsilon v_N)|_{\epsilon=0}$$

We denote \mathfrak{B} the space of all real-valued functions P(x, t, u) which are C^{∞} -differentiable with respect to x and t and C^{∞} -Gateaux differentiable with respect to u = u(x, t) as functions of x. Then set $\mathfrak{B}^q = \{(P_1, ..., P_q)^T | P_i \in \mathfrak{B}, 1 \leq i \leq q\}$ [45]. We consider evolution equations (5) with $K \in \mathfrak{B}^q$. DEFINITION 1.4. For any two vector fields $K, S \in \mathfrak{B}^q$, define the product vector field to be

$$[K, S] = K'[S] - S'[K], (6)$$

which has been shown to be a commutator operation of \mathfrak{B}^q .

 $(\mathfrak{B}^q, [\cdot, \cdot])$ forms a Lie algebra over the real field.

DEFINITION 1.5. Let u be a solution to an evolution equation (5). A vector field $S \in \mathfrak{B}^q$ is said to be a symmetry of (5) if the infinitesimal transformation

$$u(t) \rightarrow u(t) + \epsilon S(u(t))$$

leaves (5) form invariant.

S is a symmetry of (5) if and only if S is a solution of the perturbation equation [13],

$$S_t = K'(u)[S],$$

where u solves (5). For a solution u of (5), and a vector field $S \in \mathfrak{B}^q$, we have

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + S'[u_t] = \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + S'[K] = \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + K'[S] - [K, S],$$

from the definition of $[\cdot, \cdot]$. Naturally, for symmetries of (5), we have the following theorem and corollary:

THEOREM 1.1. [11] $S \in \mathfrak{B}^q$ is a symmetry of (5) if and only if S satisfies

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = [K, S]. \tag{7}$$

COROLLARY 1.1. If a vector field S does not depend on t explicitly, i.e., $\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = 0$, then S is a symmetry of (5) if and only if [K, S] = 0.

A symmetry is a tool to map one solution to another. We can see this in the following example. EXAMPLE 1.1. Let $K(u) = -u_{xxx} + 6uu_x$ and $S(u) = -u_x$. Now,

$$K'(u)[S] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} K(u + \epsilon S)|_{\epsilon=0} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} [-(u_{xxx} + \epsilon S_{xxx}) + 6(u + \epsilon S)(u_x + \epsilon S_x)]|_{\epsilon=0}$$

$$= -S_{xxx} + 6uS_x + 6Su_x = u_{xxxx} - 6uu_{xx} - 6u_x^2$$

$$S'(u)[K] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} S(u + \epsilon K)|_{\epsilon=0} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} (-u_x - \epsilon K_x)|_{\epsilon=0} = -K_x$$

$$= u_{xxxx} - 6uu_{xx} - 6u_x^2.$$

(8)

We can clearly see that [K, S] = 0 and, by the previous Corollary 1.1, $S = -u_x$ is a symmetry of the KdV equation (1). We may also see that if we substitute $S(u) = -u_x$ into the perturbation equation $S_t = K'(u)[S] = -S_{xxx} + 6uS_x + 6Su_x$, a linear equation of S, we have

$$(-u_x)_t = -(-u_x)_{xxx} + 6u(-u_x)_x + 6u_x(-u_x),$$
(9)

which is the derivative of the KdV equation (1) with respect to x. It is widely known that the KdV equation has infinitely many of these symmetries.

DEFINITION 1.6. Let V denote the space of linear operators from \mathfrak{B}^q to \mathfrak{B}^q . A linear operator $\Phi \in V$ is called a recursion operator for $u_t = K, K \in \mathfrak{B}^q$, if for any symmetry $S \in \mathfrak{B}^q$ of $u_t = K$, ΦS is again a symmetry of $u_t = K$.

EXAMPLE 1.2. The recursion operator for the KdV equation (3), where $\alpha = 1$ and $\beta = 1$, is

$$\Phi = \partial^2 + \frac{2}{3}u + \frac{1}{3}u_x\partial^{-1}, \quad \partial = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \quad \partial\partial^{-1} = \partial^{-1}\partial = 1.$$
(10)

If we apply Φ to a symmetry $S(u) = u_x$, we get

$$\Phi S = \Phi u_x = (\partial^2 + \frac{2}{3}u + \frac{1}{3}u_x\partial^{-1})u_x = u_{xxx} + \frac{2}{3}uu_x + \frac{1}{3}u_xu$$

$$= u_{xxx} + uu_x.$$
(11)

 $P(u) = \Phi S = u_{xxx} + uu_x$ is a new symmetry of the KdV equation. S corresponds to invariance under x-translation while P under t-translation.

DEFINITION 1.7. Let $\Phi \in V : \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ be a linear operator and $K \in \mathfrak{B}^q$ be a vector field. The Lie derivative $L_K \Phi \in V$ of the operator Φ with respect to K is defined by

$$(L_K \Phi)S = \Phi[K, S] - [K, \Phi S], \quad S \in \mathfrak{B}^q.$$
(12)

DEFINITION 1.8. For a linear operator $\Phi \in V$, its Gateaux derivative operator $\Phi' : \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ is defined through

$$\Phi'[K]S := \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} \Phi(u + \epsilon K)S|_{\epsilon=0}, \quad K \in \mathfrak{B}^q, \quad S \in \mathfrak{B}^q.$$

We use the Gateaux derivative of Φ in the following theorem:

THEOREM 1.2. [12] A linear operator $\Phi \in V$ is a recursion operator for $K \in \mathfrak{B}^q$ if and only if

$$L_K \Phi = \Phi'[K] - [K', \Phi] = 0, \tag{13}$$

i.e., Φ is invariant under K, when $\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial t} = 0$.

We will show in the chapters that follow that each of the spectral problems presented generate infinitely many commuting symmetries.

1.2.2 Hamiltonian structures

We present next some definitions, propositions, theorems, corollaries, and a lemma on Hamiltonian structures. Let \mathcal{F} denote the space of functionals $\mathcal{H} = \int f(u)dx$ where the function f is in the space \mathfrak{B} . Then we have that $\int \partial f(u)dx = 0$.

LEMMA 1.1. For any $\mathcal{H} \in \mathcal{F}$, say $\mathcal{H} = \int f(u) dx$, $f \in \mathfrak{B}$, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{H} = \int \frac{d}{dt}f(u)dx.$$
(14)

DEFINITION 1.9. [14] The variational derivative $\frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}$ of a functional $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{F}$ with respect to u is determined by

$$\int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}\right)^T \xi dx = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} \mathcal{P}(u + \epsilon \xi)|_{\epsilon=0}, \quad \xi \in \mathfrak{B}^q.$$
(15)

PROPOSITION 1.1. For any $\mathcal{H} \in \mathcal{F}$, say $\mathcal{H} = \int f(u) dx$, $f \in \mathfrak{B}$, its time derivative can be represented as

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{H} = \int \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\partial^n}{\partial x^n} \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial u^{(n)}}\right) dx, \quad where \quad u^{(n)} = \frac{\partial^n u}{\partial x^n}, \tag{16}$$

and it hold that

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}}{\delta u} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\partial^n}{\partial x^n} \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial u^{(n)}}\right) \tag{17}$$

where f is local and does not depend on t explicitly.

DEFINITION 1.10. The adjoint operator $J^{\dagger} : \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ of a linear operator $J : \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ is determined by

$$\int \xi^T J^{\dagger} \eta dx = \int \eta^T J \xi dx, \quad \xi, \eta \in \mathfrak{B}^q.$$

If $J^{\dagger} = -J$, then J is called *skew-adjoint*.

DEFINITION 1.11. Let $J: \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ be a linear differential operator. We define a bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$:

 $\mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$ as

$$\{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\}_J := \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}\right)^T J \frac{\delta \mathcal{Q}}{\delta u} dx, \quad \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{F}.$$
 (18)

DEFINITION 1.12. A linear operator $J: \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ is called Hamiltonian if

$$\{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\} = \{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\}_J = \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}\right)^T J \frac{\delta \mathcal{Q}}{\delta u} dx, \quad \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{F},$$
(19)

satisfies the skew-symmetry condition,

$$\{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\} = -\{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{P}\},\tag{20}$$

and the Jacobi identity,

$$\{\{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\}, \mathcal{R}\} + \{\{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R}\}, \mathcal{P}\} + \{\{\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{P}\}, \mathcal{Q}\} = 0.$$
(21)

If the operator J is Hamiltonian, then (18) is called a Poisson bracket.

LEMMA 1.2. [46] Let $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R}$ be functionals with variational derivatives $\frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u} = P, \frac{\delta \mathcal{Q}}{\delta u} = Q, \frac{\delta \mathcal{R}}{\delta u} = R \in \mathfrak{B}^q$. Then the Jacobi identity (21) is equivalent to the expression

$$\int \left(P \cdot J'[JR]Q + R \cdot J'[JQ]P + Q \cdot J'[JP]R \right) dx = 0,$$
(22)

or more commonly,

$$< P, J'[JR]Q > + < R, J'[JQ]P > + < Q, J'[JP]R > =$$

 $< P, J'[JR]Q > + cycle(P,Q,R) = 0.$ (23)

PROPOSITION 1.2. [46] Let J be a $q \times q$ matrix differential operator with bracket (18) on the space of functionals. Then the bracket is skew-symmetric, i.e., (20) holds, if and only if J is skew-adjoint:

$$J^{\dagger} = -J.$$

PROPOSITION 1.3. [46] Let J be a skew-adjoint $q \times q$ matrix differential operator. Then the bracket (21) satisfies the Jacobi identity if and only if (23) vanishes for all $P, Q, R \in \mathfrak{B}^q$.

COROLLARY 1.2. [46] If J is a skew-adjoint $q \times q$ matrix differential operator whose coefficients do not depend on u or its derivatives, then J is automatically a Hamiltonian operator.

DEFINITION 1.13. [15] A pair of Hamiltonian operators $J, M : \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ is called a Hamiltonian pair if $\alpha J + \beta M$, for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, is also a Hamiltonian operator.

DEFINITION 1.14. A system of evolution equations $u_t = K, K \in \mathfrak{B}^q$ is called a Hamiltonian system if there is a Hamiltonian operator $J : \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ and a functional $\mathcal{H} \in \mathcal{F}$ such that

$$u_t = K(u) = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}}{\delta u}.$$
(24)

The functional \mathcal{H} is called a Hamiltonian functional of the system, and we say that the system possesses a Hamiltonian structure if it can be written in the form (24).

To obtain Hamiltonian structure means to transform $u_t = K(u)$ into the form of (24).

EXAMPLE 1.3. The KdV equation (3), with $\alpha = \beta = -1$, can be written into Hamiltonian form in two different ways. We may write

$$u_t = \partial(u_{xx} + \frac{1}{2}u^2) = J\frac{\delta\mathcal{H}_1}{\delta u},\tag{25}$$

with the Hamiltonian operator and the Hamiltonian functional,

$$J = \partial, \quad \mathcal{H}_1 = \int \left[-\frac{1}{2}u_x^2 + \frac{1}{6}u^3 \right] dx,$$
 (26)

respectively. We can clearly see this using the definition of the variational derivative (17). We may also write

$$u_t = (\partial^3 + \frac{2}{3}u\partial + \frac{1}{3}u_x)u = M\frac{\delta\mathcal{H}_0}{\delta u},\tag{27}$$

where the Hamiltonian operator and Hamiltonian functional are

$$M = \partial^3 + \frac{2}{3}u\partial + \frac{1}{3}u_x, \quad \mathcal{H}_0 = \int \frac{1}{2}u^2 dx, \qquad (28)$$

respectively.

DEFINITION 1.15. [46] Any functional $\mathcal{P}(t, u) \in \mathcal{F}$ is a conserved quantity if along any solution uof (5) we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{P}(t,u) = 0. \tag{29}$$

EXAMPLE 1.4. Assume the solution to the KdV equation (3), where $\alpha = 1$ and $\beta = 6$, is in S. Let the "mass" and "energy" be

$$M := \int_{\mathbb{R}} u(x,t)dx, \quad and \quad E := \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{2}u^2(x,t)dx, \tag{30}$$

respectively. We may see that they are independent of time, i.e., conserved quantities. Differentiating both with respect to time variable t, gives

$$\frac{dM}{dt} = \int (u_t)dx \qquad \qquad \frac{dE}{dt} = \int (uu_t)dx = \int (-6uu_x - u_{xxx})dx \qquad \qquad = \int (-6u^2u_x - uu_{xxx})dx = \int \partial (-3u^2 - u_{xx})dx = 0, \qquad \qquad = \int \partial (-2u^3 - uu_{xx} + \frac{1}{2}u_x^2)dx = 0.$$

It is widely known that the KdV equation has infinitely many of these conservation laws.

For any solution u of (24), and for any functional $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}(x, t, u) \in \mathcal{F}$, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{P} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{P}}{\partial t} + \mathcal{P}'[u_t] = \frac{\partial \mathcal{P}}{\partial t} + \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}\right)^T u_t \, dx = \frac{\partial \mathcal{P}}{\partial t} + \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}\right)^T \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}}{\delta u} \, dx = \frac{\partial \mathcal{P}}{\partial t} + \{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}\}_J.$$

THEOREM 1.3. For any functional $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{P}$ is a conserved quantity of (24) if and only if

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{P}}{\partial t} = \{\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{P}\}_J.$$
(31)

PROPOSITION 1.4. A functional $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{F}$, which does not depend on t explicitly, is called a conserved quantity or conserved functional of the Hamiltonian system (24) if the Poisson bracket $\{\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{P}\}_J = 0$. We say \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{P} are in involution when their Poisson bracket is zero.

DEFINITION 1.16. [30] A Hamiltonian system is called to be Liouville integrable, if there exists a sequence of conserved functionals, $\{\mathcal{H}_n\}$, which are in involution with respect to their corresponding Poisson bracket:

$$\{\mathcal{H}_n, \mathcal{H}_m\}_J = 0$$

and the characteristics of whose associated Hamiltonian vector fields

$$K_n := J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_n}{\delta u}, \quad n \ge 0,$$

are independent.

PROPOSITION 1.5. [28] Let J and Ψ be two linear operators mapping \mathfrak{B}^q to itself. Suppose that

(i) both J and $J\Psi$ are skew-adjoint, i.e.,

$$J^{\dagger} = -J, \quad J\Psi = \Psi^{\dagger}J;$$

(ii) there exists a series of functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_n\}$ for which it holds that

$$\Psi^n f(u) = \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_n}{\delta u},$$

for some $f(u) \in \mathfrak{B}^q$. Then $\{\mathcal{H}_n\}$ is a common series of conserved densities for the whole hierarchy of equations,

$$u_t = J\Psi^n f(u)$$

and we have

$$\{\mathcal{H}_n, \mathcal{H}_m\}_J = 0.$$

DEFINITION 1.17. [15] A system of evolution equations $u_t = K, K \in \mathfrak{B}^q$, is called a bi-Hamiltonian system if there exists a Hamiltonian pair $J, M : \mathfrak{B}^q \to \mathfrak{B}^q$ and functionals $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{F}$, such that

$$u_t = K(u) = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}}{\delta u} = M \frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}.$$
(32)

We say that the evolution system (5) possesses a bi-Hamiltonian structure if it can be written in the form (32).

To obtain bi-Hamiltonian structure means to transform $u_t = K(u)$ in (32).

THEOREM 1.4. [12, 15] Let

$$u_t = K(u) = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}}{\delta u} = M \frac{\delta \mathcal{P}}{\delta u}$$

be a bi-Hamiltonian system of evolution equations. Assume that the Hamiltonian operator J is invertible, and the linear operator Φ is defined by

$$\Phi := M J^{-1}.$$

Next assume that for each n = 0, 1, 2, ..., we can recursively define

$$K_n = \Phi K_{n-1}, \quad n \ge 1,$$

which implies for $n \ge 1, K_{n-1}$ lies in the image of J. Then there exists a sequence of Hamiltonian functionals, $\{\mathcal{H}_n\}$, such that

(i) for each $n \ge 1$, the evolution equation

$$u_{t_n} = K_n(u) = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_n}{\delta u} = M \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{n-1}}{\delta u}$$
(33)

is a bi-Hamiltonian system;

(ii) the vector fields $\{K_n\}$ commute with each other, i.e. we have

$$[K_m, K_n] = 0, \quad n, m \ge 0; \tag{34}$$

(iii) the Hamiltonian functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_n\}$ are in involution with respect to both Poisson brackets

$$\{\mathcal{H}_n, \mathcal{H}_m\}_J = \{\mathcal{H}_n, \mathcal{H}_m\}_M = 0, \quad n, m \ge 0,$$
(35)

which implies there exists a sequence of infinitely many conserved quantities for each of the bi-Hamiltonian systems (33).

EXAMPLE 1.5. In Example 1.3, we showed that the KdV has two Hamiltonian operators, i.e.,

$$J = \partial, \quad and \quad M = \partial^3 + \frac{2}{3}u\partial + \frac{1}{3}u_x,$$
(36)

and it is bi-Hamiltonian

$$u_t = \partial(u_{xx} + \frac{1}{2}u^2) = (\partial^3 + \frac{2}{3}u\partial + \frac{1}{3}u_x)u = J\frac{\delta\mathcal{H}_1}{\delta u} = M\frac{\delta\mathcal{H}_0}{\delta u}.$$
(37)

It was mentioned in Example 1.2 that

$$\Phi = MJ^{-1} = (\partial^3 + \frac{2}{3}u\partial + \frac{1}{3}u_x)\partial^{-1} = \partial^2 + \frac{2}{3}u + \frac{1}{3}u_x\partial^{-1},$$
(38)

is a recursion operator for the KdV. It is known the we can recursively define

$$K_n = \Phi K_{n-1}, \quad n \ge 1. \tag{39}$$

Therefore, there is a sequence of Hamiltonian functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_n\}$ such that (i), (ii), and (iii) from Theorem 1.4 hold.

We will present two hierarchies in chapter two that possess infinitely many conserved quantities. One hierarchy will be shown to have bi-Hamiltonian structures. In chapter three, we enlarge the systems of evolution equations from chapter two to find two enlarged hierarchies again with infinitely many conserved densities. Each of the four hierarchies presented in this dissertation are shown to have infinitely many commuting high-order symmetries and conserved densities. Thus, the two soliton hierarchies from chapter two and their corresponding coupling systems in chapter three are Liouville integrable. The next chapter is entirely devoted to the development of two integrable systems that generalize the D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy.

2 Infinite-dimensional integrable systems

2.1 Introduction

The study of soliton equations has been of considerable importance to the understanding of nonlinear phenomenon over the past few decades. In recent years, soliton theory has enriched the understanding of the nature of integrability in partial and ordinary differential equations (see [17]); one way is through the existence of infinitely many conservation laws and symmetries. Constructed from spectral problems associated with matrix Lie algebras, systems of solitons equations often give rise to soliton hierarchies [18]- [21], [28, 29]. Frequently, these hierarchies possess infinitely many symmetries and conserved functionals. Some of the most celebrated hierarchies of this particular type include the Ablowitz-Kaup-Newell-Segur [9], the Kaup-Newell [22], the D-Kaup-Newell [23], the KdV [6], and the Dirac hierarchies [24]. This chapter presents two spectral problems that generate different soliton hierarchies; both hierarchies have infinitely many high-order symmetries and conservation laws implying Liouville integrability [21, 30].

In this chapter, we will begin with a description of the tools used for a general method of soliton hierarchy construction. Next, we introduce a new spectral matrix and explain why it generalizes the D-Kaup-Newell spectral matrix. We then generate its soliton hierarchy and see its infinitely many commuting symmetries. We apply the trace identity to engender its Hamiltonian structures and discuss why it is Liouville integrable, i.e., the hierarchy has infinitely many commuting conserved functionals and high-order symmetries. We proceed with a presentation of a reduced spectral matrix which produces a completely different integrable soliton hierarchy with bi-Hamiltonian structures.

2.2 A method for soliton hierarchy construction

2.2.1 Lax pairs

As mentioned previously, P. D. Lax discovered what is known as a Lax pair in 1968 [6]. He found soliton solutions to nonlinear differential equations by relating the original differential equations to two linear operators through a compatibility condition. Lax discovered that some nonlinear partial differential equations

$$u_t = K(u) \tag{40}$$

have an equivalent formulation through linear partial differential equations

$$\mathcal{L}\psi = \lambda\psi, \quad \psi_t = \mathcal{A}\psi, \tag{41}$$

where \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{A} are linear differential operators and ψ is an eigenfunction of \mathcal{L} corresponding to the eigenvalue λ . The linear differential operators \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{A} are said to be a Lax pair for (40). By simple calculation using (41), we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\mathcal{L}\psi) = \frac{d\mathcal{L}}{dt}\psi + \mathcal{L}\psi_t = \frac{d\mathcal{L}}{dt}\psi + \mathcal{L}\mathcal{A}\psi$$
(42)

and

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\mathcal{L}\psi) = \frac{d\mathcal{L}}{dt}(\lambda\psi) = \lambda\psi_t = \lambda(\mathcal{A}\psi) = \mathcal{A}(\lambda\psi) = \mathcal{A}\mathcal{L}\psi.$$
(43)

Thus, (40) is equivalent to

$$\frac{d\mathcal{L}}{dt} = [\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{L}],\tag{44}$$

where $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{L}] = \mathcal{A}\mathcal{L} - \mathcal{L}\mathcal{A}$ is the operator commutator.

We refer to an eigenvalue problem where the eigenvalue is independent of time as an *isospec*tral eigenvalue problem. Throughout this dissertation, the eigenvalue problems presented will be isospectral eigenvalue problems. Let's look at an example of a Lax pair for a general KdV equation (3) seen in chapter one where $\alpha = \beta = 1$.

EXAMPLE 2.1. The KdV equation,

$$u_t + uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0, (45)$$

has a Lax pair of linear differential operators

$$\mathcal{L} = \partial^2 + \frac{1}{6}u, \quad \mathcal{A} = -4\partial^3 - u\partial - \frac{1}{2}u_x, \tag{46}$$

where the differential operator $\partial = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ acting on a smooth function v(x) is $\partial v = v_x + v\partial$. A brief calculation reveals to arbitrary ψ that

$$(\mathcal{L}_t + [\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{A}])\psi = \frac{1}{6}(u_t + uu_x + u_{xxx})\psi = 0.$$
(47)

This shows that the linear Lax equation (44) is equivalent to the nonlinear KdV equation (45) given the Lax pair of linear differential operators (46).

The discovery of Lax pairs leads naturally into our next topic of zero curvature equations and soliton equations.

2.3 Zero curvature equations and soliton equations

To begin the discussion on zero curvature equations, let's introduce two linear first order spectral problems

$$\begin{cases} \phi_x = U(\lambda, u)\phi, \\ \phi_t = V(\lambda, u)\phi, \end{cases}$$
(48)

where $U(\lambda)$ and $V(\lambda)$ are matrix valued functions of x and t depending on the auxiliary variable λ , called the *spectral parameter*, ϕ is a column vector whose components depend on (x, t, λ) , and u, a potential. After differentiating the spacial spectral problem with respect to t,

$$\phi_{xt} = U(\lambda, u)_t \phi + U(\lambda, u) \phi_t, \tag{49}$$

and the temporal problem with respect to x,

$$\phi_{tx} = V(\lambda, u)_x \phi + V(\lambda, u) \phi_x, \tag{50}$$

the consistency condition of $\phi_{xt} = \phi_{tx}$ shows, for all smooth enough ϕ ,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(U(\lambda, u)\phi) - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}(V(\lambda, u)\phi) = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}U(\lambda, u) - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}V(\lambda, u) + [U(\lambda, u), V(\lambda, u)]\right)\phi = 0, \quad (51)$$

or, equivalently,

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0, (52)$$

known as the zero curvature equation.

THEOREM 2.1. [26] The solution of

$$\begin{cases} \phi_x = U(\lambda, u)\phi, \\ \phi_t = V(\lambda, u)\phi, \end{cases}$$
(53)

exists uniquely for any given initial data $\phi(x_0, t_0) = \phi_0$ if and only if

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0, (54)$$

holds. (54) is known as the integrability condition, or compatibility condition, of (53).

EXAMPLE 2.2. [26, 35] The KdV equation (3) with $\alpha = 1$ and $\beta = 6$,

$$u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0, (55)$$

is the integrability condition of the linear system

$$\begin{cases} -\phi_{xx} - u\phi = \lambda\phi, \\ \phi_t = -4\phi_{xxx} - 6u\phi_x - 3u_x\phi, \end{cases}$$
(56)

which is called the Lax pair of the KdV. If we let $\phi_1 = \phi, \phi_2 = \phi_x, \Phi = (\phi_1, \phi_2)^T$, then the Lax pair (56) can be written in matrix form as

$$\begin{cases} \Phi_x = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -\lambda - u & 0 \end{bmatrix} \Phi, \\ \Phi_t = \begin{bmatrix} u_x & 4\lambda - 2u \\ -4\lambda^2 - 2\lambda u + u_{xx} + 2u^2 & -u_x \end{bmatrix} \Phi. \end{cases}$$
(57)

Here is it clear to see that the Lax matrices are

$$U = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -\lambda - u & 0 \end{bmatrix} \quad and \quad V = \begin{bmatrix} u_x & 4\lambda - 2u \\ -4\lambda^2 - 2\lambda u + u_{xx} + 2u^2 & -u_x \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (58)

When we compute the zero curvature equation (54), we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -u_t - u_{xxx} - 6uu_x & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (59)

Now, $U_t = U'[u_t] + \lambda_t U_{\lambda}$. We see that the zero curvature equation is true if and only if

$$U'[K] + \lambda_t U_\lambda - V_x + [U, V] = 0,$$

when u solves $u_t = K(u)$. As mentioned previously, we assume $\lambda_t = 0$. Under this assumption, we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.2. [27] Assume that the spectral matrix U of (53) has an injective Gateaux derivative operator $U'[\cdot]$. For groups (V, K) and (W, S) satisfying the zero curvature equations,

$$U'[K] - V_x + [U, V] = 0, (60)$$

we have the equality

$$U'[[K,S]] - [[V,W]]_x + [U,[[V,W]]] = 0, (61)$$

where

$$[[V,W]] := V'[S] - W'[K] + [V,W].$$
(62)

2.3.1 Trace identity

The trace identity has proven to be a powerful tool for formulating Hamiltonian structures of hierarchies of differential equations and showing their integrability. G. Z. Tu discovered the well-known trace identity in 1986. A few years later, Tu showed that a hierarchy and its Hamiltonians can be constructed starting from what is known as the stationary zero curvature equation [31], i.e.,

$$W_x = [U, W], \tag{63}$$

via the trace identity. Later, he realized the Liouville integrability of zero curvature equations and the explicit formula using the trace identity. We now introduce a formal definition of the trace identity. Let \mathfrak{g} be a matrix semisimple Lie algebra. Let $U = U(\lambda, u)$ be an element of $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$, the corresponding loop algebra of \mathfrak{g} , i.e.,

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{g}} = \left\{ \sum_{i \ge 0} A_i \lambda^{n-i} | A_i \in \mathfrak{g}, \ n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$
(64)

Let $\langle x, y \rangle$ be the Killing-Cartan form. Under the supposition that the solution W of (63), which is of given homogeneous rank, is unique up to a constant multiplier, it is proven [28] that for any solution W of (63) of homogeneous rank, there exists a constant γ such that for $\overline{W} = \lambda^{\gamma} W$, which is again a solution of (63), it holds that

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \left\langle \bar{W}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda} \right\rangle dx = \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \left\langle \bar{W}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial u} \right\rangle.$$
(65)

By a simple substitution $\overline{W} = \lambda^{\gamma} W$, we get

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \left\langle W, \frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda} \right\rangle dx = \left(\lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \right) \left\langle W, \frac{\partial U}{\partial u} \right\rangle.$$
(66)

It is well known that the Killing form for a semisimple Lie algebra is proportional to the trace, i.e., $\langle x, y \rangle = \alpha \operatorname{tr}(xy)$, for all $x, y \in \mathfrak{g}, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, assuming $\alpha = 1$, we have

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}\right) dx = \left(\lambda^{-\gamma}\frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda}\lambda^{\gamma}\right) \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial u}\right).$$
(67)

The formula (67) is known as the *trace identity*.

2.3.2 A general scheme to construct a soliton hierarchy

A soliton hierarchy is an infinite sequence of soliton equations. For deeper understanding, we begin with a definition of a *soliton equation*. DEFINITION 2.1. [25, 29, 31] If an evolution equation,

$$u_t = K(u) = K(u, u_x, u_{xx}, ...),$$
(68)

can be presented by a zero curvature equation,

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0, (69)$$

we call it a soliton equation, and U and V its Lax pair.

The following method may be used to construct an infinite sequence of soliton equations using a series of Lax pairs. It is commonly used as a general scheme for soliton hierarchy construction [29,31]. A spectral problem is introduced

$$\phi_x = U\phi = U(u,\lambda)\phi \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}},\tag{70}$$

where $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ is a matrix loop algebra based on a given matrix Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , u, the dependent variable, and λ , the spectral parameter. We then assume the solution to the stationary zero curvature equation,

$$W_x = [U, W], \tag{71}$$

is of the form

$$W = W(u, \lambda) = \sum_{i \ge 0} W_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad W_i \in \mathfrak{g}, \quad i \ge 0,$$
(72)

and further introduce the Lax matrices,

$$V^{[m]} = V^{[m]}(u,\lambda) = (\lambda^m W)_+ + \Delta_m \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(73)

where $(\lambda^m W)_+$ denotes the polynomial part of $\lambda^m W$ and $\Delta_m \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ is a modification term, to

engender the temporal spectral problems,

$$\phi_{t_m} = V^{[m]}\phi = V^{[m]}(u,\lambda)\phi, \quad m \ge 0.$$
 (74)

The temporal spectral problems (74) with the spacial spectral problem (70) formulate the zero curvature equations,

$$U_{t_m} - V_x^{[m]} + [U, V^{[m]}] = 0, \quad m \ge 0.$$
(75)

For each m, the Lax pair U and $V^{[m]}$ are equivalent to the hierarchy of evolution equations,

$$u_{t_m} = K_m(u), \quad m \ge 0. \tag{76}$$

We call this a *soliton hierarchy* since each evolution equation (76) is a soliton equation. After the soliton hierarchy is found, the Hamiltonian structure of (76) is calculated by the trace identity [29, 31, 64] (in [64], the formal for γ is given),

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \operatorname{tr}\left(\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}W\right) dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \operatorname{tr}\left(\frac{\partial U}{\partial u}W\right), \gamma = -\frac{\lambda}{2} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \ln|\operatorname{tr}(W^2)|, \tag{77}$$

producing a hierarchy of Hamiltonian equations,

$$u_{t_m} = K_m(u) = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u}, \quad m \ge 0.$$
(78)

2.4 Two integrable soliton hierachies and their Hamiltonian structures

2.4.1 A simple matrix loop algebra

We must begin by introducting a simple matrix loop algebra. The two spectral matrices in this section are associated with $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$, a three-dimensional special linear Lie algebra consisting of

trace-free 2×2 matrices. The basis for this simple Lie algebra is

$$e_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, e_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, e_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(79)

with commutator properties

$$[e_1, e_2] = 2e_2, \quad [e_1, e_3] = -2e_3, \quad [e_2, e_3] = e_1.$$
 (80)

To generate the hierarchy, we use the following matrix loop algebra:

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{sl}}(2,\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \sum_{i\geq 0} A_i \lambda^{n-i} | A_i \in \mathrm{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}), n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$
(81)

In particular, the matrix loop algebra $\widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ contains elements of the form $\lambda^m e_1 + \lambda^l e_2 + \lambda^p e_3$ with arbitrary integers m, l, p. Many well-known soliton hierarchies are generated from the matrix loop algebra $\widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ (see, e.g., [6], [9], [22]- [24]).

2.4.2 A generalized D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem

Let us introduce a spectral matrix [21]:

$$U = U(u,\lambda) = (\lambda^2 - r)e_1 + (\lambda p + s)e_2 + (\lambda q + v)e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - r & \lambda p + s \\ \lambda q + v & -\lambda^2 + r \end{bmatrix},$$
(82)

and consider the following isospectral problem:

$$\phi_x = U\phi = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - r & \lambda p + s \\ \lambda q + v & -\lambda^2 + r \end{bmatrix} \phi, \ U \in \widetilde{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}), \ u = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \\ s \\ v \end{bmatrix}, \ \phi = \begin{bmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{bmatrix},$$
(83)

where p, q, r, s, and v are potentials.

The D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem is known [23,49] to be

$$\phi_x = U\phi = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 + r & \lambda p \\ \lambda q & -\lambda^2 - r \end{bmatrix} \phi, \quad U \in \widetilde{\mathrm{sl}}(2, \mathbb{R}), \quad u = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \end{bmatrix}, \quad \phi = \begin{bmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (84)$$

which depends on three potentials: p, q, and r. The new spectral problem (83) is a generalization of the D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem adding two new potentials s and v. Previously, the cases $r = \alpha$ and $r = \alpha pq$, where α a constant, have been shown to generate integrable hierarchies [32, 33] for the D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem (84).

2.4.3 The soliton hierarchy

We assume a solution to the stationary zero curvature equation, $W_x = [U, W]$, to be of the form

$$W = ae_1 + be_2 + ce_3 = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & -a \end{bmatrix} \in \widetilde{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}),$$
(85)

and we get the equations

$$\begin{cases} a_x = -qb\lambda + pc\lambda - vb + sc, \\ b_x = -2pa\lambda + 2b\lambda^2 - 2sa - 2rb, \\ c_x = 2qa\lambda - 2c\lambda^2 + 2va + 2rc. \end{cases}$$
(86)

Next, we assume that a, b, and c have Laurent expansions

$$a = \sum_{i \ge 0} a_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad b = \sum_{i \ge 0} b_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad c = \sum_{i \ge 0} c_i \lambda^{-i}, \tag{87}$$

which gives us the following recursive relations:

$$\begin{cases} b_{i+1} = \frac{b_{i-1,x}}{2} + pa_i + sa_{i-1} + rb_{i-1}, \\ c_{i+1} = -\frac{c_{i-1,x}}{2} + qa_i + va_{i-1} + rc_{i-1}, \quad i \ge 1, \\ a_{i+1,x} = -q\frac{b_{i,x}}{2} - p\frac{c_{i,x}}{2} + (pv - qs)a_i - qrb_i + prc_i + sc_{i+1} - vb_{i+1}. \end{cases}$$
(88)

Now, we take the initial values of

$$a_0 = \alpha, \quad b_0 = c_0 = 0, \quad a_1 = 0, \quad b_1 = \alpha p, \quad c_1 = \alpha q,$$
(89)

and impose the conditions for integration

$$a_i|_{u=0} = b_i|_{u=0} = c_i|_{u=0} = 0, \quad i \ge 1,$$
(90)

to determine the sequence of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ uniquely. For i = 2, 3, we have the following: $b_2 = \alpha s$, $c_2 = \alpha v$, $a_2 = -\alpha \frac{1}{2}pq$ $b_3 = \alpha \frac{1}{2}(-p^2q + 2pr + p_x)$, $c_3 = -\alpha \frac{1}{2}(q^2p - 2qr + q_x)$, $a_3 = -\alpha \frac{1}{2}(pv + qs)$.
We can see the localness of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | 0 \le i \le 3\}$. This result can be proven for all $i \ge 0$ as follows:

PROPOSITION 2.1. Let $\{a_0, b_0, c_0, a_1, b_1, c_1\}$ be given by equation (89). Then all functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, i \geq 2\}$ determined by equation (88) with the conditions in (90) are differential polynomials in u with respect to x, and thus, are local.

Proof. We compute from the stationary zero curvature equation, $W_x = [U, W]$,

$$\frac{d}{dx}\operatorname{tr}(W^2) = 2\operatorname{tr}(WW_x) = 2\operatorname{tr}(W[U, W]) = 2(\operatorname{tr}(W^2U) - \operatorname{tr}(W^2U)) = 0,$$
(91)

and seeing that the $\operatorname{tr}(W^2) = 2(a^2 + bc)$, we have

$$a^{2} + bc = (a^{2} + bc)|_{u=0} = \alpha^{2},$$
(92)

following from the initial data (89). Now, we use (87), the Laurent expansions of a, b, c, to give

$$a_{i} = \frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sum_{k+l=i,k,l \ge 1} a_{k}a_{l} - \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sum_{k+l=i,k,l \ge 0} b_{k}c_{l}, \quad i \ge 1.$$
(93)

Finally, based on the recursion relations (88) and (93), we use mathematical induction to see that all functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, i \ge 0\}$ are differential polynomials in u with respect to x, and therefore, are local. This completes the proof.

Now, we need to solve the zero curvature equations,

$$U_{t_m} - V_x^{[m]} + [U, V^{[m]}] = 0, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(94)

which is equivalent to (83) together with the temporal problems,

$$\phi_{t_m} = V^{[m]}\phi = V^{[m]}(u,\lambda)\phi, \quad m \ge 0.$$
 (95)

In order to solve these, we introduce a series of Lax operators,

$$V^{[m]} = (\lambda^m W)_+ + \Delta_m \in \widetilde{\mathrm{sl}}(2, \mathbb{R}),$$
(96)

where $(\lambda^m W)_+$ denotes the polynomial part of $\lambda^m W$ and Δ_m is a modification term. Let

$$\Delta_m = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{a,m} & \delta_{b,m} \\ \delta_{c,m} & -\delta_{a,m} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(97)

For ease of calculation, let's drop the m's in the matrix entries of Δ_m and simplify $V_x - [U, V^{[m]}]$:

$$V_x^{[m]} - [U, V^{[m]}] = \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} \begin{bmatrix} a_{i,x} & b_{i,x} \\ c_{i,x} & -a_{i,x} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{a,x} & \delta_{b,x} \\ \delta_{c,x} & -\delta_{a,x} \end{bmatrix} \\ - \begin{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - r & \lambda p + s \\ \lambda q + v & -\lambda^2 + r \end{bmatrix}, \lambda^{m-i} \begin{bmatrix} a_i & b_i \\ c_i & -a_i \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \delta_a & \delta_b \\ \delta_c & -\delta_a \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} \begin{bmatrix} a_{i,x} & b_{i,x} \\ c_{i,x} & -a_{i,x} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{a,x} & \delta_{b,x} \\ \delta_{c,x} & -\delta_{a,x} \end{bmatrix} \\ - \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} \begin{bmatrix} -qb_i\lambda + pc_i\lambda - vb_i + sc_i & -2pa_i\lambda + 2b_i\lambda^2 - 2sa_i - 2rb_i \\ 2qa_i\lambda - 2c_i\lambda^2 + 2va_i + 2rc_i & qb_i\lambda - pc_i\lambda + vb_i - sc_i \end{bmatrix} \\ - \begin{bmatrix} -q\delta_b\lambda + p\delta_c\lambda - v\delta_b + s\delta_c & -2p\delta_a\lambda + 2\delta_b\lambda^2 - 2s\delta_a - 2r\delta_b \\ 2q\delta_a\lambda - 2\delta_c\lambda^2 + 2v\delta_a + 2r\delta_c & q\delta_b\lambda - p\delta_c\lambda + v\delta_b - s\delta_c \end{bmatrix}$$

Plugging in (94) in (98), we get three equations, namely,

$$r_{t_m} = \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} (-a_{i,x}) - qb_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + pc_i \lambda^{m-i+1} - vb_i \lambda^{m-i} + sc_i \lambda^{m-i}$$

$$-\delta_{a,x} - q\delta_b \lambda + p\delta_c \lambda - v\delta_b + s\delta_c,$$

$$\lambda p_{t_m} + s_{t_m} = \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} b_{i,x} + 2pa_i \lambda^{m-i+1} - 2b_i \lambda^{m-i+2} + 2sa_i \lambda^{m-i} + 2rb_i \lambda^{m-i}$$

$$+ \delta_{b,x} + 2p\delta_a \lambda - 2\delta_b \lambda^2 + 2s\delta_a + 2r\delta_b,$$

$$\lambda q_{t_m} + v_{t_m} = \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} c_{i,x} - 2qa_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + 2c_i \lambda^{m-i+2} - 2va_i \lambda^{m-i} - 2rc_i \lambda^{m-i}$$

$$+ \delta_{c,x} - 2q\delta_a \lambda + 2\delta_c \lambda^2 - 2v\delta_a - 2r\delta_c.$$
(99)

We plug the recursion relations (86) and (88) into (99) and get

$$\begin{split} r_{t_m} &= \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} (-a_{i,x}) - q b_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + p c_i \lambda^{m-i+1} - v b_i \lambda^{m-i} + s c_i \lambda^{m-i} \\ &- \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} (q b_{i+1} - p c_{i+1} + v b_i - s c_i) - q b_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + p c_i \lambda^{m-i+1} \\ &- v b_i \lambda^{m-i} + s c_i \lambda^{m-i} - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} (q b_{i+1} - p c_{i+1}) - \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i+1} (q b_i - p c_i) \\ &- \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m+1} \lambda^{m-i+1} (q b_i - p c_i) - \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i+1} (q b_i - p c_i) - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda \\ &+ p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= q b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} - \lambda^{m+1} (q b_0 - p c_0) - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= q b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= q b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= q b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= q b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= p b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} + \lambda^{m-i+1} (q b_0 - p c_0) - \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= q b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} + \lambda^{m-i+1} (q b_0 - p c_0) + \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= p b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} + \lambda^{m-i+1} (q b_0 - p c_0) + \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= p b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} + \lambda^{m-i+1} (q b_0 - p c_0) + \delta_{a,x} - q \delta_b \lambda + p \delta_c \lambda - v \delta_b + s \delta_c , \\ &= p b_{m+1} - p c_{m+1} + 2 b_{i+2} - 2 s a_i - 2 b_i \lambda + p \delta_i \lambda^{m-i+2} + \delta_{b,x} + 2 p \delta_a \lambda - 2 \delta_b \lambda^2 + 2 s \delta_a + 2 r \delta_b \\ &= - \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} (2 p a_{i+1} + \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} 2 b_{i+2} + \sum_{i=0}^m 2 p a_i \lambda^{m-i+1} - \sum_{i=0}^m 2 b_i \lambda^{m-i+2} + \delta_{b,x} + 2 p \delta_a \lambda - 2 \delta_b \lambda^2 + 2 s \delta_a + 2 r \delta_b \\ &= - \sum_{i=0}^{m+1} \lambda^{m-i+1} 2 p a_i + \sum_{i=2}^{m+2} \lambda^{m-i+2} 2 b_i + \sum_{i=0}^m 2 p a_i \lambda^{m-i+1} - \sum_{i=0}^m 2 b_i \lambda^{m-i+2} + \delta_{b,x} + 2 p \delta_a \lambda - 2 \delta_b \lambda^2 + 2 s \delta_a + 2 r \delta_b \\ &= \lambda^{m+1} 2 p a_0 - 2 p a_{m+1} - \lambda^{m+2} 2 b_0 - \lambda^{m+1} 2 b_1 + \lambda 2 b_{m+1} + 2 b_{m+2} + \delta_{b,x} + 2 p \delta_a \lambda - 2 \delta_b \lambda^2 +$$

$$\begin{split} \lambda q_{t_m} + v_{t_m} &= \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} c_{i,x} - 2qa_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + 2c_i \lambda^{m-i+2} - 2va_i \lambda^{m-i} - 2rc_i \lambda^{m-i} \\ &+ \delta_{c,x} - 2q\delta_a \lambda + 2\delta_c \lambda^2 - 2v\delta_a - 2r\delta_c \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} (2qa_{i+1} - 2c_{i+2} + 2va_i + 2rc_i) - 2qa_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + 2c_i \lambda^{m-i+2} \\ &- 2va_i \lambda^{m-i} - 2rc_i \lambda^{m-i} \\ &+ \delta_{c,x} - 2q\delta_a \lambda + 2\delta_c \lambda^2 - 2v\delta_a - 2r\delta_c \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} 2qa_{i+1} - \sum_{i=0}^m \lambda^{m-i} 2c_{i+2} - \sum_{i=0}^m 2qa_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + \sum_{i=0}^m 2b_i \lambda^{m-i+2} \\ &+ \delta_{c,x} - 2q\delta_a \lambda + 2\delta_c \lambda^2 - 2v\delta_a - 2r\delta_c \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{m+1} \lambda^{m-i+1} 2qa_i - \sum_{i=2}^{m+2} \lambda^{m-i+2} 2c_i - \sum_{i=0}^m 2qa_i \lambda^{m-i+1} + \sum_{i=0}^m 2c_i \lambda^{m-i+2} \\ &+ \delta_{c,x} - 2q\delta_a \lambda + 2\delta_c \lambda^2 - 2v\delta_a - 2r\delta_c \\ &= -2qa_0 \lambda^{m+1} + 2qa_{m+1} - \lambda^{m+2} 2c_0 + \lambda^{m+1} 2c_1 - \lambda 2c_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} \\ &+ \delta_{c,x} - 2q\delta_a \lambda + 2\delta_c \lambda^2 - 2v\delta_a - 2r\delta_c \\ &= -\lambda 2c_{m+1} + 2qa_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} + \delta_{c,x} - 2q\delta_a \lambda + 2\delta_c \lambda^2 - 2v\delta_a - 2r\delta_c , \end{split}$$

Comparing coefficients for powers of λ , we find $\delta_b = \delta_c = 0$ and the following five equations:

$$\begin{cases} p_{t_m} = 2b_{m+1} + 2p\delta_a, \\ q_{t_m} = -2c_{m+1} - 2q\delta_a, \\ r_{t_m} = qb_{m+1} - pc_{m+1} - \delta_{a,x}, \\ s_{t_m} = -2pa_{m+1} + 2b_{m+2} + 2s\delta_a, \\ v_{t_m} = 2qa_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} - 2v\delta_a. \end{cases}$$
(100)

For simplicity, assume $\delta_a = 0$ to generate a hierarchy of soliton equations

$$u_{t_{m}} = \begin{bmatrix} p_{t_{m}} \\ q_{t_{m}} \\ r_{t_{m}} \\ s_{t_{m}} \\ v_{t_{m}} \end{bmatrix} = K_{m} = \begin{bmatrix} 2b_{m+1} \\ -2c_{m+1} \\ qb_{m+1} - pc_{m+1} \\ -2pa_{m+1} + 2b_{m+2} \\ 2qa_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} \end{bmatrix} = \Phi \begin{bmatrix} 2b_{m} \\ -2c_{m} \\ qb_{m} - pc_{m} \\ -2pa_{m} + 2b_{m+1} \\ 2qa_{m} - 2c_{m+1} \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 0.$$
(101)

 Φ is a recursion operator determined by (88) and given by

$$\Phi = \begin{bmatrix} -p\partial^{-1}v - s\partial^{-1}q & -p\partial^{-1}s - s\partial^{-1}p & 2s\partial^{-1} & 1 - p\partial^{-1}q & -p\partial^{-1}p \\ q\partial^{-1}v + v\partial^{-1}q & q\partial^{-1}s + v\partial^{-1}p & -2v\partial^{-1} & q\partial^{-1}q & 1 + q\partial^{-1}p \\ (pv - qs)\partial^{-1}\frac{q}{2} & (pv - qs)\partial^{-1}\frac{p}{2} & -(pv - qs)\partial^{-1} & \frac{q}{2} & \frac{p}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2}\partial + r - s\partial^{-1}v & -s\partial^{-1}s - pr\partial^{-1}p & 2pr\partial^{-1} & -s\partial^{-1}q & -s\partial^{-1}p \\ -pr\partial^{-1}q - \partial p\partial^{-1}\frac{q}{2} & -\partial p\partial^{-1}\frac{p}{2} & +\partial p\partial^{-1} & & \\ v\partial^{-1}v + qr\partial^{-1}q & -\frac{1}{2}\partial + r + v\partial^{-1}s & -2qr\partial^{-1} & v\partial^{-1}q & v\partial^{-1}p \\ -\partial q\partial^{-1}\frac{q}{2} & +qr\partial^{-1}p - \partial q\partial^{-1}\frac{p}{2} & +\partial q\partial^{-1} & & \end{bmatrix}$$
(102)

with $\partial = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ and ∂^{-1} as the inverse operator of ∂ .

PROPOSITION 2.2. All $\{K_m\}$, as defined by (101), are commuting symmetries, i.e.,

$$[K_k, K_l] = K'_k(u)[K_l] - K'_l(u)[K_k] = 0, \quad k, l \ge 0.$$
(103)

Proof. The Gateaux derivative of U defined by (82) along any direction $S = (S_1, S_2, S_3, S_4, S_5)^T$ is

$$U'[S] = \begin{bmatrix} -S_3 & \lambda S_1 + S_4 \\ \lambda S_2 + S_5 & S_3 \end{bmatrix}.$$

This shows U'[S] = 0 if and only if S = 0 and U'[S] is injective. According to the results in [27], for the evolution equations defined by

$$u_{t_m} = K_m(u),$$

represented by a zero curvature formulation

$$U_{t_m} - V_x^{[m]} + [U, V^{[m]}] = 0,$$

we have the following:

$$U'[[K_m, K_n]] - [[V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}]]_x + [U, [[V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}]]] = 0,$$
(104)

where $[[V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}]]$ is defined by

$$[[V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}]] := V^{[m]'}(u)[K_n] - V^{[n]'}(u)[K_m] + [V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}], \quad m, n \ge 0.$$
(105)

We will first show that

$$[[V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}]]|_{u=0} = 0.$$
(106)

By inspection, we see by (88) and (101) that

$$K_m|_{u=0} = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad m \ge 0,$$

and, therefore,

$$V^{[m]'}(u)[K_n] - V^{[n]'}(u)[K_m]|_{u=0} = 0, \text{ for } m, n \ge 0$$

Also, restricting the temporal spectral matrices to the case when u = 0 for all m, we have

$$V^{[m]}|_{u=0} = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha \lambda^m & 0\\ 0 & -\alpha \lambda^m \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (107)

Thus, it is easy to see that

$$[V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}]|_{u=0} = 0,$$

and (106) is proved.

We have the uniqueness property of the spectral problem presented: If a matrix solution $W \in \widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ to the equation $U'[K] - W_x + [U,W] = 0$ with some vector-valued function K satisfies $W|_{u=0} = 0$, then W = 0 [43]. By the uniqueness property of the spectral problem, we have $[[V^{[m]}, V^{[n]}]] = 0$. This leaves

$$U'[[K_m, K_n]] = 0. (108)$$

Recall, $U'[\cdot]$ is injective. Therefore, (108) implies

$$[K_m, K_n] = 0, \quad m, n \ge 0, \tag{109}$$

and the proposition is proved.

Let's look at some of the reductions of this system. First, when m = 6, we may let r, p, q =

0, v = -1, s = u and $\alpha = -4$ to find the KdV equation [3]

$$u_t = -6uu_x - u_{xxx}.\tag{110}$$

Also for m = 6, we let r, p, q = 0, v = -u, s = u and $\alpha = -4$ to find the mKdV [34,35]

$$u_t = -6u^2 u_x - u_{xxx}.$$
 (111)

We may see the NLSE [22] by letting $r, p, q = 0, v = -\bar{u}, s = u$ and $\alpha = -2i$ when m = 4

$$iu_t = 2|u|^2 u + u_{xx}.$$
(112)

Lastly, when m = 4, we can see the Gerdjikov-Ivanov (G-I) equations [36, 37]

$$\begin{cases} q_t = \frac{1}{2}q^3r^2 - q^2r_x - q_{xx} \\ r_t = -\frac{1}{2}r^3q^2 - r^2q_x + r_{xx}, \end{cases}$$
(113)

if we let r = -2qr, p = q, q = r, s = v = 0 and $\alpha = -2$. The G-I equation is the third derivative nonlinear Schrödinger equation (DNLSIII) [37], or equivalently,

$$iq_t = -\frac{1}{2}q^3\bar{q}^2 + iq^2\bar{q}_x - q_{xx}.$$
(114)

2.4.4 Hamiltonian structure

The Hamiltonian structure for the hierarchy (101) is found using the trace identity [29, 31]. We compute

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial U}{\partial p} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \lambda \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial q} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \lambda & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial r} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \\ \frac{\partial U}{\partial s} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial v} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda} = \begin{bmatrix} 2\lambda & p \\ q & -2\lambda \end{bmatrix}.$$
(115)

The following traces are generated:

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial\lambda}\right) = 4a\lambda + bq + cp, \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial p}\right) = c\lambda, \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial q}\right) = b\lambda, \\ \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial r}\right) = -2a, \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial s}\right) = c, \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial v}\right) = b, \end{cases}$$
(116)

and applying the trace identity (77), we have

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int (4a\lambda + bq + cp)dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} [c\lambda, b\lambda, -2a, c, b]^T.$$
(117)

After balancing the coefficients of all powers of λ ,

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int (4a_{m+2} + b_{m+1}q + c_{m+1}p)dx = (\gamma - m)[c_{m+1}, b_{m+1}, -2a_m, c_m, b_m]^T, \quad m \ge 0.$$

Considering the case where m = 1, we see $\gamma = 0$, and we have the following:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int -\frac{4a_{m+2} + b_{m+1}q + c_{m+1}p}{m} dx = [c_{m+1}, b_{m+1}, -2a_m, c_m, b_m]^T, \quad m \ge 1.$$
(118)

A cumbersome calculation involving the recursion relations (88) show that

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m+1}}{\delta u} = \begin{bmatrix} c_{m+2} \\ b_{m+2} \\ -2a_{m+1} \\ c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \end{bmatrix} = \Psi \begin{bmatrix} c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \\ -2a_m \\ c_m \\ b_m \end{bmatrix} = \Psi \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u},$$
(119)

where

$$\Psi = \Phi^{\dagger} = \begin{bmatrix} \Psi_{11} & \Psi_{12} & \Psi_{13} & \Psi_{14} & \Psi_{15} \\ \Psi_{21} & \Psi_{22} & \Psi_{23} & \Psi_{24} & \Psi_{25} \\ \Psi_{31} & \Psi_{32} & \Psi_{33} & \Psi_{34} & \Psi_{35} \\ \Psi_{41} & \Psi_{42} & \Psi_{43} & \Psi_{44} & \Psi_{45} \\ \Psi_{51} & \Psi_{52} & \Psi_{53} & \Psi_{54} & \Psi_{55} \end{bmatrix},$$
(120)

and

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{11} &= v\partial^{-1}p + q\partial^{-1}s, \Psi_{12} = -v\partial^{-1}q - q\partial^{-1}v, \Psi_{13} = -\frac{q}{2}\partial^{-1}(pv - qs), \\ \Psi_{14} &= -\frac{1}{2}\partial + r + v\partial^{-1}s + q\partial^{-1}pr - \frac{q}{2}\partial^{-1}p\partial, \Psi_{15} = -v\partial^{-1}v - q\partial^{-1}qr - \frac{q}{2}\partial^{-1}q\partial, \\ \Psi_{21} &= s\partial^{-1}p + p\partial^{-1}s, \Psi_{22} = -s\partial^{-1}q - p\partial^{-1}v, \Psi_{23} = -\frac{p}{2}\partial^{-1}(pv - qs), \\ \Psi_{24} &= s\partial^{-1}s + p\partial^{-1}pr - \frac{p}{2}\partial^{-1}p\partial, \Psi_{25} = \frac{1}{2}\partial + r - s\partial^{-1}v - p\partial^{-1}qr - \frac{p}{2}\partial^{-1}q\partial, \\ \Psi_{31} &= -2\partial^{-1}s, \Psi_{32} = 2\partial^{-1}v, \Psi_{33} = \partial^{-1}(pv - qs), \\ \Psi_{34} &= -2\partial^{-1}pr + \partial^{-1}p\partial, \Psi_{35} = 2\partial^{-1}qr + \partial^{-1}q\partial, \\ \Psi_{41} &= 1 + q\partial^{-1}p, \Psi_{42} = -q\partial^{-1}q, \Psi_{43} = \frac{q}{2}, \Psi_{44} = q\partial^{-1}s, \Psi_{45} = -q\partial^{-1}v, \\ \Psi_{51} &= p\partial^{-1}p, \Psi_{52} = 1 - p\partial^{-1}q, \Psi_{53} = \frac{p}{2}, \Psi_{54} = p\partial^{-1}s, \Psi_{55} = -p\partial^{-1}v. \end{split}$$

Note, Φ is from (102). Before we show the Hamiltonian structure for the soliton hierarchy (101), we must prove the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 2.3. The operator J defined by

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}\partial & s & -v \\ 0 & 0 & -s & 0 & \partial + 2r \\ 0 & 0 & v & \partial - 2r & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(121)

is a Hamiltonian operator.

Proof. We can easily see by inspection that $J^{\dagger} = -J$, where J^{\dagger} is the adjoint of J, and J is skew-adjoint. Therefore, we must only prove that J satisfies the equivalent formulation Jacobi condition

$$\langle Z, J'(u)[JX]Y \rangle + \operatorname{cycle}(X, Y, Z) \equiv 0 \pmod{\partial},$$
(122)

for all vector fields X, Y, and Z, where J'(u)[X] denotes the Gateaux derivative of J with respect to u in the direction of X and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, the standard inner product. Assume

$$X = (X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4, X_5)^T, \quad Y = (Y_1, Y_2, Y_3, Y_4, Y_5)^T, \quad Z = (Z_1, Z_2, Z_3, Z_4, Z_5)^T,$$
$$W = (W_1, W_2, W_3, W_4, W_5)^T,$$

are five-dimensional vector functions. By (121), we immediately have

$$JX = \begin{bmatrix} 2X_2 \\ -2X_1 \\ \frac{1}{2}X_{3,x} + sX_4 - vX_5 \\ -sX_3 + X_{5,x} + 2rX_5 \\ vX_3 + X_{4,x} - 2rX_4 \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} W_1(X) \\ W_1(X) \\ W_1(X) \\ W_1(X) \\ W_1(X) \end{bmatrix}$$

Using the definition of the Gateaux derivative, we compute J'[W] and, then, J'[W]Y as:

and

$$J'[W]Y = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ W_4Y_4 - W_5Y_5\\ -W_4Y_3 + 2W_3Y_5\\ W_5Y_3 - 2W_3Y_4 \end{bmatrix},$$

Now, we see that

$$< Z, J'[W]Y > = 2W_3(Z_4Y_5 - Z_5Y_4) + W_4(Z_3Y_4 - Z_4Y_3) + W_5(Z_5Y_3 - Z_3Y_5)$$

$$= 2(\frac{1}{2}X_{3,x} + sX_4 - vX_5)(Z_4Y_5 - Z_5Y_4)$$

$$+ (-sX_3 + X_{5,x} + 2rX_5)(Z_3Y_4 - Z_4Y_3)$$

$$+ (vX_3 + X_{4,x} - 2rX_4)(Z_5Y_3 - Z_3Y_5)$$

$$= [X_{3,x}(Z_4Y_5 - Z_5Y_4) + X_{4,x}(Z_5Y_3 - Z_3Y_5) + X_{5,x}(Z_3Y_4 - Z_4Y_3)]$$

$$+ [2(sX_4 - vX_5)(Z_4Y_5 - Z_5Y_4) + (-sX_3 + 2rX_5)(Z_3Y_4 - Z_4Y_3)$$

$$+ (vX_3 - 2rX_4)(Z_5Y_3 - Z_3Y_5)].$$

We may make the following decomposition:

$$\langle Z, J'[W]Y \rangle = R(X, Y, Z) + S(X, Y, Z),$$
(123)

where

$$\begin{aligned} R(X,Y,Z) &= X_{3,x}(Z_4Y_5 - Z_5Y_4) + X_{4,x}(Z_5Y_3 - Z_3Y_5) + X_{5,x}(Z_3Y_4 - Z_4Y_3), \\ S(X,Y,Z) &= 2(sX_4 - vX_5)(Z_4Y_5 - Z_5Y_4) + (-sX_3 + 2rX_5)(Z_3Y_4 - Z_4Y_3) \\ &+ (vX_3 - 2rX_4)(Z_5Y_3 - Z_3Y_5). \end{aligned}$$

For the functions R and S, we may make the following computation:

$$R(X, Y, Z) + \operatorname{cycle}(X, Y, Z)$$

$$=\partial(X_3Z_4Y_5 - X_3Y_4Z_5) + \operatorname{cycle}(X, Y, Z),$$

$$S(X, Y, Z) + \operatorname{cycle}(X, Y, Z)$$

$$=\partial\{\partial^{-1}[2(sX_4 - cX_5)(Z_4Y_5 - Z_5Y_4) + (-sX_3 + 2rX_5)(Z_3Y_4 - Z_4Y_3) + (vX_3 - 2rX_4)(Z_5Y_3 - Z_3Y_5)]\} + \operatorname{cycle}(X, Y, Z).$$
(124)

Therefore, they are both total derivatives. Using (124), we see that J satisfies the Jacobi identity,

$$\langle Z, J'(u)[JX]Y \rangle + \operatorname{cycle}(X, Y, Z) \equiv 0 \pmod{\partial},$$

and J is a Hamiltonian operator.

Thus, we arrive at the Hamiltonian structure for a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy (101) [21]

$$u_{t_m} = K_m = \begin{bmatrix} 2b_{m+1} \\ -2c_{m+1} \\ -a_{m,x} - vb_m + sc_m \\ b_{m,x} + 2sa_m + 2rb_m \\ c_{m,x} - 2va_m - 2rc_m \end{bmatrix} = J \begin{bmatrix} c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \\ -2a_m \\ c_m \\ b_m \end{bmatrix} = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u}, m \ge 0,$$
(125)

with the Hamiltonian operator

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}\partial & s & -v \\ 0 & 0 & -s & 0 & \partial + 2r \\ 0 & 0 & v & \partial - 2r & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(126)

and the Hamiltonian functionals

$$\mathcal{H}_{0} = \int (-2\alpha r + \alpha pq) dx, \quad \mathcal{H}_{m} = \int -\frac{4a_{m+2} + b_{m+1}q + c_{m+1}p}{m} dx, \quad m \ge 1,$$
(127)

where \mathcal{H}_0 can be found directly from the vector $[c_1, b_1, -2a_0, c_0, b_0]^T$.

The above functionals (127) correspond to common conservation laws for each soliton system in the soliton hierarchy (101). Differential polynomial conservation laws can be generated either from some Riccati equation obtained from the underlying matrix spectral problem [39]- [41] or directly by a computer algebra system [42].

As a direct result of the Hamiltonian structures (125), the recursion structures (119) and (101), and the property $J\Psi = \Psi^{\dagger}J$, we can say that the soliton hierarchy (101) has infinitely many conserved functions in involution, i.e.,

$$\{\mathcal{H}_k, \mathcal{H}_l\}_J = \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u}\right)^T J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_l}{\delta u} dx = 0, \quad k, l \ge 0.$$
(128)

and commutating symmetries,

$$[K_k, K_l] = K'_k(u)[K_l] - K'_l(u)[K_k] = 0, \quad k, l \ge 0.$$
(129)

Thus, the soliton hierarchy (101) is integrable in the Liouville sense. We would like to note that the commuting relations of the conserved functionals and symmetries are also consequences of the Virasoro algebra of Lax operators. For further reference on the algebraic structures of Lax operators and zero curvature equations, see [43]- [45].

We have an infinite set of functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_n\}$ which are involution in pairs, i.e., $\{\mathcal{H}_n, \mathcal{H}_m\}_J = 0$. Therefore, for the *m*-th system $u_{t_m} = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_n}{\delta u}$, similar to an analysis in [64], we may compute

$$\frac{d}{dt_m} \mathcal{H}_n = \int \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_n}{\delta u} u_{t_m} dx$$
$$= \int \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_n}{\delta u} J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u}$$
$$= \{\mathcal{H}_n, \mathcal{H}_m\}_J = 0, \quad n \ge 0.$$

Clearly, the soliton hierarchy (101) has infinitely many conserved quantities.

2.4.5 A bi-Hamiltonian reduced integrable hierarchy

Let's introduce a reduction of the spectral problem (82) [21]:

$$\phi_x = U(u,\lambda)\phi = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - \tilde{r} & \lambda p + s \\ \lambda q + v & -\lambda^2 + \tilde{r} \end{bmatrix} \phi, \ U \in \widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}), \ u = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ s \\ v \end{bmatrix}, \ \phi = \begin{bmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{bmatrix},$$
(130)

where $\tilde{r} = \frac{1}{2}pq$. We would like to construct its associated integrable soliton hierarchy possessing a bi-Hamiltonian structure. We will see that this spectral problem will generate a different soliton hierarchy than (101).

Assume a solution to stationary zero curvature equation to be of the same form,

$$W = ae_1 + be_2 + ce_3 = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & -a \end{bmatrix} \in \widetilde{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}),$$
(131)

and we produce

$$\begin{cases} a_x = -qb\lambda + pc\lambda - vb + sc, \\ b_x = -2pa\lambda + 2b\lambda^2 - 2sa - pqb, \\ c_x = 2qa\lambda - 2c\lambda^2 + 2vb + pqc. \end{cases}$$
(132)

Taking the same Laurent expansions as before (87), the recursion relations are

$$\begin{cases} b_{i+1} = \frac{b_{i-1,x}}{2} + pa_i + sa_{i-1} + \frac{1}{2}pqb_{i-1}, \\ c_{i+1} = -\frac{c_{i-1,x}}{2} + qa_i + va_{i-1} + \frac{1}{2}pqc_{i-1}, \quad i \ge 1, \\ a_{i+1,x} = -q\frac{b_{i,x}}{2} - p\frac{c_{i,x}}{2} + (pv - qs)a_i - \frac{1}{2}pq^2b_i + \frac{1}{2}p^2qc_i + sc_{i+1} - vb_{i+1}. \end{cases}$$
(133)

We note that we have a different set of recursion relations than those found in (88). In order to determine the sequence of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ uniquely, we take the same initial values of

$$a_0 = \alpha, \quad b_0 = c_0 = 0, \quad a_1 = 0, \quad b_1 = \alpha p, \quad c_1 = \alpha q,$$
(134)

and conditions for integration

$$a_i|_{u=0} = b_i|_{u=0} = c_i|_{u=0} = 0, \quad i \ge 1.$$
(135)

Again, for all $i \ge 0$, $\{a_i, b_i, c_i\}$ are differential polynomials in u with respect to x.

PROPOSITION 2.4. Let $\{a_0, b_0, c_0, a_1, b_1, c_1\}$ be given by equation (89). Then all functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, i \geq 0\}$

2} determined by equation (133) with the conditions in (90) are differential polynomials in u with respect to x, and thus, are local.

Proof. We omit the proof as it is almost exactly the same as Proposition 2.1 but we use the recursion relations (133) instead of (88).

After solving the zero curvature equation (94) and again taking the modification terms Δ_m to be zero, we generate a completely new soliton hierarchy

$$u_{t_m} = K_m = \begin{bmatrix} 2b_{m+1} \\ -2c_{m+1} \\ -2pa_{m+1} + 2b_{m+2} \\ 2qa_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} \end{bmatrix} = \Phi \begin{bmatrix} 2b_m \\ -2c_m \\ -2pa_m + 2b_{m+1} \\ 2qa_m - 2c_{m+1} \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(136)

with recursion operator

$$\Phi = \begin{bmatrix} -p\partial^{-1}v & -p\partial^{-1}s & 1-p\partial^{-1}q & -p\partial^{-1}p \\ q\partial^{-1}v & q\partial^{-1}s & q\partial^{-1}q & 1+q\partial^{-1}p \\ \frac{1}{2}\partial + \frac{1}{2}pq - s\partial^{-1}v & -s\partial^{-1}s & -s\partial^{-1}q & -s\partial^{-1}p \\ v\partial^{-1}v & -\frac{1}{2}\partial + \frac{1}{2}pq + v\partial^{-1}s & v\partial^{-1}q & v\partial^{-1}p \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (137)

We may construct a Hamiltonian structure from the trace identity [29,31] for the above soliton hierarchy (136). We calculate

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial p} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{2}q & \lambda \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}q \end{bmatrix}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial q} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{2}p & 0 \\ \lambda & \frac{1}{2}p \end{bmatrix},$$
(138)

and note $\frac{\partial U}{\partial s}, \frac{\partial U}{\partial v}$, and $\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}$ are as the same as in (115). The new traces are found:

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial p}\right) = -aq + c\lambda, \quad \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial q}\right) = -ap + b\lambda, \tag{139}$$

while tr $\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}\right)$, tr $\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial s}\right)$, and tr $\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial v}\right)$ are as before in (116).

Plugging these into the trace identity (77), we have

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int (4a\lambda + bq + cp)dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} [-aq + c\lambda, -ap + b\lambda, c, b]^T.$$
(140)

After balancing the coefficients of all powers of λ and then considering the case where m = 1, we see $\gamma = 0$. We then have the following for $m \ge 1$:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int -\frac{4a_{m+2} + b_{m+1}q + c_{m+1}p}{m} dx = \left[-a_m q + c_{m+1}, -a_m p + b_{m+1}, c_m, b_m\right]^T.$$
(141)

Therefore, we formulate the Hamiltonian structure for the reduced soliton hierarchy (136),

$$u_{t_m} = K_m = \begin{bmatrix} 2b_{m+1} \\ -2c_{m+1} \\ -2pa_{m+1} + 2b_{m+2} \\ 2qa_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} \end{bmatrix} = J \begin{bmatrix} -a_{m+1}q + c_{m+2} \\ -a_{m+1}p + b_{m+2} \\ c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \end{bmatrix} = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m+1}}{\delta u}, m \ge 0, \quad (142)$$

with the Hamiltonian operator,

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & -2 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
 (143)

and the Hamiltonian functionals,

$$\mathcal{H}_m = \int -\frac{4a_{m+2} + b_{m+1}q + c_{m+1}p}{m} dx, \quad m \ge 1.$$
(144)

Obviously, J is skew-symmetric. The proof that J is Hamiltonian is simple as J doesn't depend on the potential u and the Gateaux derivative of J in any direction S with respect to u is J'[S](u) = 0.

A similar calculation as before but now involving the recursion relations (133) shows that

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m+1}}{\delta u} = \begin{bmatrix} -a_{m+1}q + c_{m+2} \\ -a_{m+1}p + b_{m+2} \\ c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \end{bmatrix} = \Psi \begin{bmatrix} -a_mq + c_{m+1} \\ -a_mp + b_{m+1} \\ c_m \\ b_m \end{bmatrix} = \Psi \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u}, \quad (145)$$

where

$$\Psi = \Phi^{\dagger} = \begin{bmatrix} v\partial^{-1}p & -v\partial^{-1}q & -\frac{1}{2}\partial + \frac{1}{2}pq + v\partial^{-1}s & -v\partial^{-1}v \\ s\partial^{-1}p & -s\partial^{-1}q & s\partial^{-1}s & \frac{1}{2}\partial + \frac{1}{2}pq - s\partial^{-1}v \\ 1 + q\partial^{-1}p & -q\partial^{-1}q & q\partial^{-1}s & -q\partial^{-1}v \\ p\partial^{-1}p & 1 - p\partial^{-1}q & p\partial^{-1}s & -p\partial^{-1}v \end{bmatrix},$$
(146)

where Φ is from (137).

It can be computed that all members in the soliton hierarchy (136) are bi-Hamiltonian (see [11, 13, 15, 46] for bi-Hamiltonian theory), i.e.,

$$u_{t_m} = K_m = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m+1}}{\delta u} = M \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u}, \quad m \ge 1,$$
(147)

where the second Hamiltonian operator is

$$M = \Phi J = \begin{bmatrix} 2p\partial^{-1}p & 2-2p\partial^{-1}q & 2p\partial^{-1}s & -2p\partial^{-1}v \\ -2-2q\partial^{-1}p & 2q\partial^{-1}q & -2q\partial^{-1}s & 2q\partial^{-1}v \\ 2s\partial^{-1}p & -2s\partial^{-1}q & 2s\partial^{-1}s & \partial+pq-2s\partial^{-1}v \\ -2v\partial^{-1}p & 2v\partial^{-1}q & \partial-pq-2v\partial^{-1}s & 2v\partial^{-1}v \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (148)

This means that J and M constitute a Hamiltonian pair, or, J, M, and $N = \alpha J + \beta M$, for any $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, are all Hamiltonian operators. As a direct result of the bi-Hamiltonian structure (147), we can say that the soliton hierarchy (136) is integrable in the Liouville sense:

$$\begin{cases} \{\mathcal{H}_k, \mathcal{H}_l\}_M = \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u}\right)^T M \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_l}{\delta u} dx = 0, \\ \{\mathcal{H}_k, \mathcal{H}_l\}_J = \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u}\right)^T J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_l}{\delta u} dx = 0, \end{cases}$$
(149)

and

$$[K_k, K_l] = K'_k(u)[K_l] - K'_l(u)[K_k] = 0, \quad k, l \ge 0.$$
(150)

2.5 Summary

Starting with the matrix loop algebra $\widetilde{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$, we introduced a generalized D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem by adding two potentials s and v. Each system of equations in the soliton hierarchy has infinitely many commuting high-order symmetries and conserved functionals, and so, is Liouville integrable. Then we presented a reduction to the new spectral problem generating a different soliton hierarchy with a bi-Hamiltonian structure.

We would like to note that the soliton hierarchy (101) is different from the hierarchies presented in [9], [22], and [23]. The AKNS, Kaup-Newell, and D-Kaup-Newell hierarchies are found from the following spectral matrices, respectively:

$$U = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & p \\ q & -\lambda \end{bmatrix}, U = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 & \lambda p \\ \lambda q & -\lambda^2 \end{bmatrix}, U = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 + r & \lambda p \\ \lambda q & -\lambda^2 - r \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (151)

Recall, the spectral matrix for the soliton hierarchy (101) is

$$U = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - r & \lambda p + s \\ \lambda q + v & -\lambda^2 + r \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (152)

It is clear that (152) is a generalization of the Kaup-Newell and D-Kaup-Newell spectral matrices. We will note that AKNS hierarchy [9] may be found from (152) by letting p = q = r = 0.

3 Integrable couplings

3.1 Introduction

Originally, integrable couplings were found in the study of centerless Virasoro symmetry algebras of integrable systems [64]. The problem of integrable couplings can be expressed as: "For a given integrable system, how can we construct a non-trivial system of differential equations which is still integrable and includes the original system as a subsystem? [59]" The quest for finding new integrable couplings has produced many ideas and become an important area of research in mathematical physics [14], [51]- [76]. Studying integrable couplings will facilitate with the complete classification of multiple component integrable systems.

Given an integrable system $u_t = K(u)$, an *integrable coupling* is a triangular system of the form

$$\begin{cases} u_t = K(u), \\ v_t = T(u, v), \end{cases}$$
(153)

where potentials u and v are scalar functions or vector functions with dependent variables $\bar{x} = (t, x_1, x_2, ...)$. The non-triviality condition is $\frac{\partial T}{\partial [u]} \neq 0$, where [u] denotes a vector consisting of all derivatives of u with respect to the space variable. This condition guarantees that the new differential equations in the bigger system (153) involve the dependent variables of the original system. Integrable couplings were first constructed through perturbations [14, 51, 52] taking the

form

$$\begin{aligned}
u_t &= K(u), \\
v_t &= K'(u)[v],
\end{aligned}$$
(154)

where $K'(u)[v] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} K(u + \epsilon v, u_x + \epsilon v_x, ...)|_{\epsilon=0}$ is the Gateaux derivative. Then the spectral matrices were enlarged [53, 55]. In 2006, the connection between integrable couplings and semi-direct sums of Lie algebras was realized [59,60]. Since then, bi-integrable and tri-integrable couplings have been developed with examples associated with $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ and $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ [61–63]. Very recently, a novel kind of AKNS integrable couplings were analyzed [75]; the enlarged spectral problem had an additional matrix block depending on the spectral parameter λ . The last section shows the construction of two examples which uses the same technique on generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchies to enlarge the spectral problem producing integrable couplings for each.

This chapter has ends with two major sections: integrable couplings and Hamiltonian structures. In the integrable couplings section, we begin by enlarging the spectral problem (83) and solving the corresponding enlarged zero curvature equations. We prove its localness and show the structures of the integrable couplings. Next, we reduce the enlarged spectral matrix and follow the same procedure. This produces different integrable couplings for the reduced system. The section of Hamiltonian structures follows. Here, we find a non-degenerate, ad-invariant, symmetric bilinear form. The bilinear form is used in the variational identity to formulate Hamiltonian structures of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings have bi-Hamiltonian structures. Both hierarchies of integrable couplings retain the property of infinitely many high-order symmetries and conserved functionals from their subsystems. Before we begin the construction of integrable couplings, let's discuss: semi-direct sums and non-semisimple Lie algebras, the variational identity, and a general algorithm for formulating integrable couplings.

3.2 A method for constructing integrable couplings

3.2.1 Semi-direct sums and non-semisimple Lie algebras

Integrable couplings are directly related to semi-direct sums of Lie algebras [59,60]. We construct integrable couplings for a soliton hierarchy by using a loop matrix Lie algebra. Define a triangular block matrix as follows:

$$M(A_1, A_2) = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & A_2 \\ 0 & A_1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (155)

It can easily be shown that matrices of this form are closed under matrix multiplication, i.e., constitute a Lie algebra. The associated matrix loop algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$ is formed by all block matrices of the type:

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda) = \{M(A_1, A_2) | M \text{ defined by } (155), \text{entries of } A_i \text{ are Laurent series in } \lambda\}.$$
 (156)

Since $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ is a Lie algebra, it has a semi-direct sum decomposition [77] of the form:

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{g}} = \mathfrak{g} \in \mathfrak{g}_c,$$
(157)

where

$$\mathfrak{g} = \{M(A_1, 0) | M \text{ as in } (155), \text{ entries of } A_1 \text{ are Laurent series in } \lambda \}$$

is semisimple and

$$\mathfrak{g}_c = \{M(0, A_2) | M \text{ as in } (155), \text{ entries of } A_2 \text{ are Laurent series in } \lambda \}$$

is solvable. This means that $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}_c \subseteq \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ have the property

$$[\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{g}_c]\subseteq\mathfrak{g}_c,\tag{158}$$

where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ is the Lie bracket of $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$. The subscript *c* indicates the connection with the construction of coupling systems.

We assume that (153) has a pair of Lax matrices \overline{U} and \overline{V} in a matrix loop Lie algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ associated with a spectral problems

$$\bar{\phi}_x = \bar{U}\bar{\phi}, \quad \bar{\phi}_t = \bar{V}\bar{\phi}. \tag{159}$$

Lax pairs of the enlarged system (153) must be of the form:

$$\bar{U}(\bar{u},\lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} U(u,\lambda) & U_1(\bar{u},\lambda) \\ 0 & U(u,\lambda) \end{bmatrix}, \quad \bar{V}(\bar{u},\lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} V(u,\lambda) & V_1(\bar{u},\lambda) \\ 0 & V(u,\lambda) \end{bmatrix},$$
(160)

where \bar{U} and \bar{V} are block matrices in a non-semisimple Lie algebra, $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$. In summary, integrable couplings are integrable systems associated with non-semisimple Lie algebras, or semi-direct sums of Lie algebras [59,60], which enlarge an original integrable system.

3.2.2 Variational identity

If a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is semisimple, then all bilinear forms on \mathfrak{g} that are non-degenerate, symmetric, and invariant under both the Lie bracket and Lie isomorphisms are equivalent to the Killing form up to a constant multiplier [68,69]. The Killing form on a Lie algebra is non-degenerate if and only if \mathfrak{g} is semisimple. When \mathfrak{g} is non-semisimple, the trace identity no longer is useful for calculating Hamiltonian structures. As seen in the last section, integrable couplings are formed from semi-direct sums of Lie algebras. When \mathfrak{g}_c from (157) is not zero, we have a non-semisimple Lie algebra. To remedy this issue, Ma and Chen [64] developed the variational identity under a general bilinear form. The general bilinear form has to be non-degenerate, symmetric, and invariant under Lie product. A bilinear form $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is said to be non-degenerate if $\langle A, B \rangle = 0$ for all vectors A, then B = 0, and if $\langle A, B \rangle = 0$ for all vectors B, then A = 0. The symmetric property and invariance under Lie product are as follows:

$$\langle A, B \rangle = \langle B, A \rangle \tag{161}$$

and

$$\langle A, [B, C] \rangle = \langle [A, B], C \rangle, \tag{162}$$

respectively. Ma and Chen found that removing the requirement of the bilinear form in the proof of the trace identity [28] that

$$\langle \rho(A), \rho(B) \rangle = \langle A, B \rangle$$
 (163)

under an isomorphism ρ of the Lie algebra would allow for a more general bilinear form in the variational identity.

THEOREM 3.1. [64] (the variational identity under general bilinear forms). Let $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ be a matrix loop algebra, $\bar{U} = \bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda) \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ be homogeneous in rank and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denote a non-degenerate, symmetric, bilinear form invariant under the matrix Lie product. Assume that the stationary zero curvature equation $\bar{W}_x = [\bar{U}, \bar{W}]$ has a unique solution $\bar{W} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ of a fixed rank up to a constant multiplier. Then for any solution $\bar{W} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ of $\bar{W}_x = [\bar{U}, \bar{W}]$, being homogeneous in rank, we have the following variational identity:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\bar{u}} \int \langle \bar{W}, \bar{U}_{\lambda} \rangle dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \langle \bar{W}, \bar{U}_{\bar{u}} \rangle, \quad \gamma = -\frac{\lambda}{2} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \ln |\langle \bar{W}, \bar{W} \rangle|.$$
(164)

3.2.3 A general algorithm for integrable couplings

A soliton hierarchy is usually associated with an enlarged spectral problem,

$$\bar{\phi}_x = \bar{U}\bar{\phi}, \qquad \bar{U} = \bar{U}(\bar{u},\lambda) \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}},$$
(165)

where λ is a spectral parameter and $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ is a matrix loop algebra associated with a matrix Lie agebra \mathfrak{g} , non-semisimple. Suppose that the corresponding stationary zero curvature equation,

$$\bar{W}_x = [\bar{U}, \bar{W}],\tag{166}$$

has a solution of the form

$$\bar{W} = \bar{W}(\bar{u}, \lambda) = \sum_{i \ge 0} \bar{W}_{0,i} \lambda^{-i}, \qquad (167)$$

where $\bar{W}_{0,i} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$. We now introduce a sequence of enlarged temporal spectral problems,

$$\bar{\phi}_{t_m} = \bar{V}^{[m]} \bar{\phi} = \bar{V}^{[m]}(\bar{u}, \lambda) \bar{\phi}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(168)

involving the Lax matrices defined by

$$\bar{V}^{[m]} = (\lambda^m \bar{W})_+ + \bar{\Delta}_m \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(169)

where Q_+ denotes the polynomial part of Q in λ and the modification terms $\bar{\Delta}_m$ to ensure that the zero curvature equations,

$$\bar{U}_{t_m} - \bar{V}_x^{[m]} + [\bar{U}, \bar{V}^{[m]}] = 0, \qquad m \ge 0,$$
(170)

generate a soliton hierarchy with Hamiltonian structures,

$$\bar{u}_{t_m} = \bar{K}_m(\bar{u}) = \bar{J} \frac{\delta \bar{\mathcal{H}}_m}{\delta \bar{u}}, \ m \ge 0.$$
(171)

The Hamiltonian functionals are generally found by applying the variational identity (164) [64,68, 69]. The soliton hierarchy (171) often has the communativity properties:

$$[\bar{K}_m, \bar{K}_n] = \bar{K}'_m(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_n] - \bar{K}'_n(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_m] = 0, \qquad (172)$$

$$\{\bar{\mathcal{H}}_m, \bar{\mathcal{H}}_n\}_{\bar{J}} = \int \left(\frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_m}{\delta\bar{u}}\right)^T \bar{J} \frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_n}{\delta\bar{u}} dx = 0,$$
(173)

where $m, n \ge 0$. These properties imply that the hierarchy (171) possesses infinitely many commuting symmetries $\{\bar{K}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ and conserved functionals $\{\bar{\mathcal{H}}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$.

4 Two integrable couplings and their Hamiltonian structures

4.1 An enlarged non-semisimple matrix loop algebra

We begin the construction of integrable couplings of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy by introducing an enlarged matrix loop algebra. Let $\bar{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ be triangular block matrices such that

$$sl(2,\mathbb{R}) = \{M(A_1, A_2) | A_1, A_2 \in sl(2,\mathbb{R}), M \text{ defined by } (155)\}.$$
 (174)

The associated enlarged matrix loop algebra $\widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})(\lambda)$ is formed by all block matrices of the type:

$$\widetilde{\bar{\mathrm{sl}}}(2,\mathbb{R})(\lambda) = \left\{ \sum_{i\geq 0} M_i \lambda^{n-i} | M_i \in \bar{\mathrm{sl}}(2,\mathbb{R}), n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$
(175)

Throughout this section, we will conveniently refer to $\tilde{\overline{sl}}(2,\mathbb{R})(\lambda)$ as $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$.

4.2 Generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings

A spectral matrix is chosen [76] from $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$:

$$\bar{U} = \bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} U & U_1 \\ 0 & U \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - r_1 & \lambda p_1 + s_1 & \lambda^2 - r_2 & \lambda p_2 + s_2 \\ \lambda q_1 + v_1 & -\lambda^2 + r_1 & \lambda q_2 + v_2 & -\lambda^2 + r_2 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & \lambda^2 - r_1 & \lambda p_1 + s_1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda q_1 + v_1 & -\lambda^2 + r_1 \end{bmatrix},$$
(176)

where $\{p_i, q_i, r_i, s_i, v_i, i = 1, 2\}$ are potentials and $\bar{u} = (u, v)^T, u = (p_1, q_1, r_1, s_1, v_1)^T, v = (p_2, q_2, r_2, s_2, v_2)^T$. The isospectral problem is

$$\bar{\phi}_x = \bar{U}\bar{\phi} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - r_1 & \lambda p_1 + s_1 & \lambda^2 - r_2 & \lambda p_2 + s_2 \\ \lambda q_1 + v_1 & -\lambda^2 + r_1 & \lambda q_2 + v_2 & -\lambda^2 + r_2 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda^2 - r_1 & \lambda p_1 + s_1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda q_1 + v_1 & -\lambda^2 + r_1 \end{bmatrix} \bar{\phi}, \bar{\phi} = \begin{bmatrix} \psi \\ \phi \end{bmatrix}, \quad (177)$$

where $\psi = (\psi_1, \psi_2)^T$ and $\phi = (\phi_1, \phi_2)^T$. Note that U is the same matrix as (83) with renamed variables $(p, q, r, s, v) \rightarrow (p_1, q_1, r_1, s_1, v_1)$.

Assume that the solution to the stationary zero curvature equation, $\bar{W}_x = [\bar{U}, \bar{W}]$, is of the form

$$\bar{W} = \begin{bmatrix} W & W_1 \\ 0 & W \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a & b & e & f \\ c & -a & g & -e \\ \hline 0 & 0 & a & b \\ 0 & 0 & c & -a \end{bmatrix} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda),$$
(178)

then we get the following matrix formulas:

$$\begin{cases} W_x = UW - WU, \\ W_{1,x} = U_1W - WU_1 + UW_1 - W_1U. \end{cases}$$
(179)

Solving these two formulas, we get the differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} a_{x} = -q_{1}b\lambda + p_{1}c\lambda - v_{1}b + s_{1}c, \\ b_{x} = -2p_{1}a\lambda + 2b\lambda^{2} - 2s_{1}a - 2r_{1}b, \\ c_{x} = 2q_{1}a\lambda - 2c\lambda^{2} + 2v_{1}a + 2r_{1}c, \\ e_{x} = p_{1}g\lambda + p_{2}c\lambda - q_{2}b\lambda - q_{1}f\lambda + s_{1}g + s_{2}c - v_{1}f - v_{2}b, \\ f_{x} = 2b\lambda^{2} + 2f\lambda^{2} - 2p_{1}e\lambda - 2p_{2}a\lambda - 2r_{1}f - 2r_{2}b - 2s_{1}e - 2s_{2}a, \\ g_{x} = -2c\lambda^{2} - 2g\lambda^{2} + 2q_{1}e\lambda + 2q_{2}a\lambda + 2r_{1}g + 2r_{2}c + 2v_{1}e + 2v_{2}a. \end{cases}$$
(180)

By assuming a, b, c, e, f, g, have the following Laurent series expansions:

$$a = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_i \lambda^{-i}, \qquad b = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_i \lambda^{-i}, \qquad c = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} c_i \lambda^{-i}, e = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} e_i \lambda^{-i}, \qquad f = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} f_i \lambda^{-i}, \qquad g = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} g_i \lambda^{-i},$$
(181)

and substituting (181) into (180), we have the recursion relations

$$\begin{cases} b_{i+1} &= \frac{b_{i-1,x}}{2} + p_1 a_i + s_1 a_{i-1} + r_1 b_{i-1}, \\ c_{i+1} &= -\frac{c_{i-1,x}}{2} + q_1 a_i + v_1 a_{i-1} + r_1 c_{i-1}, \\ a_{i+1,x} &= -q_1 \frac{b_{i,x}}{2} - p_1 \frac{c_{i,x}}{2} + (p_1 v_1 - q_1 s_1) a_i - q_1 r_1 b_i + p_1 r_1 c_i + s_1 c_{i+1} - v_1 b_{i+1}, \\ f_{i+1} &= \frac{f_{i-1,x}}{2} - b_{i+1} + p_2 a_i + p_1 e_i + s_2 a_{i-1} + s_1 e_{i-1} + r_2 b_{i-1} + r_1 f_{i-1}, \\ g_{i+1} &= -\frac{g_{i-1,x}}{2} - c_{i+1} + q_2 a_i + q_1 e_i + v_2 a_{i-1} + v_1 e_{i-1} + r_2 c_{i-1} + r_1 g_{i-1}, \\ e_{i+1,x} &= -\frac{g_{i,x}}{2} p_1 - \frac{f_{i,x}}{2} q_1 + (p_2 - p_1) [-\frac{c_{m,x}}{2} + v_1 a_m + r_1 c_m] \\ + (q_1 - q_2) [\frac{b_{m,x}}{2} + s_1 a_m + r_1 b_m] + s_1 g_{i+1} + s_2 c_{i+1} - v_1 f_{i+1} - v_2 b_{i+1} \\ + (p_1 v_2 - q_1 s_2) a_i + (p_1 v_1 - q_1 s_1) e_i + p_1 r_2 c_i - q_1 r_2 b_i \\ + p_1 r_1 g_i - q_1 r_1 f_i, \end{cases}$$

$$(182)$$

for all $i \ge 1$ with initial values

$$a_{0} = \alpha, \quad b_{0} = c_{0} = 0, \quad a_{1} = 0, \quad b_{1} = \alpha p_{1}, \qquad c_{1} = \alpha q_{1},$$

$$e_{0} = \beta, \quad f_{0} = g_{0} = 0, \quad e_{1} = 0, \quad f_{1} = (\beta - \alpha)p_{1} + p_{2}\alpha, \quad g_{1} = (\beta - \alpha)q_{1} + q_{2}\alpha,$$
(183)

and the conditions for integration

$$\begin{cases} a_i|_{u=0} = b_i|_{u=0} = c_i|_{u=0} = 0, \quad i \ge 1, \\ e_i|_{u=0} = f_i|_{u=0} = g_i|_{u=0} = 0, \quad i \ge 1, \end{cases}$$
(184)

which determine the sequence of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | i \ge 0\}$ uniquely. For i = 2, 3, 4, we have the

following:

$$\begin{split} b_2 &= \alpha s_1, \qquad c_2 = \alpha v_1, \qquad a_2 = -\alpha \frac{1}{2} p_1 q_1, \\ f_2 &= (\beta - \alpha) s_1 + \alpha s_2, \qquad c_2 = (\alpha q_1 + \frac{1}{2} \beta q_1 - \frac{1}{2} q_2) p_1 - \frac{1}{2} \alpha p_2 q_1, \qquad g_2 = (\beta - \alpha) v_1 + \alpha v_2; \\ b_3 &= \alpha \frac{1}{2} (-p_1^2 q_1 + 2 p_1 r_1 + p_{1,x}), \qquad c_3 = -\alpha \frac{1}{2} (q_1^2 p_1 - 2 q_1 r_1 + q_{1,x}), \\ a_3 &= -\alpha \frac{1}{2} (p_1 v_1 + q_{1s}), \\ f_3 &= \frac{1}{2} [(\beta - 2\alpha) p_{1,x} + \alpha p_{2,x} + ((\beta + 3\alpha) p_1^2 q_1 + (2\beta - 4\alpha) r_1 p_1 \\ &- \alpha (p_2 q_1 p_1 - 2 r_2 p_1 + q_2 p_1^2) + 2 \alpha p_2 r_1], \\ g_3 &= -\frac{1}{2} [(\beta - 2\alpha) q_{1,x} + \alpha q_{2,x} - (-\beta + 3\alpha) q_1^2 p_1 \alpha - (2\beta - 4\alpha) r_1 q_1 \\ &+ \alpha (q_2 p_1 q_1 - 2 r_2 q_1 + p_2 q_1^2) - 2 \alpha q_2 r_1], \\ e_3 &= (v_1 \alpha - \frac{1}{2} v_1 \beta - \frac{1}{2} v_2 \alpha) p_1 + (s_1 \alpha - \frac{1}{2} s_1 \beta - \frac{1}{2} s_2 \alpha) q_1 - \frac{1}{2} p_2 v_1 \alpha - \frac{1}{2} q_2 s_1 \alpha \\ b_4 &= \alpha \frac{1}{2} (-p_1^2 v_1 - 2 p_1 q_1 s_1 + 2 r_1 s_1 + s_1, x), \quad c_4 &= -\alpha \frac{1}{2} (q_1^2 s_1 + 2 q_1 p_1 v_1 - 2 r_1 v_1 + v_{1,x}), \\ a_4 &= -\alpha \frac{1}{8} (-3 q_1^2 p_1^2 + 8 q_1 p_1 r_1 + 4 v_1 s_1 + 2 q_1 p_{1,x} - 2 p_1 q_{1,x}), \\ f_4 &= \frac{1}{2} [(\beta - 2\alpha) s_{1,x} + \alpha s_{2,x} - \alpha p_1^2 v_2 + (-\beta + 3\alpha) v_1 p_1^2 + (((-2\beta + 6\alpha) q_1 - 2 \alpha q_2) s_1 \\ &- 2 \alpha (q_1 s_2 + p_2 v_1)) p_1 + (-2 \alpha p_2 q_1 + (-4\alpha + 2\beta) r_1 + 2 r_2 \alpha) s_1 + 2 \alpha r_1 s_2], \\ g_4 &= -\frac{1}{2} [(\beta - 2\alpha) v_{1,x} + \alpha v_{2,x} + \alpha q_1^2 s_2 - (-\beta + 3\alpha) s_1 q_1^2 - (((-2\beta + 6\alpha) p_1 - 2 \alpha p_2) v_1 \\ &- 2 \alpha (q_2 s_1 + p_1 v_2)) q_1 - (-2 \alpha q_2 p_1 + (-4\alpha + 2\beta) r_1 + 2 r_2 \alpha) v_1 - 2 \alpha r_1 v_2], \\ e_4 &= \frac{1}{8} [(-2\beta + 6\alpha) q_1 - 2 \alpha q_2) p_1 x + ((2\beta - 6\alpha) p_1 + 2 \alpha p_2) q_{1,x} + 2 \alpha (-q_1 p_{2,x} + p_1 q_{2,x}) \\ &+ 3 q_1 ((\beta - 4\alpha) q_1 + 2 \alpha q_2) p_1^2 + (6 \alpha p_2 q_1^2 + ((-8\beta + 24\alpha) r_1 - 8 \alpha r_2) q_1 \\ &- 8 \alpha q_2 r_1) p_1 - 8 \alpha q_1 p_2 r_1 + ((-4\beta + 8\alpha) v_1 - 4 \alpha v_2) s_1 - 4 \alpha s_2 v_1]. \end{split}$$

All $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | i \ge 0\}$ can be proven as differential polynomials of \bar{u} with respect to x.

PROPOSITION 4.1. Let $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | i = 0, 1\}$ be given by equations (183). Then all functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | i \ge 0\}$ determined by equation (182) with the conditions (184) are differential polynomials in \bar{u} with respect to x, and thus, are local.

Proof. We compute from the enlarged stationary zero curvature equation, $\bar{W}_x = [\bar{U}, \bar{W}]$,

$$\frac{d}{dx}\operatorname{tr}(\bar{W}^2) = 2\operatorname{tr}(\bar{W}\bar{W}_x) = 2\operatorname{tr}(\bar{W}[\bar{U},\bar{W}]) = 2(\operatorname{tr}(\bar{W}^2\bar{U}) - \operatorname{tr}(\bar{W}^2\bar{U})) = 0, \quad (185)$$

and seeing that the $tr(\bar{W}^2) = 4(a^2 + bc)$, we have

$$a^{2} + bc = (a^{2} + bc)|_{u=0} = \alpha^{2},$$
(186)

following from the initial data (183). Now, we use (181), the Laurent expansions of a, b, c, to give

$$a_{i} = \frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sum_{k+l=i,k,l \ge 1} a_{k}a_{l} - \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sum_{k+l=i,k,l \ge 0} b_{k}c_{l}, i \ge 1.$$
(187)

Based on the recursion relation above (187) and the previous (182), we use mathematical induction to see that all functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, i \ge 0\}$ are differential polynomials in u with respect to x, and therefore, are local. Now, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dx}(2ae + fc + gb) &= 2a_x e + 2ae_x + f_x c + fc_x + g_x b + gb_x \\ &= 2e(-q_1b\lambda + p_1c\lambda - v_1b + s_1c) + 2a(p_1g\lambda + p_2c\lambda \\ &- q_2b\lambda - q_1f\lambda + s_1g + s_2c - v_1f - v_2b) + c(2b\lambda^2 \\ &+ 2f\lambda^2 - 2p_1e\lambda - p_2a\lambda - 2r_1f - 2r_2b - 2s_1e - 2s_2a) \\ &+ f(2q_1a\lambda - 2c\lambda^2 + 2v_1a + 2r_1c) + b(-2c\lambda^2 - 2g\lambda^2 \\ &+ 2q_1e\lambda + q_2a\lambda + 2r_1g + 2r_2c + 2v_1e + 2v_2a) \\ &+ g(-2p_1a\lambda + 2b\lambda^2 - 2s_1a - 2r_1b) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we get

$$2ae + fc + gb = (2ae + fc + gb)|_{\overline{u}=0} = \alpha\beta.$$

Therefore, using the Laurent expansions of a, b, c, e, f, and g in (181), we have

$$e_{i} = \beta - \frac{\beta}{\alpha}a_{i} - \frac{1}{2\alpha}\sum_{k+l=i,k,l\geq 0}f_{k}c_{l} - \frac{1}{2\alpha}\sum_{k+l=i,k,l\geq 0}g_{k}b_{l} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\sum_{k+l=i,k,l\geq 1}a_{k}e_{l},$$
 (188)

for all $i \ge 1$. Using the localness of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 0\}$ and the recursive relations (182) and (188), we may see through mathematical induction that all functions $\{e_i, f_i, g_i | i \ge 0\}$ are differential polynomials in \bar{u} with respect to x. This completes the proof.

Now, we need to solve the zero curvature equations,

$$\bar{U}_{t_m} - \bar{V}_x^{[m]} + [\bar{U}, \bar{V}^{[m]}] = 0, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(189)
which are the compatibility conditions between (177) and the temporal problems,

$$\bar{\phi}_{t_m} = \bar{V}^{[m]} \bar{\phi} = \bar{V}^{[m]} (\bar{u}, \lambda) \bar{\phi}, \quad m \ge 0.$$
 (190)

In order to do this, we introduce a series of Lax operators,

$$\bar{V}^{[m]}(\bar{u},\lambda) = (\lambda^m \bar{W})_+. \tag{191}$$

Similar to the analysis in chapter two, we may show that we can take $\bar{\Delta}_m = 0$ from (169).

After solving (189), we generate a hierarchy of soliton equations, for all $m \ge 0$,

$$\bar{u}_{t_m} = \bar{K}_m = \begin{bmatrix} 2b_{m+1} \\ -2c_{m+1} \\ q_1b_{m+1} - p_1c_{m+1} \\ -2p_1a_{m+1} + 2b_{m+2} \\ 2q_1a_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} \\ 2f_{m+1} + 2b_{m+1} \\ -2g_{m+1} - 2c_{m+1} \\ q_1f_{m+1} + q_2b_{m+1} - p_1g_{m+1} - p_2c_{m+1} \\ -2p_1e_{m+1} - 2p_2a_{m+1} - 2b_{m+2} + 2f_{m+2} \\ 2q_1e_{m+1} + 2q_2a_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} - 2g_{m+2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(192)

We have

$$\bar{K}_m = \bar{\Phi}\bar{K}_{m-1} = \bar{\Phi}^m\bar{K}_0, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(193)

where $\bar{\Phi}$ is a recursion operator determined from (182) and given by

$$\bar{\Phi} = \begin{bmatrix} \Phi & 0\\ \Phi_1 - \Phi & \Phi \end{bmatrix}.$$
(194)

 Φ is the same as (102) with renamed variables $(p, q, r, s, v) \rightarrow (p_1, q_1, r_1, s_1, v_1)$ and

$$\Phi_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} [\Phi_{1}]_{11} & [\Phi_{1}]_{12} & [\Phi_{1}]_{13} & [\Phi_{1}]_{14} & [\Phi_{1}]_{15} \\ [\Phi_{1}]_{21} & [\Phi_{1}]_{22} & [\Phi_{1}]_{23} & [\Phi_{1}]_{24} & [\Phi_{1}]_{25} \\ [\Phi_{1}]_{31} & [\Phi_{1}]_{32} & [\Phi_{1}]_{33} & [\Phi_{1}]_{34} & [\Phi_{1}]_{35} \\ [\Phi_{1}]_{41} & [\Phi_{1}]_{42} & [\Phi_{1}]_{43} & [\Phi_{1}]_{44} & [\Phi_{1}]_{45} \\ [\Phi_{1}]_{51} & [\Phi_{1}]_{52} & [\Phi_{1}]_{53} & [\Phi_{1}]_{54} & [\Phi_{1}]_{55} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(195)$$

with

$$\begin{split} & [\Phi_{1}]_{11} = -p_{1}\partial^{-1}v_{2} - p_{2}\partial^{-1}v_{1} - s_{2}\partial^{-1}q_{1} - s_{1}\partial^{-1}q_{2}, \\ & [\Phi_{1}]_{12} = -p_{1}\partial^{-1}s_{2} - p_{2}\partial^{-1}s_{1} - s_{2}\partial^{-1}p_{1} - s_{1}\partial^{-1}p_{2}, \\ & [\Phi_{1}]_{13} = 2s_{2}\partial^{-1} + 2s_{1}\partial^{-1}, \\ & [\Phi_{1}]_{21} = q_{1}\partial^{-1}v_{2} + q_{2}\partial^{-1}v_{1} + v_{1}\partial^{-1}q_{2} + v_{2}\partial^{-1}q_{1}, \\ & [\Phi_{1}]_{22} = q_{1}\partial^{-1}s_{2} + q_{2}\partial^{-1}s_{1} + v_{1}\partial^{-1}p_{2} + v_{2}\partial^{-1}p_{1}, \\ & [\Phi_{1}]_{23} = -2v_{1}\partial^{-1} - 2v_{2}\partial^{-1}, \\ & [\Phi_{1}]_{24} = q_{1}\partial^{-1}q_{2} + q_{2}\partial^{-1}q_{1}, \\ & [\Phi_{1}]_{25} = 1 + q_{1}\partial^{-1}p_{2} + q_{2}\partial^{-1}p_{1}, \\ \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} & [\Phi_1]_{31} = \frac{(v_1 p_2 - q_2 s_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} q_1 + \frac{(p_1 v_2 - q_1 s_2)}{2} \partial^{-1} q_1 - \frac{(p_1 v_1 - q_1 s_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} q_1 \\ & + \frac{(p_1 v_1 - q_1 s_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} q_2, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{32} = \frac{(v_1 p_2 - q_2 s_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} p_1 + \frac{(p_1 v_2 - q_1 s_2)}{2} \partial^{-1} p_1 - \frac{(p_1 v_1 - q_1 s_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} p_1 \\ & + \frac{(p_1 v_1 - q_1 s_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} p_2, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{33} = -(p_1 v_2 - q_1 s_2) \partial^{-1} - (p_2 v_1 - q_2 s_1) \partial^{-1}, [\Phi_1]_{34} = \frac{q_2}{2}, [\Phi_1]_{35} = \frac{p_2}{2}, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{41} = r_2 - s_1 \partial^{-1} v_2 - s_2 \partial^{-1} v_1 - \partial \frac{(p_2 - p_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} q_1 - (r_1 p_2 + p_1 r_2) \partial^{-1} q_1 + p_1 r_1 \partial^{-1} q_1, \\ & - r_1 p_1 \partial^{-1} q_2 - \partial \frac{p_1}{2} \partial^{-1} q_2, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{42} = -s_1 \partial^{-1} s_2 - s_2 \partial^{-1} s_1 - \partial \frac{(p_2 - p_1)}{2} \partial^{-1} p_1 - (r_1 p_2 + p_1 r_2) \partial^{-1} p_1 + p_1 r_1 \partial^{-1} p_1, \\ & - r_1 q_1 \partial^{-1} p_2 - \partial \frac{p_1}{2} \partial^{-1} p_2, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{43} = \partial (p_2 - p_1) \partial^{-1} + 2(r_1 p_2 + p_1 r_2) \partial^{-1} + \partial p_1 \partial^{-1}, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{44} = -s_1 \partial^{-1} q_2 - s_2 \partial^{-1} q_1, [\Phi_1]_{45} = -s_1 \partial^{-1} p_2 - s_2 \partial^{-1} p_1, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{51} = v_1 \partial^{-1} v_2 + v_2 \partial^{-1} v_1 + \partial \frac{(q_1 - q_2)}{2} \partial^{-1} q_1 + (r_1 q_2 + q_1 r_2) \partial^{-1} q_1 - q_1 r_1 \partial^{-1} q_1, \\ & + r_1 q_1 \partial^{-1} q_2 - \partial \frac{q_1}{2} \partial^{-1} q_2, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{52} = r_2 + v_1 \partial^{-1} s_2 + v_2 \partial^{-1} s_1 + \partial \frac{(q_1 - q_2)}{2} \partial^{-1} p_1 + (r_1 q_2 + q_1 r_2) \partial^{-1} p_1 - q_1 r_1 \partial^{-1} p_1 \\ & + r_1 q_1 \partial^{-1} p_2 - \partial \frac{q_1}{2} \partial^{-1} p_2, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{53} = -\partial (q_1 - q_2) \partial^{-1} - 2(r_1 q_2 + q_1 r_2) \partial^{-1} + \partial q_1 \partial^{-1}, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{54} = v_1 \partial^{-1} q_2 + v_2 \partial^{-1} q_1, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{55} = v_1 \partial^{-1} q_2 + v_2 \partial^{-1} q_1, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{54} = v_1 \partial^{-1} q_2 + v_2 \partial^{-1} q_1, \\ & [\Phi_1]_{55} = v_1 \partial^{-1} p_2 + v_2 \partial^{-1} p_1, \\ & \\ \end{bmatrix}$$

with $\partial = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ and ∂^{-1} as the inverse operator of ∂ .

PROPOSITION 4.2. All $\{\bar{K}_m\}$, as defined by (192), are commuting symmetries, i.e.,

$$[\bar{K}_k, \bar{K}_l] = \bar{K}'_k(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_l] - \bar{K}'_l(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_k] = 0, \quad k, l \ge 0.$$
(196)

Proof. The Gateaux derivative of \overline{U} along any direction $\overline{S} = (S_1, S_2)^T$, where $S_i = (S_{1,i}, S_{2,i}, S_{3,i}, S_{4,i}, S_{5,i})$ for i = 1, 2, is

$$\bar{U}'[\bar{S}] = \begin{bmatrix} -S_{3,1} & \lambda S_{1,1} + S_{4,1} & -S_{3,2} & \lambda S_{1,2} + S_{4,2} \\ \lambda S_{2,1} + S_{5,1} & S_{3,1} & \lambda S_{2,2} + S_{5,2} & S_{3,2} \\ 0 & 0 & -S_{3,1} & \lambda S_{1,1} + S_{4,1} \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda S_{2,1} + S_{5,1} & S_{3,1} \end{bmatrix}$$

This shows $\bar{U}'[\bar{S}] = 0$ if and only if S = 0 and $\bar{U}'[\bar{S}]$ is injective. Thus for the enlarged system, we still have the following [43]- [45]:

$$\bar{U}'[[\bar{K}_m, \bar{K}_n]] - [[\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}]]_x + [\bar{U}, [[\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}]]] = 0,$$
(197)

where $[[\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}]]$ is defined by

$$[[\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}]] := \bar{V}^{[m]'}(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_n] - \bar{V}^{[n]'}(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_m] + [\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}], \quad m, n \ge 0.$$
(198)

The method of proof is similar to Chapter 2. We begin proving

$$[[\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}]]|_{\bar{u}=0} = 0.$$
(199)

By inspection, we see by (192) and (182) that

$$\bar{K}_m|_{\bar{u}=0} = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad m \ge 0,$$

and, therefore,

$$\bar{V}^{[m]'}(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_n] - \bar{V}^{[n]'}(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_m]|_{\bar{u}=0} = 0, \text{ for } m, n \ge 0.$$

We notice next that

$$\bar{V}^{[m]}|_{\bar{u}=0} = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha \lambda^m & 0 & \beta \lambda^m & 0 \\ 0 & -\alpha \lambda^m & 0 & -\beta \lambda^m \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha \lambda^m & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\alpha \lambda^m \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (200)

Thus, it is easy to see that

$$[\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}]|_{\bar{u}=0} = 0,$$

and (199) is proved. By the uniqueness property of the enlarged spectral problem [43], we have $[\bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{V}^{[n]}] = 0$. This leaves

$$\bar{U}'[[\bar{K}_m, \bar{K}_n]] = 0. (201)$$

 $\bar{U}'[\cdot]$ is injective so (201) implies

$$[\bar{K}_m, \bar{K}_n] = 0, \quad m, n \ge 0,$$
(202)

and the proposition is proved.

68

4.3 A specific reduction with two less potentials

A spectral matrix, \overline{U} , chosen from $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$, is of the form [76]:

$$\bar{U} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 - \tilde{r_1} & \lambda p_1 + s_1 & \lambda^2 - \tilde{r_2} & \lambda p_2 + s_2 \\ \lambda q_1 + v_1 & -\lambda^2 + \tilde{r_1} & \lambda q_2 + v_2 & -\lambda^2 + \tilde{r_2} \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda^2 - \tilde{r_1} & \lambda p_1 + s_1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda q_1 + v_1 & -\lambda^2 + \tilde{r_1} \end{bmatrix},$$
(203)

where $\tilde{r_1} = \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1, \tilde{r_2} = \frac{1}{2}(p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1), \{p_i, q_i, s_i, v_i, i = 1, 2\}$ are potentials, and $\bar{u} = (u, v)^T$, $u = (p_1, q_1, s_1, v_1)^T, v = (p_2, q_2, s_2, v_2)^T$. The corresponding spacial spectral problem is

$$\bar{\phi}_x = \bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda)\bar{\phi}, \quad \bar{\phi} = \begin{bmatrix} \psi \\ \phi \end{bmatrix},$$
(204)

where $\psi = (\psi_1, \psi_2)^T$ and $\phi = (\phi_1, \phi_2)^T$.

Again, we assume that the solution to the stationary zero curvature equation, $\bar{W}_x = [\bar{U}, \bar{W}]$, is of the form

$$\bar{W} = \begin{bmatrix} W & W_1 \\ 0 & W \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a & b & e & f \\ c & -a & g & -e \\ \hline 0 & 0 & a & b \\ 0 & 0 & c & -a \end{bmatrix} \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda).$$
(205)

Solving the stationary zero curvature equation (189), we have the following differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} a_x = -q_1b\lambda + p_1c\lambda - v_1b + s_1c, \\ b_x = -2p_1a\lambda + 2b\lambda^2 - 2s_1a - p_1q_1b, \\ c_x = 2q_1a\lambda - 2c\lambda^2 + 2v_1a + p_1q_1c, \\ e_x = p_1g\lambda + p_2c\lambda - q_2b\lambda - q_1f\lambda + s_1g + s_2c - v_1f - v_2b, \\ f_x = 2b\lambda^2 + 2f\lambda^2 - 2p_1e\lambda - 2p_2a\lambda - p_1q_1f - (p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1)b \\ -2s_1e - 2s_2a, \\ g_x = -2c\lambda^2 - 2g\lambda^2 + 2q_1e\lambda + 2q_2a\lambda + p_1q_1g + (p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1)c \\ +2v_1e + 2v_2a. \end{cases}$$
(206)

By assuming a, b, c, e, f, g, have the Laurent expansions (181), we have the recursion relations

$$\begin{cases} b_{i+1} = \frac{b_{i-1,x}}{2} + p_1a_i + s_1a_{i-1} + \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1b_{i-1}, \\ c_{i+1} = -\frac{c_{i-1,x}}{2} + q_1a_i + v_1a_{i-1} + \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1c_{i-1}, \\ a_{i+1,x} = -q_1\frac{b_{i,x}}{2} - p_1\frac{c_{i,x}}{2} + (p_1v_1 - q_1s_1)a_i - \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1^2b_i \\ + \frac{1}{2}p_1^2q_1c_i + s_1c_{i+1} - v_1b_{i+1}, \\ f_{i+1} = \frac{f_{i-1,x}}{2} - b_{i+1} + p_2a_i + p_1e_i + s_2a_{i-1} + s_1e_{i-1} \\ + \frac{1}{2}(p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1)b_{i-1} + \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1f_{i-1}, \\ g_{i+1} = -\frac{g_{i-1,x}}{2} - c_{i+1} + q_2a_i + q_1e_i + v_2a_{i-1} + v_1e_{i-1} \\ + \frac{1}{2}(p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1)c_{i-1} + \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1g_{i-1}, \\ e_{i+1,x} = -\frac{p_{1}g_{i,x}}{2} - \frac{q_1f_{i,x}}{2} + (p_2 - p_1)[-\frac{c_{m,x}}{2} + v_1a_m + \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1c_m] \\ + (q_1 - q_2))[\frac{b_{m,x}}{2} + s_1a_m + \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1b_m] \\ + s_1g_{i+1} + s_2c_{i+1} - v_1f_{i+1} - v_2b_{i+1} + (p_1v_2 - q_1s_2)a_i \\ + (p_1v_1 - q_1s_1)e_i + \frac{1}{2}p_1(p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1)c_i \\ - \frac{1}{2}q_1(p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1)b_i + \frac{1}{2}p_1^2q_1g_i - \frac{1}{2}p_1q_1^2f_i, \end{cases}$$

for all $i \ge 1$ with the same initial values (183) and conditions for integration (184) which determine the sequence of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | i \ge 0\}$ uniquely. All $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i\}$ can be proven as differential polynomials of \bar{u} with respect to x.

PROPOSITION 4.3. Let $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | i = 0, 1\}$ be given by equation (183). Then all functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | i \ge 0\}$ determined by equations (207) with the conditions (184) are differential polynomials in \bar{u} with respect to x, and thus, are local.

Proof. For brevity, we leave the proof out. It is similar to Proposition 4.1. \Box

We solve the zero curvature equations (189) with the Lax matrices (191) to generate a hierarchy of soliton equations for all $m \ge 0$,

$$\bar{u}_{t_m} = \bar{K}_m = \begin{bmatrix} 2b_{m+1} \\ -2c_{m+1} \\ -2p_1a_{m+1} + 2b_{m+2} \\ 2q_1a_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} \\ 2f_{m+1} + 2b_{m+1} \\ -2g_{m+1} - 2c_{m+1} \\ -2p_1e_{m+1} - 2p_2a_{m+1} + 2b_{m+2} + 2f_{m+2} \\ 2q_1e_{m+1} + 2q_2a_{m+1} - 2c_{m+2} - 2g_{m+2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(208)

We have

$$\bar{K}_m = \bar{\Phi}\bar{K}_{m-1} = \bar{\Phi}^m\bar{K}_0, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(209)

where $\bar{\Phi}$ is a recursion operator determined from (207) and given by

$$\bar{\Phi} = \begin{bmatrix} \Phi & 0\\ \Phi_1 - \Phi & \Phi \end{bmatrix}.$$
(210)

The matrix blocks of $\bar{\Phi}$ are defined by Φ from (137) with renamed variables $(p,q,r,s,v) \rightarrow 0$

 $(p_1, q_1, r_1, s_1, v_1)$ and

$$\Phi_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} -p_{1}\partial^{-1}v_{2} & -p_{1}\partial^{-1}s_{2} & 1-p_{1}\partial^{-1}q_{2} & -p_{1}\partial^{-1}p_{2} \\ -p_{2}\partial^{-1}v_{1} & -p_{2}\partial^{-1}s_{1} & -p_{2}\partial^{-1}q_{1} & -p_{2}\partial^{-1}p_{1} \\ q_{1}\partial^{-1}v_{2} & q_{1}\partial^{-1}s_{2} & q_{1}\partial^{-1}q_{2} & 1+q_{1}\partial^{-1}p_{2} \\ +q_{2}\partial^{-1}v_{1} & +q_{2}\partial^{-1}s_{1} & +q_{2}\partial^{-1}q_{1} & +q_{2}\partial^{-1}p_{1} \\ & & & & \\ \tilde{r}_{2} - s_{1}\partial^{-1}v_{2} & -s_{1}\partial^{-1}s_{2} & -s_{1}\partial^{-1}q_{2} & -s_{1}\partial^{-1}p_{2} \\ -s_{2}\partial^{-1}v_{1} & -s_{2}\partial^{-1}s_{1} & -s_{2}\partial^{-1}q_{1} & -s_{2}\partial^{-1}p_{1} \\ & & & \\ v_{1}\partial^{-1}v_{2} & \tilde{r}_{2} + v_{2}\partial^{-1}s_{1} & v_{1}\partial^{-1}q_{2} & v_{1}\partial^{-1}p_{2} \\ +v_{2}\partial^{-1}v_{1} & +v_{1}\partial^{-1}s_{2} & +v_{2}\partial^{-1}q_{1} & +v_{2}\partial^{-1}p_{1} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(211)$$

where $\widetilde{r}_2 = \frac{1}{2}(p_1q_2 + p_2q_1 - p_1q_1).$

A specific example can be found from the reduced hierarchy of integrable couplings (208) when m = 6 by setting the eight potentials and α and β to be the following: $\{p_1 = q_1 = 0, s_1 = u, v_1 = -u, p_2 = q_2 = v, s_2 = w, v_2 = r, \alpha = -4, \beta = -8\}$. We find a coupled mKdV [34,35] system of equations:

$$u_{t} = -u_{xxx} - 6u^{2}u_{x},$$

$$v_{t} = -v_{xxx} - 4uvu_{x} - 2u^{2}v_{x} + (4r - 4w)u^{2},$$

$$w_{t} = -w_{xxx} + u_{xxx} + (6u^{2} + (4v - 4w)u)u_{x} - 4u^{2}v_{x} - 2u^{2}w_{x},$$

$$r_{t} = -r_{xxx} - u_{xxx} + (-6u^{2} + (-4r + 4v)u)u_{x} - 2u^{2}r_{x} - 2u^{2}v_{x}.$$
(212)

4.3.1 Constructing bilinear forms over a non-semisimple Lie algebra

There is a systematic approach for generating Hamiltonian structures for the integrable couplings in (192) and (208) using the variational identity over the enlarged matrix loop algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$ [64,68,69]. As seen in [64], there is a convenient method to constructing non-degenerate, symmetric, and adinvariant bilinear forms on $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$ by rewriting $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$ into a vector form. The following four steps have been suggested in [64] to produce the required bilinear forms on $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$:

(1) Construct an isomorphism between the loop algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$ and a vector Lie algebra;

(2) Derive the commutator on the vector Lie algebra;

(3) Compute the required non-degenerate, symmetric, and ad-invariant bilinear forms on the vector Lie algebra;

(4) Establish the corresponding bilinear forms on the original Lie algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$.

The isomorphism

$$\sigma : \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda) \to \mathbb{R}^6, A \mapsto (a_1, ..., a_6)^T,$$
(213)

where

$$A = M(A_1, A_2) \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda), \quad A_i = \begin{bmatrix} a_{3i-2} & a_{3i-1} \\ a_{3i} & -a_{3i-2} \end{bmatrix}, i = 1, 2,$$
(214)

and a constant symmetric matrix,

$$F = \begin{bmatrix} 2\eta_1 & 0 & 0 & 2\eta_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \eta_1 & 0 & 0 & \eta_2 \\ 0 & \eta_1 & 0 & 0 & \eta_2 & 0 \\ 2\eta_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \eta_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \eta_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
 (215)

with arbitrary constants η_1 and η_2 furnish the bilinear forms on $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$ defined as

$$\langle A, B \rangle_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)} = \langle \sigma(A), \sigma(B) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^6} = (a_1, ..., a_6) F(b_1, ..., b_6)^T = (2a_1b_1 + a_2b_3 + a_3b_2)\eta_1 + (2a_1b_4 + a_2b_6 + a_3b_5 + 2a_4b_1 + a_5b_3 + a_6b_2)\eta_2.$$

$$(216)$$

The bilinear forms (216) are symmetric and ad-invariant due to the isomorphism σ . The bilinear forms, defined by (216), are non-degenerate iff the determinant of F is not zero, i.e.,

$$det(F) = -4\eta_2^6 \neq 0.$$
(217)

Therefore, we choose $\eta_2 \neq 0$ to obtain the required non-degenerate, symmetric, and ad-invariant bilinear forms over the enlarged matrix loop algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)$. For simplicity, we choose $\eta_1 = 0$ and $\eta_2 = 1$.

4.3.2 Hamiltonian structures of generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings

Now, we begin with the enlarged spectral matrix of the generalized D-Kaup-Newell hierarchy (177) and compute

$$\langle \bar{W}, \bar{U}_{\lambda} \rangle_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)} = (4a+4e)\lambda + fq_1 + bq_2 + cp_2 + gp_1 \tag{218}$$

and

$$\langle \bar{W}, \bar{U}_{\bar{u}} \rangle_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)} = [g\lambda, f\lambda, -2e, g, f, c\lambda, b\lambda, -2a, c, b]^T.$$
(219)

Substituting the Laurent series and comparing powers of λ , and considering the case where m = 1 to see $\gamma = 0$, we have

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta \bar{u}} \int \frac{(4a_{m+2} + 4e_{m+2}) + f_{m+1}q_1 + b_{m+1}q_2 + c_{m+1}p_2 + g_{m+1}p_1}{m} dx =$$

$$[g_{m+1}, f_{m+1}, -2e_m, g_m, f_m, c_{m+1}, b_{m+1}, -2a_m, c_m, b_m]^T, \ m \ge 1.$$
(220)

Before we show the Hamiltonian structure for the soliton hierarchy (192), we must prove the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 4.4. The operator \overline{J} is a Hamiltonian operator defined by

$$\bar{J} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & J_1 \\ J_1 & J_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(221)

where

$$J_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}\partial & s_{1} & -v_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & -s_{1} & 0 & \partial + 2r_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & v_{1} & \partial - 2r_{1} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad J_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & s_{2} & -v_{2} \\ 0 & 0 & -s_{2} & 0 & 2r_{2} \\ 0 & 0 & v_{2} & -2r_{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(222)

Proof. We can easily see by inspection that $\bar{J}^{\dagger} = -\bar{J}$, where \bar{J}^{\dagger} is the adjoint of \bar{J} , and \bar{J} is skewadjoint. Note, we have proven that J_1 is a Hamiltonian operator in Chapter 2. We will use this fact to prove that \bar{J} satisfies the Jacobi condition

$$\langle \bar{Z}, \bar{J}'(\bar{u})[\bar{J}\bar{X}]\bar{Y} \rangle + \operatorname{cycle}(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{\partial},$$
(223)

for all vector fields \bar{X}, \bar{Y} , and \bar{Z} , where $\bar{J}'(\bar{u})[\bar{X}]$ denotes the Gateaux derivative of \bar{J} with respect

to \bar{u} in the direction of \bar{X} and $<\cdot,\cdot>$ denotes the standard inner product. Assume

$$\bar{X} = (X_1, X_2)^T, \quad \bar{Y} = (Y_1, Y_2)^T, \quad \bar{Z} = (Z_1, Z_2)^T, \quad \bar{W} = (W_1, W_2)^T,$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} X_i &= (X_{1,i}, X_{2,i}, X_{3,i}, X_{4,i}, X_{5,i}), \quad Y_i &= (Y_{1,i}, Y_{2,i}, Y_{3,i}, Y_{4,i}, Y_{5,i}), \\ Z_i &= (Z_{1,i}, Z_{2,i}, Z_{3,i}, Z_{4,i}, Z_{5,i}), \quad W_i &= (W_{1,i}, W_{2,i}, W_{3,i}, W_{4,i}, W_{5,i}), \quad i = 1, 2, \end{aligned}$$

are ten-dimensional vector functions. By (221), we immediately have

$$\bar{J}\bar{X} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & J_1 \\ J_1 & J_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} X_1 \\ X_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} J_1X_2 \\ J_1X_1 + J_2X_2 \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} W_1 \\ W_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Using the definition of the Gateaux derivative, we compute $\bar{J}'[\bar{W}]$ and, then, $\bar{J}'[\bar{W}]\bar{Y}$ as:

$$\bar{J}'[\bar{W}] = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & J_1'[\bar{W}] \\ J_1'[\bar{W}] & J_2'[\bar{W}] \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & J_1'[W_1] \\ J_1'[W_1] & J_2'[W_2] \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$\bar{J}'[\bar{W}]\bar{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & J_1'[W_1] \\ J_1'[W_1] & J_2'[W_2] \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} Y_1 \\ Y_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} J_1'[W_1]Y_2 \\ J_1'[W_1]Y_1 + J_2'[W_2]Y_2 \end{bmatrix},$$

Now, we see that

$$< \bar{Z}, \bar{J}'[\bar{W}]\bar{Y} > = < \begin{bmatrix} Z_1 \\ Z_2 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} J_1'[W_1]Y_2 \\ J_1'[W_1]Y_1 + J_2'[W_2]Y_2 \end{bmatrix} >$$
$$= < Z_1, J_1'[W_1]Y_2 > + < Z_2, J_1'[W_1]Y_1 + J_2'[W_2]Y_2 >$$
$$= < Z_1, J_1'[W_1]Y_2 > + < Z_2, J_1'[W_1]Y_1 > + < Z_2, J_2'[W_2]Y_2 > .$$

Now, we may substitute $W_1 = J_1 X_2$ and use the fact that J_1 is a Hamiltonian operator to see that

$$< Z_1, J'_1[J_1X_2]Y_2 > + \operatorname{cycle}(X_2, Y_2, Z_1) \equiv 0 \pmod{\partial},$$

and

$$< Z_2, J_1'[J_1X_2]Y_1 > + \operatorname{cycle}(X_2, Y_1, Z_2) \equiv 0 \pmod{\partial}.$$

Therefore, we only have to show that

$$\langle Z_2, J'_2[W_2]Y_2 \rangle + \operatorname{cycle}(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{\partial}.$$
(224)

Let's begin with computing $J_2'[W_2]$ and $J_2'[W_2]Y_2$. First,

and

$$J_{2}'[W_{2}]Y_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ W_{4,2}Y_{4,2} - W_{5,2}Y_{5,2}\\ -W_{4,2}Y_{3,2} + 2W_{3,2}Y_{5,2}\\ W_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - 2W_{3,2}Y_{4,2} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Now, we see that

$$\langle Z_2, J_2'[W_2]Y_2 \rangle = 2W_{3,2}(Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - Z_{5,2}Y_{4,2}) + W_{4,2}(Z_{3,2}Y_{4,2} - Z_{4,2}Y_{3,2}) + W_{5,2}(Z_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - Z_{3,2}Y_{5,2}).$$

$$(225)$$

Recall,

$$\bar{W} = \begin{bmatrix} W_1 \\ W_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} J_1 X_2 \\ J_1 X_1 + J_2 X_2 \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$W_{2} = J_{1}X_{1} + J_{2}X_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 2X_{2,1} + 2X_{2,2} \\ -2X_{1,1} - 2X_{1,2} \\ \frac{1}{2}X_{3,1,x} + s_{1}X_{4,1} - v_{1}X_{5,1} + s_{2}X_{4,2} - v_{2}X_{5,2} \\ -s_{1}X_{3,1} + X_{5,1,x} + 2r_{1}X_{5,1} - s_{2}X_{3,2} + 2r_{2}X_{5,2} \\ v_{1}X_{3,1} + X_{4,1,x} - 2r_{1}X_{4,1} + v_{2}X_{3,2} - 2r_{2}X_{4,2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(226)

Therefore, we see from (225) and (226) that

$$< Z_{2}, J_{2}'[W_{2}]Y_{2} >= 2(\frac{1}{2}X_{3,1,x} + s_{1}X_{4,1} - v_{1}X_{5,1} + s_{2}X_{4,2} - v_{2}X_{5,2})(Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - Z_{5,2}Y_{4,2}) + (-s_{1}X_{3,1} + X_{5,1,x} + 2r_{1}X_{5,1} - s_{2}X_{3,2} + 2r_{2}X_{5,2})(Z_{3,2}Y_{4,2} - Z_{4,2}Y_{3,2}) + (v_{1}X_{3,1} + X_{4,1,x} - 2r_{1}X_{4,1} + v_{2}X_{3,2} - 2r_{2}X_{4,2})(Z_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - Z_{3,2}Y_{5,2}) = [(X_{3,1,x})(Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - Z_{5,2}Y_{4,2}) + (X_{4,1,x})(Z_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - Z_{3,2}Y_{5,2}) + (X_{5,1,x})(Z_{3,2}Y_{4,2} - Z_{4,2}Y_{3,2})] + [(s_{1}X_{4,1} - v_{1}X_{5,1} + s_{2}X_{4,2} - v_{2}X_{5,2})(Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - Z_{5,2}Y_{4,2}) + (-s_{1}X_{3,1} + 2r_{1}X_{5,1} - s_{2}X_{3,2} + 2r_{2}X_{5,2})(Z_{3,2}Y_{4,2} - Z_{4,2}Y_{3,2}) + (v_{1}X_{3,1} - 2r_{1}X_{4,1} + v_{2}X_{3,2} - 2r_{2}X_{4,2})(Z_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - Z_{3,2}Y_{5,2})].$$

We may make the following decomposition:

$$\langle Z_2, J'_2[W_2]Y_2 \rangle = R(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) + S(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}),$$
(227)

where

$$\begin{split} R(\bar{X},\bar{Y},\bar{Z}) &= (X_{3,1,x})(Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - Z_{5,2}Y_{4,2}) + (X_{4,1,x})(Z_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - Z_{3,2}Y_{5,2}) \\ &+ (X_{5,1,x})(Z_{3,2}Y_{4,2} - Z_{4,2}Y_{3,2}), \\ S(\bar{X},\bar{Y},\bar{Z}) &= (s_1X_{4,1} - v_1X_{5,1} + s_2X_{4,2} - v_2X_{5,2})(Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - Z_{5,2}Y_{4,2}) \\ &+ (-s_1X_{3,1} + 2r_1X_{5,1} - s_2X_{3,2} + 2r_2X_{5,2})(Z_{3,2}Y_{4,2} - Z_{4,2}Y_{3,2}) \\ &+ (v_1X_{3,1} - 2r_1X_{4,1} + v_2X_{3,2} - 2r_2X_{4,2})(Z_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - Z_{3,2}Y_{5,2}). \end{split}$$

For the functions R and S, we may make the following computation:

$$\begin{aligned} R(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) + \operatorname{cycle}(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) \\ &= R(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) + \operatorname{cycle}(X_1, Y_2, Z_2) \\ &= \partial \{X_{3,1}Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - X_{3,1}Y_{4,2}Z_{5,2}\} + \operatorname{cycle}(X_1, Y_2, Z_2), \\ S(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) + \operatorname{cycle}(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) \\ &= S(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) + \operatorname{cycle}(X_1, Y_2, Z_2) + \operatorname{cycle}(X_2, Y_2, Z_2) \\ &= \partial \{\partial^{-1}[(s_1X_{4,1} - v_1X_{5,1} + s_2X_{4,2} - v_2X_{5,2})(Z_{4,2}Y_{5,2} - Z_{5,2}Y_{4,2}) \\ &+ (-s_1X_{3,1} + 2r_1X_{5,1} - s_2X_{3,2} + 2r_2X_{5,2})(Z_{3,2}Y_{4,2} - Z_{4,2}Y_{3,2}) \\ &+ (v_1X_{3,1} - 2r_1X_{4,1} + v_2X_{3,2} - 2r_2X_{4,2})(Z_{5,2}Y_{3,2} - Z_{3,2}Y_{5,2})]\} \\ &+ \operatorname{cycle}(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, they are both total derivatives. Using (228), we see that \overline{J} satisfies the Jacobi identity,

$$\langle \bar{Z}, \bar{J}'(\bar{u}) | \bar{J}\bar{X} | \bar{Y} \rangle + \operatorname{cycle}(\bar{X}, \bar{Y}, \bar{Z}) \equiv 0 \pmod{\partial},$$

and \bar{J} is a Hamiltonian operator.

A long calculation involving the recursion relations (182) shows that

$$\frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{m+1}}{\delta\bar{u}} = \begin{bmatrix} g_{m+2} \\ f_{m+2} \\ -2e_{m+1} \\ g_{m+1} \\ g_{m+1} \\ f_{m+1} \\ c_{m+2} \\ b_{m+2} \\ -2a_{m+1} \\ c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \end{bmatrix} = \bar{\Psi} \begin{bmatrix} g_{m+1} \\ f_{m+1} \\ -2e_{m} \\ g_{m} \\ f_{m} \\ c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \\ -2a_{m} \\ c_{m} \\ b_{m} \end{bmatrix} = \bar{\Psi} \frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{m}}{\delta\bar{u}},$$
(229)

where

$$\bar{\Psi} = \bar{\Phi}^{\dagger} = \begin{bmatrix} \Phi^{\dagger} & (\Phi_1 - \Phi)^{\dagger} \\ 0 & \Phi^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (230)$$

with Φ and Φ_1 from (102) and (195), respectively.

We consequently obtain Hamiltonian structures for the hierarchy of integrable couplings (192) [76], i.e.,

$$\bar{u}_{t_m} = \bar{J} \frac{\delta \bar{\mathcal{H}}_m}{\delta \bar{u}}, \quad m \ge 0, \tag{231}$$

with the Hamiltonian functionals

$$\bar{\mathcal{H}}_m = \int \frac{(4a_{m+2} + 4e_{m+2}) + f_{m+1}q_1 + b_{m+1}q_2 + c_{m+1}p_2 + g_{m+1}p_1}{m} dx, \qquad (232)$$

for $m \ge 1$, and

$$\bar{\mathcal{H}}_0 = \int [(\beta - \alpha)p_1q_1 + \alpha(p_1q_2 + p_2q_1) - 2\beta r_1 - 2\alpha r_2]dx$$
(233)

calculated directly from $[g_1, f_1, -2e_0, g_0, f_0, c_1, b_1, -2a_0, c_0, b_0]^T$. The Hamiltonian operator in (231) is of the form:

As a direct result of the Hamiltonian structures (231), the recursion structure (193) and (229), and the property $\bar{J}\bar{\Psi} = \bar{\Psi}^{\dagger}\bar{J}$, the hierarchy (192) has the following commutativity of flows:

$$\{\bar{\mathcal{H}}_k, \bar{\mathcal{H}}_l\}_{\bar{J}} = \int \left(\frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_k}{\delta\bar{u}}\right)^T \bar{J} \frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_l}{\delta\bar{u}} dx = 0,$$
(235)

and the commutativity of symmetries for $\{\bar{K}_n\}$, i.e.,

$$[\bar{K}_k, \bar{K}_l] = \bar{K}'_k(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_l] - \bar{K}'_l(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_k] = 0, \quad k, l \ge 0.$$
(236)

Therefore, the hierarchy (192) is Liouville integrable, as expected.

4.3.3 Bi-Hamiltonian structures of the reduced integrable couplings

Next, we focus on the reduced spectral matrix (204) and compute

$$\langle \bar{W}, \bar{U}_{\lambda} \rangle_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)} = (4a+4e)\lambda + fq_1 + bq_2 + cp_2 + gp_1, \qquad (237)$$

and

$$\langle \bar{W}, \bar{U}_{\bar{u}} \rangle_{\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}(\lambda)} = [(a-e)q_1 - aq_2 + g\lambda, (a-e)p_1 - ap_2 + f\lambda, g, f, -aq_1 + c\lambda, -ap_1 + b\lambda, c, b]^T.$$
(238)

Again, we compare powers of λ after substituting the Laurent series for a,b,c,e,f,g to get

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta \bar{u}} \int \frac{(4a_{m+2} + 4e_{m+2}) + f_{m+1}q_1 + b_{m+1}q_2 + c_{m+1}p_2 + g_{m+1}p_1}{m} dx = [(a_m - e_m)q_1 - a_mq_2 + g_{m+1}, (a_m - e_m)p_1 - a_mp_2 + f_{m+1}, g_m, f_m, (239) -a_mq_1 + c_{m+1}, -a_mp_1 + b_{m+1}, c_m, b_m]^T, m \ge 1.$$

Now using the recursion relations (207), we have $\frac{\delta \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{m+1}}{\delta \bar{u}} = \bar{\Psi} \frac{\delta \bar{\mathcal{H}}_m}{\delta \bar{u}}$, i.e.,

$$\begin{bmatrix} (a_{m+1} - e_{m+1})q_1 - a_{m+1}q_2 + g_{m+2} \\ (a_{m+1} - e_{m+1})p_1 - a_{m+1}p_2 + f_{m+2} \\ g_{m+1} \\ f_{m+1} \\ -a_{m+1}q_1 + c_{m+2} \\ -a_{m+1}p_1 + b_{m+2} \\ c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} \end{bmatrix} = \bar{\Psi} \begin{bmatrix} (a_m - e_m)q_1 - a_mq_2 + g_{m+1} \\ (a_m - e_m)p_1 - a_mp_2 + f_m \\ g_m \\ -a_mq_1 + c_{m+1} \\ -a_mq_1 + c_{m+1} \\ -a_mp_1 + b_{m+1} \\ b_m \end{bmatrix}, \quad (240)$$

where

$$\bar{\Psi} = \bar{\Phi}^{\dagger} = \begin{bmatrix} \Phi^{\dagger} & (\Phi_1 - \Phi)^{\dagger} \\ 0 & \Phi^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (241)$$

with Φ and Φ_1 from (137) and (211), respectively.

We finally obtain the bi-Hamiltonian structure for the hierarchy of integrable couplings (208),

$$\bar{u}_{t_m} = \bar{J} \frac{\delta \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{m+1}}{\delta \bar{u}} = \bar{M} \frac{\delta \bar{\mathcal{H}}_m}{\delta \bar{u}}, \ m \ge 0,$$
(242)

with the Hamiltonian functionals

$$\bar{\mathcal{H}}_m = \int \frac{(4a_{m+2} + 4e_{m+2}) + f_{m+1}q_1 + b_{m+1}q_2 + c_{m+1}p_2 + g_{m+1}p_1}{m} dx, \qquad (243)$$

for $m \ge 1$, and the Hamiltonian operators,

$$\bar{J} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -2 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(244)

and $\overline{M} = \overline{\Phi}\overline{J}$ where \overline{J} is above (244) and $\overline{\Phi}$ is the recursion operator (210) for the reduced integrable couplings (208). Recall, a bi-Hamiltonian property means that \overline{J} and \overline{M} constitute a Hamiltonian pair, or, $\overline{N} = \alpha \overline{J} + \beta \overline{M}$, for any $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, is a Hamiltonian operator. As a direct result of the bi-Hamiltonian structure (242), we can say that the soliton hierarchy (208) is integrable in the Liouville sense:

$$\begin{cases} \{\bar{\mathcal{H}}_k, \bar{\mathcal{H}}_l\}_{\bar{J}} = \int \left(\frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_k}{\delta\bar{u}}\right)^T \bar{J} \frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_l}{\delta\bar{u}} dx = 0, \\ \{\bar{\mathcal{H}}_k, \bar{\mathcal{H}}_l\}_{\bar{M}} = \int \left(\frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_k}{\delta\bar{u}}\right)^T \bar{M} \frac{\delta\bar{\mathcal{H}}_l}{\delta\bar{u}} dx = 0, \end{cases}$$
(245)

and

$$[\bar{K}_k, \bar{K}_l] = \bar{K}'_k(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_l] - \bar{K}'_l(\bar{u})[\bar{K}_k] = 0, \quad k, l \ge 0.$$
(246)

4.4 Summary

We enlarged the original generalization of a D-Kaup-Newell spectral problem from chapter two and generated its integrable couplings by solving the corresponding enlarged zero curvature equations. We then enlarged the previous chapters reduced spectral matrix and found its integrable couplings. Using the variational identity, the Hamiltonian structures for both a generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings and the reduced couplings were constructed. The reduced hierarchy of integrable couplings was found to have bi-Hamiltonian structures. Both hierarchies were shown to be Liouville integrable and possess infinitely many commuting symmetries and conserved densities.

5 Darboux Transformations

5.1 Introduction

A Darboux transformation is a powerful tool to generate new solutions from known solutions [26], [79]- [87]. Since the middle of the 1960's, Darboux transformations have been implemented in soliton theory [26], [79]- [82]. These transformations have mostly been used on integrable systems associated with semisimple matrix Lie algebras. Recently, the question of how to construct a Darboux transformation for integrable couplings associated with non-semisimple Lie algebras was addressed [86]. Darboux transformations were formulated for integrable couplings of an AKNS type, where the spacial spectral matrix is a degree one polynomial. In this chapter, we construct Darboux transformations for integrable couplings where the spectral matrix is any polynomial in λ .

We begin this chapter with a brief historical background of a Darboux transformation. Then the theory of Darboux transformations for integrable systems is reviewed. Built off of this theory, we develop the Darboux transformations for integrable couplings where the integrable system in the previous section is a subsystem. The chapter is finished with an application to a generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable coupling system. An explicit solution set to the *m*-th order coupling system is constructed and presented.

5.2 Background

The original result, in 1882 by G. Darboux [88], was related to the theory of the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation,

$$-\phi_{xx} - u(x)\phi = \lambda\phi,\tag{247}$$

where u(x), the potential, is given and λ is the spectral parameter. The discovery of Darboux can be summarized in the following theorem.

THEOREM 5.1. [88] If u(x) and $\phi(x, \lambda)$ are two functions satisfying (247) and $f(x) = \phi(x, \lambda_0)$ is a solution of (247) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$, where λ_0 is a fixed constant, then the functions u' and ϕ' defined by

$$u' = u + 2(\ln f)_{xx}, \quad \phi'(x,\lambda) = \phi_x(x,\lambda) - \frac{f_x}{f}\phi(x,\lambda), \tag{248}$$

satisfy

$$-\phi'_{xx} - u'\phi' = \lambda\phi',\tag{249}$$

which is of the same form as (247).

The transformation

$$(u,\phi) \to (u',\phi') \tag{250}$$

is the original Darboux transformation, which is valid for $f \neq 0$.

The result of Theorem 5.1 was applied to soliton theory in the middle of the 1960's when the KdV equation was found to be closely related to the Schrödinger equation [35].

EXAMPLE 5.1. [26] Recall, the KdV equation (3) with $\alpha = 1, \beta = 6$, is

$$u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0. (251)$$

We have seen that the KdV equation is the integrability condition (compatibility condition) of the

system of linear equations

$$\begin{cases} -\phi(x,t)_{xx} - u\phi(x,t) = \lambda\phi(x,t), \\ \phi(x,t)_t = -4\phi(x,t)_{xxx} - 6u\phi(x,t)_x - 3u_x\phi(x,t) \end{cases}$$
(252)

which is called the Lax pair of the KdV equation. By integrability condition, we mean (251) is the necessary and sufficient for $(\phi_{xx})_t = (\phi_t)_{xx}$ being true for all λ .

Recognizing the first equation in (252) is just the Schrödinger equation (247), the Darboux transformation in Theorem 5.1 can be applied to the KdV equation. The transformation $(u, \phi) \rightarrow$ (u', ϕ') is invariant on the Lax pair of the KdV, i.e.,

$$\begin{cases} -\phi'(x,t)_{xx} - u'\phi'(x,t) = \lambda\phi'(x,t), \\ \phi'(x,t)_t = -4\phi'(x,t)_{xxx} - 6u'\phi'(x,t)_x - 3u'_x\phi'(x,t). \end{cases}$$
(253)

Therefore, u' is a solution to the KdV equation.

If u is a known solution to the KdV equation (251), the problem of finding another solution simplifies to finding a solution ϕ to the linear system (252). Once ϕ is found, take $\lambda = \lambda_0$ and let $f(x,t) = \phi(x,t,\lambda_0)$. Then $u' = u + 2(\ln f)_{xx}$ is a new solution to the KdV equation and ϕ' given by Theorem 5.1 is a solution of the Lax pair of the KdV equation corresponding to u'. This process may be repeated successively. Notice, given a solution u, we only need to solve a linear system ϕ . After that, each new solution in the chain

$$(u,\phi) \to (u',\phi') \to (u'',\phi'') \to \dots$$
(254)

is given algebraically by Theorem 5.1.

In the 1880's, Bäcklund transformations were developed for use in theories of differential equa-

tions and differential geometry. Later, there was found to be a close relationship between the inverse scattering transform (IST) mentioned in chapter one and a Bäcklund transformation, namely, every evolution equation solvable by IST has a corresponding Bäcklund transformation [10]. Let's define a Bäcklund transformation.

DEFINITION 5.1. [10] Suppose that we have two uncoupled partial differential equations, in two independent variables x and t, for two functions u and v; the two equations are expressed as

$$P(u) = 0, \quad and \quad Q(v) = 0,$$
 (255)

where P and Q are two operators, which are in general nonlinear. Let $R_i = 0$ be a pair of relations

$$R_i(u, v, u_x, v_x, u_t, v_t, ...; x, t) = 0, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
(256)

between the two functions u and v. Then $R_i = 0$ is a Bäcklund transformation if it is integrable for v when P(u) = 0 and if the resulting v is a solution of Q(v) = 0, and vice versa. If P = Q, so that u and v satisfy the same equation, then $R_i = 0$ is called an auto-Bäcklund transformation.

EXAMPLE 5.2. [10] There is a transformation from the KdV to the mKdV (111) [34] known as the Miura transformation [35]. If we have the KdV from (251) and the mKdV as

$$v_t - 6v^2 v_x + v_{xxx} = 0, (257)$$

then the Miura transformation is

$$u = v^2 + v_x. aga{258}$$

It is known that if v solves the (257), then u from (258) solves the KdV (1). We may eliminate higher derivatives from the mKdV and regard the Miura transformation (258) and the mKdV (257) as a Bäcklund transformation of the KdV (1). Similar to the example of a Darboux transformation on the Lax pair of the KdV equation, there is a theory of Darboux transformations for integrable systems. We will see that these transformations generate Bäcklund transformations for solutions of certain integrable systems.

5.3 Darboux transformations of integrable systems

Let

$$u_t = K(u, u_x, u_{xx}, ...) \tag{259}$$

be an integrable system of partial differential equations where u is a function or a vector valued function. Suppose (259) is equivalent to the zero curvature equation

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0, (260)$$

where two square matrices U and V, a Lax pair of (259), belong to a matrix loop algebra [20,59,60]. As stated before, the zero curvature equation is the compatibility condition of the spectral problems

$$\phi_x = U\phi = U(u,\lambda)\phi, \quad \phi_t = V\phi = V(u,\lambda)\phi, \tag{261}$$

where λ is the spectral parameter and ϕ is the vector eigenfunction. One way to find explicit solutions to the integrable system (259) is through Darboux transformations on the spectral problems (261).

We begin with a definition of a Darboux transformation for spectral problems (261).

DEFINITION 5.2. A Darboux transformation of the spectral problems (261) is a transformation $\phi' = D\phi$, with a square matrix $D = D(u, \lambda)$, where ϕ' and u' satisfy spectral problems of the same form as (261), i.e.,

$$\phi'_x = U'\phi' = U'(u',\lambda)\phi', \quad \phi'_t = V'\phi' = V(u',\lambda)\phi', \tag{262}$$

and U' and V' are of the same form as U and V, respectively. The matrix D is called the Darboux matrix of the spectral problem (261).

For this section, we will be discussing spectral problems of this form:

$$\phi_x = U\phi = U(u,\lambda)\phi = \sum_{j=0}^n U_j \lambda^{n-j}\phi, \quad \phi_t = V^{[m]}\phi = V^{[m]}(u,\lambda)\phi = \sum_{j=0}^m V\lambda^{m-j}\phi.$$
 (263)

Note, the spacial spectral matrix is a polynomial in λ of any order n. Any constant matrix K, independent of λ , is a Darboux matrix of degree 0. This case is considered trivial and not for the purposes of our discussion.

Assume that U and V are $N \times N$ matrices. Let a Darboux matrix, linear and of the first order in λ , be

$$D(\lambda) = \lambda I + S,\tag{264}$$

where I is an $N \times N$ identity matrix and S is an $N \times N$ matrix independent of λ . We may derive differential equations of S. Let's substitute D from (264) and $\phi' = D\phi$ into the first equation in (263). Then

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} U'_{j} \lambda^{n-j} (\lambda I - S) \phi = ((\lambda I - S)\phi)_{x} = (\lambda I - S) \sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{j} \lambda^{n-j} \phi - S_{x} \phi.$$
(265)

Comparing the coefficients of powers of λ gives the following equalities:

$$U'_{0} = U_{0}, \quad U'_{j+1} = U_{j+1} + U'_{j}S - SU_{j}, \quad 0 \le j \le n - 1,$$
(266)

and

$$S_x = U'_n S - S U_n. ag{267}$$

These equalities produce

$$U'_{0} = U_{0}, \quad U'_{j} = U_{j} + \sum_{k=1}^{j} [U_{j-k}, S] S^{k-1}, \quad 1 \le j \le n,$$
(268)

and

$$S_x + [S, \sum_{j=0}^n U_j S^{n-j}] = 0.$$
(269)

Similarly, we substitute D and $\phi' = D\phi$ into the second equation in (263) giving

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j}' \lambda^{m-j} (\lambda I - S) \phi = ((\lambda I - S)\phi)_{t_{m}} = (\lambda I - S) \sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j} \lambda^{m-j} \phi - S_{t_{m}} \phi.$$
(270)

Again, we compare the coefficients of powers of λ gives the following equalities:

$$V'_0 = V_0, \quad V'_{j+1} = V_{j+1} + V'_j S - SV_j, \quad 0 \le j \le m - 1,$$
(271)

and

$$S_{t_m} = V'_m S - S V_m. aga{272}$$

Then, we have the following:

$$V'_0 = V_0, \quad V'_j = V_j + \sum_{k=1}^j [V_{j-k}, S] S^{k-1}, \quad 1 \le j \le m,$$
 (273)

and

$$S_{t_m} + [S, \sum_{j=0}^m V_j S^{m-j}] = 0.$$
(274)

The analysis above may be summarized by the following theorem.

THEOREM 5.2. [26] $D = \lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (263) if and only if S satisfies

$$S_x + [S, \sum_{j=0}^n U_j S^{n-j}] = 0, \quad S_{t_m} + [S, \sum_{j=0}^m V_j S^{m-j}] = 0.$$
(275)

Additionally, the Darboux transformation generates a Bäcklund transformation of (263) as

$$U'_0 = U_0, \quad U'_j = U_j + \sum_{k=1}^j [U_{j-k}, S] S^{k-1}, \quad 1 \le j \le n.$$
 (276)

Let's introduce N distinct eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_N$ with their corresponding eigenfunctions:

$$\phi_x^{(s)} = U(u, \lambda_s)\phi^{(s)}, \quad \phi_t^{(s)} = V(u, \lambda_s)\phi^{(s)}, \quad 1 \le s \le N,$$
(277)

where u is a given solution to (259). If $det(H) \neq 0$, then suppose

$$S = H\Lambda H^{-1},\tag{278}$$

where

$$H = (\phi^{(1)}, \phi^{(2)}, ..., \phi^{(N)}), \quad \Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_N).$$
(279)

THEOREM 5.3. [26] The matrix $D = \lambda I - S$, where S is defined by (278), is a Darboux matrix for (263).

A proof of the theorem shows that Theorem 5.2 is true for the given Darboux matrix $D = \lambda I - S$. The key strategy is to take $\phi^{(s)}, 1 \le s \le N$, to be eigenfunctions of (261) for $\lambda = \lambda_i$, then

$$\phi_x^{(s)} = \sum_{j=0}^n U_j \lambda^{n-j} h_i, \quad \phi_t^{(s)} = \sum_{j=0}^m V_j \lambda^{m-j} h_i.$$
(280)

This implies the following:

$$H_{x} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{j} H \Lambda^{n-j}, \quad H_{t} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} V_{j} H \Lambda^{m-j}.$$
 (281)

We expand on this idea in the next section when we formulate a Darboux and Bäcklund transformations for integrable couplings where the enlarged spacial spectral matrix is a polynomial of λ with degree n.

5.4 Darboux transformations of integrable couplings

Recall, an integrable coupling system is an extension of a given integrable system to a larger integrable system containing the original system as a subsystem of the form (153), where $u_t = K(u)$ is the original system. We may write (153) compactly as:

$$\bar{u}_t = \bar{K}(\bar{u}),\tag{282}$$

where the enlarged dependent variable is $\bar{u} = (u^T, v^T)^T$.

Let's start with a few assumptions. Assume a hierarchy of enlarged spectral problems,

$$\bar{\phi}_x = \bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda)\phi, \quad \bar{\phi}_{t_m} = \bar{V}^{[m]}(\bar{u}, \lambda)\phi, \tag{283}$$

is associated with integrable couplings,

$$\bar{u}_{t_m} = \bar{K}_m(\bar{u}) = (K_m^T(u), T_m^T(u, v))^T, \quad \bar{u} = (u^T, v^T)^T, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(284)

through the enlarged zero curvature equations,

$$\bar{U}_{t_m} - \bar{V}_x^{[m]} + [\bar{U}, \bar{V}^{[m]}] = 0, \qquad (285)$$

where the enlarged Lax pairs are upper triangular block matrices,

$$\bar{U}(\bar{u},\lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} U(u,\lambda) & U_1(\bar{u},\lambda) \\ 0 & U(u,\lambda) \end{bmatrix}, \quad \bar{V}^{[m]}(\bar{u},\lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} V^{[m]}(u,\lambda) & V_1^{[m]}(\bar{u},\lambda) \\ 0 & V^{[m]}(u,\lambda) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (286)

In general, we may write

$$\begin{cases} \bar{U} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \bar{U}_{j} \lambda^{n-j} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} U_{j} & U_{1j} \\ 0 & U_{j} \end{bmatrix} \lambda^{n-j}, \\ \bar{V}^{[m]} = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \bar{V}_{j} \lambda^{m-j} = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \begin{bmatrix} V_{j} & V_{1j} \\ 0 & V_{j} \end{bmatrix} \lambda^{m-j}, \end{cases}$$
(287)

where

$$\begin{cases} U(u,\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{j}\lambda^{n-j}, & U_{1}(\bar{u},\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{1j}\lambda^{n-j}, \\ V^{[m]}(u,\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j}\lambda^{m-j}, & V_{1}^{[m]}(\bar{u},\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{1j}\lambda^{m-j}, & m \ge 0, \end{cases}$$
(288)

are $N \times N$ matrices. Then the enlarged spectral problem may be viewed as:

$$\bar{\phi}_x = \bar{U}\bar{\phi} = \sum_{j=0}^n \bar{U}_j \lambda^{n-j}\bar{\phi}, \quad \bar{\phi}_{t_m} = \bar{V}^{[m]}\bar{\phi} = \sum_{j=0}^m \bar{V}_j \lambda^{m-j}\bar{\phi}.$$
(289)

We will discuss a class of Darboux matrices for the Lax pairs above without reductions, i.e., the entries of U_j, U_{1j}, V_j and V_{1j} are independent except for the partial differential equations (285).

Let $\overline{D} = \overline{D}(x, t, \lambda)$ be a $2N \times 2N$ matrix. If $\overline{\phi}' = \overline{D}\overline{\phi}$ satisfies a spectral problem of the same form as (289), i.e.,

$$\bar{\phi}'_{x} = \bar{U}'(\bar{u},\lambda)\bar{\phi}' = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \bar{U}'_{j}\lambda^{n-j}\bar{\phi}', \\ \bar{\phi}'_{t_{m}} = \bar{V}'^{[m]}(\bar{u},\lambda)\bar{\phi}' = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \bar{V}'_{j}\lambda^{m-j}\bar{\phi}', \\ m \ge 0,$$
(290)

then we have the Darboux transformation of the enlarged spectral problem (289) as:

$$(\bar{U}, \bar{V}^{[m]}, \bar{\phi}) \to (\bar{U}', \bar{V}'^{[m]}, \bar{\phi}') \tag{291}$$

where \overline{D} is the Darboux matrix of (289).

We focus on a class of Darboux matrices of degree one that are linear in λ . Thus, the Darboux matrices are of the form $\overline{D} = \lambda \overline{I} - \overline{S}$ where $\overline{I} = \text{diag}(I, I)$, I an $N \times N$ identity matrix, and \overline{S} a $2N \times 2N$ matrix function. We have the same analysis of the first order Darboux matrix for the enlarged spectral problem as seen in the previous section 5.3 and may be summarized by the following theorem:

THEOREM 5.4. [86, 87] $\overline{D} = \lambda \overline{I} - \overline{S}$ is a Darboux matrix of degree one for (289) if and only if \overline{S} satisfies

$$\bar{S}_x + [\bar{S}, \sum_{j=0}^n \bar{U}_j \bar{S}^{n-j}] = 0, \quad \bar{S}_{t_m} + [\bar{S}, \sum_{j=0}^m \bar{V}_j \bar{S}^{m-j}] = 0.$$
(292)

Additionally, the Darboux transformation generates a Bäcklund transformation of (284) as

$$\bar{U}'_0 = \bar{U}_0, \quad \bar{U}'_j = \bar{U}_j + \sum_{k=1}^j [\bar{U}_{j-k}, \bar{S}] \bar{S}^{k-1}, \quad 1 \le j \le n.$$
 (293)

Let's introduce N enlarged eigenfunctions $\bar{\phi}_s$ with associated eigenvalues λ_s :

$$\bar{\phi}_{x}^{(s)} = \bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda_{s})\bar{\phi}^{(s)}, \quad \bar{\phi}_{t_{m}}^{(s)} = \bar{V}^{[m]}(\bar{u}, \lambda_{s})\bar{\phi}^{(s)}, \quad 1 \le s \le N,$$
(294)

where \bar{u} is a given solution to (284). For the presentation of a Darboux transformation for integrable couplings, we further denote

$$\bar{\phi}^{(s)} = (\phi_1^{(s)T}, \phi^{(s)T})^T, \quad 1 \le s \le N,$$
(295)

where $\phi^{(s)}$ and $\phi^{(s)}_1$ are N dimensional column vector functions and

$$\bar{H} = \begin{bmatrix} H & H_1 \\ 0 & H \end{bmatrix}, \quad H = [\phi^{(1)}, \phi^{(2)}, ..., \phi^{(N)}], \quad H_1 = [\phi_1^{(1)}, \phi_1^{(2)}, ..., \phi_1^{(N)}].$$
(296)

From (294), we clearly have

$$H_x = \sum_{j=0}^n U_j H \Lambda^{n-j}, \quad H_{1x} = \sum_{j=0}^n U_j H_1 \Lambda^{n-j} + U_{1j} H \Lambda^{n-j},$$
(297)

and

$$H_t = \sum_{j=0}^m V_j H \Lambda^{m-j}, \quad H_{1t} = \sum_{j=0}^m V_j H_1 \Lambda^{m-j} + V_{1j} H \Lambda^{m-j},$$
(298)

where Λ is defined (279) and, for convience, set $t_m = t$. The above notation provides a means for explicit calculation of a Darboux transformation for an integrable coupling (284).

THEOREM 5.5. [87] Let \bar{H} be defined by (296) and $\bar{\Lambda} = \text{diag}(\Lambda, \Lambda)$, where Λ is defined by (279). Then \bar{H} is invertible if and only if H is invertible. When H is invertible, $\bar{D} = \lambda \bar{I} - \bar{S}$ is a Darboux matrix of the unreduced enlarged spectral problem (289) where $\bar{S} = \bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1}$ and may be represented as

$$\bar{S} = \begin{bmatrix} S & S_1 \\ 0 & S \end{bmatrix}, \quad S = H\Lambda H^{-1}, \quad S_1 = -SH_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda H^{-1}.$$
(299)

Moreover, the Bäcklund transformation for the integrable coupling (284) is

$$\begin{cases} U_0' = U_0, \quad U_j' = U_j + \sum_{k=1}^j [U_{j-k}, S] S^{k-1}, \quad U_{10}' = U_{10}, \quad 1 \le j \le n, \\ U_{1j}' = U_{1j} + \sum_{k=1}^j [U_{1j-k}, S] S^{k-1} + (U_{j-k}\hat{S} - SU_{j-k}) \hat{S}^{k-1} - \hat{S} U_{j-k} S^{k-1}, \end{cases}$$
(300)

where $\hat{S}^k = -S^k H_1 H^{-1} + H_1 \Lambda^k H^{-1}$ is the (1,2)-th matrix block of \bar{S} raised to the k-th power.

Proof. \overline{H} is an upper triangular matrix with diagonal blocks H. Therefore, \overline{H} is invertible if and only if H is invertible.

Assume H is invertible. By direct calculation, we easily see \bar{H}^{-1} as:

$$\bar{H}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} H^{-1} & -H^{-1}H_1H^{-1} \\ 0 & H^{-1} \end{bmatrix},$$

where \bar{H}^{-1} depends on H^{-1} and H_1 . Then, we work out \bar{S} :

$$\begin{split} \bar{S} &= \bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} H & H_1 \\ 0 & H \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \Lambda \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} H^{-1} & -H^{-1}H_1H^{-1} \\ 0 & H^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} H\Lambda & H_1\Lambda \\ 0 & H\Lambda \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} H^{-1} & -H^{-1}H_1H^{-1} \\ 0 & H^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} H\Lambda H^{-1} & -H\Lambda H^{-1}H_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda H^{-1} \\ 0 & H\Lambda H^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} H\Lambda H^{-1} & -SH_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda H^{-1} \\ 0 & H\Lambda H^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} S & S_1 \\ 0 & S \end{bmatrix}. \end{split}$$

This shows the representation of S and S_1 in (299).

In order to show that $\overline{D} = \lambda \overline{I} - \overline{S}$ is a Darboux matrix of the enlarged spectral problem (289)
where $\bar{S} = \bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1}$, we need to show

$$\bar{S}_x + [\bar{S}, \sum_{j=0}^n \bar{U}_j \bar{S}^{n-j}] = 0, \quad \bar{S}_{t_m} + [\bar{S}, \sum_{j=0}^m \bar{V}_j \bar{S}^{m-j}] = 0, \tag{301}$$

from Theorem 5.4. Before we begin analyzing the first equation, let's observe that

$$\begin{split} \bar{S}^{k} &= (\bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1})^{k} \\ &= \underbrace{(\bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1})(\bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1})...(\bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1})}_{k\text{-times}} \\ &= \bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}^{k}\bar{H}^{-1} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} H & H_{1} \\ 0 & H \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \Lambda \end{bmatrix}^{k} \begin{bmatrix} H^{-1} & -H^{-1}H_{1}H^{-1} \\ 0 & H^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} H & H_{1} \\ 0 & H \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda^{k} & 0 \\ 0 & \Lambda^{k} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} H^{-1} & -H^{-1}H_{1}H^{-1} \\ 0 & H^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} H\Lambda^{k}H^{-1} & -H\Lambda^{k}H^{-1}H_{1}H^{-1} + H_{1}\Lambda^{k}H^{-1} \\ 0 & H\Lambda^{k}H^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} S^{k} & -S^{k}H_{1}H^{-1} + H_{1}\Lambda^{k}H^{-1} \\ 0 & S^{k} \end{bmatrix} . \end{split}$$

For simplicity, we name the (1,2)-th block of \bar{S}^k to be \hat{S}^k and see that $\hat{S}^k = -S^k H_1 H^{-1} + H_1 \Lambda^k H^{-1}$.

The commutator in the first equation of (301) may be expanded to:

$$\left[\bar{S}, \sum_{j=0}^{n} \bar{U}_{j} \bar{S}^{n-j}\right] = \left[\begin{bmatrix} S & S_{1} \\ 0 & S \end{bmatrix}, \sum_{j=0}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} U_{j} & U_{1j} \\ 0 & U_{j} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} S & S_{1} \\ 0 & S \end{bmatrix}^{n-j} \right]$$

$$\begin{split} &= \left[\begin{bmatrix} S & S_1 \\ 0 & S \end{bmatrix}, \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} U_j & U_{1j} \\ 0 & U_j \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} S^{n-j} & \hat{S}^{n-j} \\ 0 & S^{n-j} \end{bmatrix} \right] \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} S & S_1 \\ 0 & S \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} U_j & U_{1j} \\ 0 & U_j \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} S^{n-j+1} & \hat{S}^{n-j+1} \\ 0 & S^{n-j+1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} SU_j & SU_{1j} + S_1U_j \\ 0 & SU_j \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} S^{n-j} & \hat{S}^{n-j} \\ 0 & S^{n-j} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} U_j S^{n-j+1} & U_j \hat{S}^{n-j+1} + U_{1j} S^{n-j+1} \\ 0 & U_j S^{n-j+1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} SU_j S^{n-j+1} & U_j \hat{S}^{n-j+1} + U_{1j} S^{n-j+1} \\ 0 & U_j S^{n-j+1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} SU_j S^{n-j} & SU_{1j} S^{n-j} + S_1 U_j S^{n-j} + SU_j \hat{S}^{n-j} \\ 0 & SU_j S^{n-j} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} SU_j S^{n-j+1} & U_j \hat{S}^{n-j+1} + U_{1j} S^{n-j+1} \\ U_j S^{n-j+1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} SU_j S^{n-j+1} & U_j \hat{S}^{n-j+1} + U_{1j} S^{n-j+1} \\ U_j S^{n-j+1} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} SU_j S^{n-j} & [S, U_{1j} S^{n-j}] + S_1 U_j S^{n-j} + (SU_j - U_j \hat{S}) \hat{S}^{n-j} \\ 0 & [S, U_j] S^{n-j} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^n \begin{bmatrix} SU_j S^{n-j} & [S, U_{1j} S^{n-j}] + \hat{S}U_j S^{n-j} + (SU_j - U_j \hat{S}) \hat{S}^{n-j} \\ 0 & [S, U_j] S^{n-j} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$$

as $S_1 = \hat{S} = [\bar{S}]_{12}$.

Therefore, in order to prove the first equation of (301), we need to show

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} S_x + [S, U_j S^{n-j}] & S_{1,x} + [S, U_{1j} S^{n-j}] + \hat{S} U_j S^{n-j} + (SU_j - U_j \hat{S}) \hat{S}^{n-j} \\ 0 & S_x + [S, U_j] S^{n-j} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(302)

First, using (297), we have

$$S_{x} = (H\Lambda H^{-1})_{x}$$

$$= H_{x}\Lambda H^{-1} - H\Lambda H^{-1} H_{x} H^{-1}$$

$$= (\sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{j} H\Lambda^{n-j})\Lambda H^{-1} - H\Lambda H^{-1} (\sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{j} H\Lambda^{n-j}) H^{-1}$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{j} H\Lambda^{n-j+1} H^{-1} - H\Lambda H^{-1} U_{j} H\Lambda^{n-j} H^{-1}$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n} U_{j} S^{n-j+1} - SU_{j} S^{n-j}$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n} - [S, U_{j} S^{n-j}].$$

This shows that each block of the diagonal of the matrix on the left side of equation (302) is 0.

We will now show that the (1, 2)-th block on the left side of equation (302) is 0. Again, by (297)

and $S_x = \sum_{j=0}^n -[S, U_j S^{n-j}]$, we have

$$\begin{split} S_{1x} = &(-SH_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda H^{-1})_x \\ = &- S_x H_1 H^{-1} - SH_{1x} H^{-1} + SH_1 H^{-1} H_x H^{-1} \\ &+ H_{1x}\Lambda H^{-1} - H_1\Lambda H^{-1} H_x H^{-1} \\ = &\sum_{j=0}^n ([S,U_jS^{n-j}])H_1 H^{-1} - S(U_jH_1\Lambda^{n-j} + U_{1j}H\Lambda^{n-j})H^{-1} \\ &+ SH_1H^{-1}(U_jH\Lambda^{n-j})H^{-1} + (U_jH_1\Lambda^{n-j} + U_{1j}H\Lambda^{n-j})\Lambda H^{-1} \\ &- H_1\Lambda H^{-1}(U_jH\Lambda^{n-j})H^{-1} \\ = &\sum_{j=0}^n [S,U_jS^{n-j}]H_1H^{-1} - SU_jH_1\Lambda^{n-j}H^{-1} - \frac{SU_{1j}S^{n-j}}{1} \\ &+ SH_1H^{-1}U_jS^{n-j} + U_jH_1\Lambda^{n-j+1}H^{-1} + U_{1j}S^{n-j+1} \\ &- H_1\Lambda H^{-1}U_jS^{n-j} \\ = &\sum_{j=0}^n [U_{1j}S^{n-j},S] + SU_jS^{n-j}H_1H^{-1} - U_jS^{n-j+1}H_1H^{-1} \\ &- SU_jH_1\Lambda^{n-j}H^{-1} + SH_1H^{-1}U_jS^{n-j} + U_jH_1\Lambda^{n-j+1}H^{-1} \\ &- H_1\Lambda H^{-1}U_jS^{n-j} \\ = &\sum_{j=0}^n [U_{1j}S^{n-j},S] - SU_j \underbrace{(-S^{n-j}H_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda^{n-j}H^{-1})}_{\hat{S}^{n-j}} \\ &+ U_j \underbrace{(-S^{n-j+1}H_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda^{n-j+1}H^{-1})}_{\hat{S}^{n-j+1}} \\ &- \underbrace{(-SH_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda H^{-1})}_{\hat{S}^{n-j}} (SU_j - S^{n-j}) \\ = &\sum_{j=0}^n - [S,U_{1j}S^{n-j}] - \hat{S}U_jS^{n-j} - (SU_j - U_j\hat{S})\hat{S}^{n-j}. \end{split}$$

Thus, (302) is proved.

Now, let's have a look at the second equation in (301),

$$\bar{S}_{t_m} + [\bar{S}, \sum_{j=0}^m \bar{V}_j \bar{S}^{m-j}] = 0.$$

Similar to the reasoning before, we have

$$\begin{split} &[\bar{S}, \sum_{j=0}^{m} \bar{V}_{j} \bar{S}^{m-j}] = \\ &\sum_{j=0}^{m} \begin{bmatrix} [S, V_{j} S^{m-j}] & [S, V_{1j} S^{m-j}] + \hat{S} V_{j} S^{m-j} + (S V_{j} - V_{j} \hat{S}) \hat{S}^{m-j} \\ & 0 & [S, V_{j}] S^{m-j} \end{bmatrix}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we need to show

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \begin{bmatrix} S_t + [S, V_j S^{m-j}] & S_{1t} + [S, V_{1j} S^{m-j}] + \hat{S} V_j S^{m-j} + (S V_j - V_j \hat{S}) \hat{S}^{m-j} \\ 0 & S_t + [S, V_j] S^{m-j} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(303)

Note, we use $t_m = t$ for ease in notation. Again, we can prove this equality block by block using (298). We omit the proof as it is almost identical to the proof of (302). In conclusion of the above results, the enlarged matrix $\bar{S} = \bar{H}\bar{\Lambda}\bar{H}^{-1}$ satisfies the two conditions in Theorem 5.4, namely the conditions (301), and thus, $\bar{D} = \lambda \bar{I} - \bar{S}$ is a Darboux matrix of the enlarged spectral problem (289).

Lastly, we recall equation (293). A brief calculation of the equation $\bar{U}_j' = \bar{U}_j$

$$+\sum_{k=1}^{j} [\bar{U}_{j-k}, \bar{S}] \bar{S}^{k-1}$$
 gives:

$$\begin{bmatrix} U'_{j} & U'_{1j} \\ 0 & U'_{j} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} U_{j} & U_{1j} \\ 0 & U_{j} \end{bmatrix} + \sum_{k=1}^{j} \begin{bmatrix} [U_{j-k}, S]S^{k-1} & [U_{1,j-k}, S]S^{k-1} + (U_{j-k}\hat{S} - SU_{j-k})\hat{S}^{k-1} - \hat{S}U_{j-k}S^{k-1} \\ 0 & [U_{j-k}, S]S^{k-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Looking at each block, we see clearly the Bäcklund tranformations (300) as stated in the theorem. This completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

In the next section, we provide an example of the Darboux transformations on integrable coupling where the spacial spectral matrix \overline{U} is a polynomial in λ of degree 2. The integrable couplings are of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy presented in the previous chapter.

5.5 An application to integrable couplings of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell hierarchy

5.5.1 Integrable couplings of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell hierarchy

In Chapter 3, we constructed integrable couplings for a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy (192) [76]. The first four integrable couplings in (192), i.e., $\bar{u}_{t_i} = \bar{K}_i(\bar{u}), i = 0, 1, 2, 3$, are

$$\bar{u}_{t_0} = \begin{bmatrix} p_1 \\ q_1 \\ r_1 \\ r_1 \\ s_1 \\ v_1 \\ p_2 \\ q_2 \\ q_2 \\ r_2 \\ s_2 \\ v_2 \end{bmatrix}_{t_0} = \bar{K}_0(\bar{u}) = \begin{bmatrix} 2\alpha p_1 \\ -2\alpha q_1 \\ 0 \\ 2\alpha s_1 \\ -2\alpha v_1 \\ 2\beta p_1 + 2\alpha p_2 \\ -2\beta q_1 - 2\alpha q_2 \\ 0 \\ 2\beta s_1 + 2\alpha s_2 \\ -2\beta v_1 - 2\alpha v_2 \end{bmatrix},$$
(304)

$$\bar{u}_{t_{1}} = \begin{vmatrix} p_{1} \\ q_{1} \\ r_{1} \\ r_{1} \\ s_{1} \\ v_{1} \\ p_{2} \\ q_{2} \\ r_{2} \\ s_{2} \\ v_{2} \\ v_{$$

and

.

where $\bar{u}_{t_3} = \bar{K}_3$ is nonlinear in four potentials of u, namely, p_1, q_1, s_1, v_1 .

5.5.2 Darboux transformations of generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings

We will apply Theorem 5.5 to get Darboux transformations for the integrable couplings (192) [87]. We may write the spectral matrix (176) as the following:

$$\begin{cases} U = U(u, \lambda) = \lambda^2 U_0 + \lambda U_1 + U_2, & U_1 = U_1(\bar{u}, \lambda) = \lambda^2 U_{10} + \lambda U_{11} + U_{12} \\ U_0 = U_{10} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, & U_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p_1 \\ q_1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, & U_2 = \begin{bmatrix} r_1 & s_1 \\ v_1 & -r_1 \end{bmatrix}, \\ U_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p_2 \\ q_2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, & U_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} r_2 & s_2 \\ v_2 & -r_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(308)

Assume two different eigenvalues λ_1 and λ_2 and let

$$\phi_{jk} = \phi_j(\lambda_k), \quad \psi_{jk} = \psi_j(\lambda_k), \quad j, k = 1, 2, \tag{309}$$

where ϕ_j, ψ_k are eigenfunctions. In order to compute

$$S = H\Lambda H^{-1}, \quad S_1 = -SH_1H^{-1} + H_1\Lambda H^{-1}, \tag{310}$$

we identify

$$\Lambda = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda_2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad H = \begin{bmatrix} \phi_{11} & \phi_{12} \\ \phi_{21} & \phi_{22} \end{bmatrix}, \quad H_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{11} & \psi_{12} \\ \psi_{21} & \psi_{22} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(311)

Theorem 5.5 presents a Darboux matrix of the first order in λ as

$$\bar{D} = \lambda \bar{I} - \bar{S}, \quad \bar{I} = \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \quad \bar{S} = \begin{bmatrix} S & S_1 \\ 0 & S_1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (312)$$

where I is a 2×2 identity matrix. The corresponding Darboux transformation is

$$\bar{\phi}' = \bar{D}\bar{\phi}, \quad \bar{U}_0' = \bar{U}_0, \quad \bar{U}_1' = \bar{U}_1 + [\bar{U}_0, \bar{S}], \quad \bar{U}_2' = \bar{U}_2 + [\bar{U}_1, \bar{S}] + [\bar{U}_0, \bar{S}]\bar{S},$$
 (313)

which provides the Bäcklund transformations:

$$\begin{cases} U_0' = U_0, \quad U_1' = U_1 + [U_0, S], \quad U_2' = U_2 + [U_1, S] + [U_0, S]S, \\ U_{10}' = U_{10}, \quad U_{11}' = U_{11} + [U_{10}, S] + [U_0, S_1] - SU_0, \\ U_{12}' = U_{12} + [U_{11}, S] + [U_1, S_1] - SU_1 + [U_{10}, S]S + (U_0S_1 - SU_0)S_1 - S_1U_0S, \end{cases}$$
(314)

where we note $S_1 = \hat{S}$ as seen in Theorem 5.5. Let's label an initial solution $(U_1, U_2, U_{11}, U_{12})$ and eigenfunction $\bar{\phi}$ as

$$\begin{cases} U_{1} = U_{1}^{[0]} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p_{1}^{[0]} \\ q_{1}^{[0]} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, & U_{2} = U_{2}^{[0]} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{1}^{[0]} & s_{1}^{[0]} \\ v_{1}^{[0]} & -r_{1}^{[0]} \end{bmatrix}, \\ U_{11} = U_{11}^{[0]} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p_{2}^{[0]} \\ q_{2}^{[0]} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, & U_{12} = U_{12}^{[0]} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{2}^{[0]} & s_{2}^{[0]} \\ v_{2}^{[0]} & -r_{2}^{[0]} \end{bmatrix}, & \bar{\phi} = \bar{\phi}^{[0]} = \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1} \\ \psi_{2} \\ \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2} \end{bmatrix}, \end{cases}$$
(315)

and the new solution $(U'_1, U'_2, U'_{11}, U'_{12})$ and eigenfunction $\bar{\phi}'$ obtained from the Darboux transformation (313) as

$$\begin{cases} U_{1} = U_{1}^{[1]} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p_{1}^{[1]} \\ q_{1}^{[1]} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, & U_{2} = U_{2}^{[1]} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{1}^{[1]} & s_{1}^{[1]} \\ v_{1}^{[1]} & -r_{1}^{[1]} \end{bmatrix}, \\ U_{11} = U_{11}^{[1]} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p_{2}^{[1]} \\ q_{2}^{[1]} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, & U_{12} = U_{12}^{[1]} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{2}^{[1]} & s_{2}^{[1]} \\ v_{2}^{[1]} & -r_{2}^{[1]} \end{bmatrix}, & \bar{\phi} = \bar{\phi}^{[1]} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\psi}_{1} \\ \tilde{\psi}_{2} \\ \bar{\phi}_{1} \\ \bar{\phi}_{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(316)

Therefore, we state the Bäcklund transformation taking the initial solution to the new solution:

$$\begin{cases} U_{1}^{[1]} = U_{1}^{[0]} + [U_{0}, S], \quad U_{2}^{[1]} = U_{2}^{[0]} + [U_{1}^{[0]}, S] + [U_{0}, S]S, \\ U_{11}^{[1]} = U_{11}^{[0]} + [U_{10}, S] + [U_{0}, S_{1}] - SU_{0}, \\ U_{12}^{[1]} = U_{12}^{[0]} + [U_{11}^{[0]}, S] + [U_{1}^{[0]}, S_{1}] - SU_{1}^{[0]} + [U_{10}, S]S + (U_{0}S_{1} - SU_{0})S_{1} - S_{1}U_{0}S, \end{cases}$$
(317)

which defines each new solution from the initial solution as

$$\begin{split} p_{1}^{[1]} &= p_{1}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})\phi_{11}\phi_{22}}{\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21}}, \\ q_{1}^{[1]} &= q_{1}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})\phi_{21}\phi_{22}\phi_{12}\phi_{22}}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{2}}, \\ r_{1}^{[1]} &= r_{1}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2})^{2}\phi_{11}\phi_{12}\phi_{21}\phi_{22}\phi_{12}\phi_{22}}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{2}}, \\ s_{1}^{[1]} &= s_{1}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2})\phi_{11}\phi_{12}(\lambda_{1}\phi_{12}\phi_{21}-\lambda_{2}\phi_{11}\phi_{12})}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{2}}, \\ r_{1}^{[1]} &= v_{1}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})\phi_{11}\phi_{21}(\lambda_{1}\phi_{12}\phi_{21}-\lambda_{2}\phi_{11}\phi_{21})}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{2}}, \\ p_{2}^{[1]} &= p_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})((\phi_{12}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21}+\phi_{21}\phi_{21})}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{2}}, \\ r_{2}^{[1]} &= p_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})((-\phi_{21}\phi_{22}+\psi_{12}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{22})+(\phi_{11}\phi_{21}-\phi_{11}+\phi_{11}\phi_{11})\phi_{12}^{2}}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{2}}, \\ r_{2}^{[1]} &= r_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})^{2}\phi_{22}(((\phi_{22}-\psi_{22})\phi_{21}+\psi_{21}\phi_{22})\phi_{21}+(\phi_{21}\phi_{11}-\phi_{21}\phi_{11}+\phi_{11}\phi_{21})\phi_{22}^{2}}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{3}}, \\ s_{2}^{[1]} &= r_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})^{2}\phi_{22}(((\phi_{22}-\psi_{22})\phi_{21}+\phi_{21}\phi_{22})\phi_{21}+\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21})}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{3}}, \\ s_{2}^{[1]} &= s_{2}^{[0]} - \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})\phi_{22}\lambda_{2}(\phi_{22}-\phi_{22})\phi_{21}-\phi_{21}\phi_{22}\psi_{11}(\lambda_{2}-1}\phi_{21})\phi_{21}-\phi_{21}\phi_{22}\psi_{11})}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{3}}, \\ r_{2}^{[1]} &= v_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})((((1\lambda+\lambda_{2})\phi_{22}+\psi_{22}(\lambda_{2}-2\lambda_{1}))\phi_{21}-2\phi_{22}\phi_{21}\phi_{21})}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{3}}, \\ r_{2}^{[1]} &= v_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})(((\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2})\phi_{22}+\psi_{22}(\lambda_{2}-2\lambda_{1}))\phi_{21}-2\phi_{22}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}}^{3}+\lambda_{1}\phi_{12}\phi_{22}^{3}\phi_{21}}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{3}}, \\ r_{2}^{[1]} &= v_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})(((\phi_{12}-\psi_{12})\phi_{22}+\phi_{12}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{3}}{(\phi_{11}\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})^{3}}, \\ r_{2}^{[1]} &= v_{2}^{[0]} + \frac{2(\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1})((\phi_{1}-\psi_{1})\phi_{22}-\phi_{12}\phi_{21})\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{21}\phi_{2$$

This above process can be repeated to get a Darboux transformations of higher order in λ . For instance, we may find a new solution $(p_1^{[2]}, q_1^{[2]}, r_1^{[2]}, s_1^{[2]}, v_1^{[2]}, p_2^{[2]}, q_2^{[2]}, r_2^{[2]}, s_2^{[2]}, v_2^{[2]})$ associated with two new eigenvalues $\tilde{\lambda}_1$ and $\tilde{\lambda}_2$ from the solution $(p_1^{[1]}, q_1^{[1]}, r_1^{[1]}, s_1^{[1]}, v_1^{[1]}, p_2^{[1]}, q_2^{[1]}, r_2^{[1]}, s_2^{[1]}, v_2^{[1]})$. We

 $\operatorname{compute}$

$$\begin{cases} U_{1}^{[2]} = U_{1}^{[1]} + [U_{0}, \tilde{S}], \quad U_{2}^{[2]} = U_{2}^{[1]} + [U_{1}^{[1]}, \tilde{S}] + [U_{0}, \tilde{S}]\tilde{S}, \\ U_{11}^{[2]} = U_{11}^{[1]} + [U_{10}, \tilde{S}] + [U_{0}, \tilde{S}_{1}] - \tilde{S}U_{0}, \\ U_{12}^{[2]} = U_{12}^{[1]} + [U_{11}^{[1]}, \tilde{S}] + [U_{1}^{[1]}, \tilde{S}_{1}] - \tilde{S}U_{1}^{[1]} + [U_{10}, \tilde{S}]\tilde{S} + (U_{0}\tilde{S}_{1} - \tilde{S}U_{0})\tilde{S}_{1} - \tilde{S}_{1}U_{0}\tilde{S}, \end{cases}$$
(319)

where \tilde{S} and \tilde{S}_1 are defined as

$$\tilde{S} = \tilde{H}\tilde{\Lambda}\tilde{H}^{-1}, \quad \tilde{S}_1 = -\tilde{S}\tilde{H}_1\tilde{H} + \tilde{H}_1\tilde{\Lambda}\tilde{H}^{-1}, \quad (320)$$

through the matrices

$$\tilde{\Lambda} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\lambda}_1 & 0\\ 0 & \tilde{\lambda}_2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tilde{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\phi}_{11} & \tilde{\phi}_{12}\\ \tilde{\phi}_{21} & \tilde{\phi}_{22} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \tilde{H}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\psi}_{11} & \tilde{\psi}_{12}\\ \tilde{\psi}_{21} & \tilde{\psi}_{22} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (321)$$

where $\tilde{\phi_{jk}} = \tilde{\phi_j}(\tilde{\lambda_k})$ and $\tilde{\psi_{jk}} = \tilde{\psi_j}(\tilde{\lambda_k}), j, k = 1, 2.$

For the example following, we will denote the time variable t_m by only t for simplicity.

Example - A solution to the m-th order system

We will be considering the *m*-th order integrable coupling system $\bar{u}_t = \bar{K}_m$ defined by (192). From (178) and (191), we have

$$\bar{V}^{[m]} = \begin{bmatrix} V^{[m]} & V_1^{[m]} \\ 0 & V^{[m]} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a^{[m]} & b^{[m]} & e^{[m]} & f^{[m]} \\ \frac{c^{[m]} & -a^{[m]}}{0} & g^{[m]} & -e^{[m]} \\ 0 & 0 & a^{[m]} & b^{[m]} \\ 0 & 0 & c^{[m]} & -a^{[m]} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{i=0}^{m} \begin{bmatrix} a_i & b_i & e_i & f_i \\ c_i & -a_i & g_i & -e_i \\ 0 & 0 & a_i & b_i \\ 0 & 0 & c_i & -a_i \end{bmatrix} \lambda^{m-i},$$
(322)

where $\{a_i, b_i, c_i, e_i, f_i, g_i | 1 \le i \le m\}$ are given by (182).

Let's look at the spectral problems (177) and (190) when $\bar{u} = 0$, i.e.,

$$\begin{cases} \bar{\phi}_{x} = \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1,x} \\ \psi_{2,x} \\ \phi_{1,x} \\ \phi_{2,x} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^{2} & 0 & \lambda^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & -\lambda^{2} & 0 & -\lambda^{2} \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\lambda^{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1} \\ \psi_{2} \\ \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \bar{U}|_{\bar{u}=0}\bar{\phi}, \qquad (323)$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1,t} \\ \psi_{2,t} \\ \psi_{1,t} \\ \phi_{1,t} \\ \phi_{2,t} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \alpha\lambda^{m} & 0 & \beta\lambda^{m} & 0 \\ 0 & -\alpha\lambda^{m} & 0 & -\beta\lambda^{m} \\ 0 & 0 & \alpha\lambda^{m} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\alpha\lambda^{m} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1} \\ \psi_{2} \\ \phi_{1} \\ \phi_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \bar{V}|_{\bar{u}=0}\bar{\phi}.$$

Solving (323), we get the zero seed solution of (177) and (190) and generate the following eigenfunctions associated with the eigenvalue λ :

$$\begin{cases} \psi_1 = \chi_1(\lambda) = (\beta \lambda^m \mu_1 t + \lambda^2 \mu_1 + \mu_3) e^{\alpha \lambda^m t + \lambda^2 x}, \\ \psi_2 = \chi_2(\lambda) = -(\beta \lambda^m \mu_2 t + \lambda^2 \mu_2 - \mu_4) e^{-\alpha \lambda^m t - \lambda^2 x}, \\ \phi_1 = \chi_3(\lambda) = \mu_1 e^{\alpha \lambda^m t + \lambda^2 x}, \\ \phi_2 = \chi_4(\lambda) = \mu_2 e^{-\alpha \lambda^m t - \lambda^2 x}, \end{cases}$$
(324)

where $\mu_i, 1 \leq i \leq 4$ are arbitrary constants. In order to obtain analytic solutions by the Darboux and Bäcklund transformations in Theorem 5.5, we choose the following vectors of eigenfunctions to be linearly independent:

$$\psi_1(\lambda_1) = \chi_1(\lambda_1), \quad \psi_2(\lambda_1) = \chi_2(\lambda_1), \quad \phi_1(\lambda_1) = \chi_3(\lambda_1), \quad \phi_2(\lambda_1) = \chi_4(\lambda_1), \quad (325)$$

and

$$\psi_1(\lambda_2) = -\chi_1(\lambda_2), \quad \psi_2(\lambda_2) = \chi_2(\lambda_2), \quad \phi_1(\lambda_2) = -\chi_3(\lambda_2), \quad \phi_2(\lambda_2) = \chi_4(\lambda_2), \quad (326)$$

associated with two different eigenvalues λ_1 and λ_2 , respectively. Then we use the Bäcklund transformation (317) to obtain a one-soliton-like solution to the *m*-th order generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable coupling system [87]:

$$\begin{cases} p_{1} = \frac{\mu_{1}}{\mu_{2}} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}) e^{\tau_{1} + \tau_{2}} \operatorname{sech} \xi, \\ q_{1} = -\frac{\mu_{2}}{\mu_{1}} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}) e^{-\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}} \operatorname{sech} \xi, \\ r_{1} = -\frac{1}{2} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})^{2} \operatorname{sech}^{2} \xi, \\ s_{1} = \frac{\mu_{1}}{2\mu_{2}} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}) (e^{2\tau_{1}} \lambda_{2} + e^{2\tau_{2}} \lambda_{1}) \operatorname{sech}^{2} \xi, \\ v_{1} = -\frac{\mu_{2}}{2\mu_{1}} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}) (e^{-2\tau_{2}} \lambda_{1} + e^{-2\tau_{1}} \lambda_{2}) \operatorname{sech}^{2} \xi, \\ p_{2} = \frac{\eta_{1}}{\mu_{2}^{2}} \operatorname{sech}^{2} \xi, \\ q_{2} = \frac{\eta_{2}}{\mu_{1}^{2}} \operatorname{sech}^{2} \xi, \\ r_{2} = -\frac{\eta_{3}}{2} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})^{2} \operatorname{sech}^{3} \xi, \\ s_{2} = -\frac{\eta_{4}}{2\mu_{2}^{2}} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}) \operatorname{sech}^{3} \xi, \\ v_{2} = \frac{\eta_{5}}{2\mu_{1}^{2}} (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}) \operatorname{sech}^{3} \xi, \end{cases}$$

$$(327)$$

where

$$\begin{cases} \xi = \left(-\lambda_{2}^{1+n}\beta t\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \lambda_{2}^{n}\beta t\lambda_{1}\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \left(\left(\lambda_{2}^{2}x\mu_{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})\right)e^{2\tau_{1}} \\ +e^{2\tau_{2}}\left(\lambda_{1}^{1+n}\beta t\mu_{1}\mu_{2} - \lambda_{1}^{n}\beta t\lambda_{2}\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})\left(\left(\lambda_{1}^{2}x\mu_{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)\right), \\ \eta_{2} = \left(-\lambda_{2}^{1+n}\beta t\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \lambda_{2}^{n}\beta t\lambda_{1}\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \left(\left(\lambda_{2}^{2}x\mu_{1} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{3}\right)\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{1}\mu_{4}\right)(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})\right)e^{-2\tau_{1}} \\ + \left(\lambda_{1}^{1+n}\beta t\mu_{1}\mu_{2} - \lambda_{1}^{n}\beta t\lambda_{2}\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \left(\left(\lambda_{1}^{2}x\mu_{1} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{3}\right)\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{1}\mu_{4}\right)(\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})\right)e^{-2\tau_{2}}, \\ \eta_{3} = \left(\lambda_{1}^{m}\beta t - \lambda_{2}^{m}\beta t + \frac{1}{2} + x\left(\lambda_{1}^{2} - \lambda_{2}^{2}\right)\right)e^{-\xi} \\ - \left(\lambda_{1}^{m}\beta t - \lambda_{2}^{m}\beta t - \frac{1}{2} + x\left(\lambda_{1}^{2} - \lambda_{2}^{2}\right)\right)e^{\xi}, \\ \eta_{4} = \left(-\lambda_{1}^{1+m}t\beta \mu_{1}\mu_{2} - \lambda_{1}\left(\left(\lambda_{1}^{2}x\mu_{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)\right)e^{-\tau_{1}+3\tau_{2}} \\ + \left(-\lambda_{2}^{1+m}t\beta \mu_{1}\mu_{2} - \lambda_{2}\left(\left(\lambda_{2}^{2}x\mu_{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)\right)e^{-\tau_{1}+3\tau_{2}} \\ + \left(\left(\lambda_{1}^{2}x - 3\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}x + \lambda_{2}^{2}x - \frac{1}{2}\right)\mu_{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)\right)e^{-\tau_{1}+\tau_{2}}, \\ \eta_{5} = \left(\lambda_{1}^{1+m}t\beta \mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \lambda_{2}\left(\left(\lambda_{1}^{2}x\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)\right)e^{-3\tau_{1}+\tau_{2}} \\ - \left(\lambda_{1}^{1+m}t\beta \mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \lambda_{2}\left(\left(\lambda_{2}^{2}x\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)\right)e^{-3\tau_{1}+\tau_{2}} \\ - \left(\lambda_{1}^{1+m}t\beta \mu_{1}\mu_{2} + \lambda_{2}\left(\left(\lambda_{2}^{2}x\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2} - \frac{1}{2}\mu_{4}\right)\mu_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\right)\right)e^{-\tau_{1}-\tau_{2}}. \end{cases}$$

$$(328)$$

Note, r_1 is a one-soliton solution. Specifically, we may let m = 0, 1, 2, 3, in order to solve the corresponding integrable coupling systems (304), (305), (??), and (??), respectively.

5.6 Summary

Darboux transformations for integrable couplings were formulated from the algebraic structure of non-semisimple matrix Lie algebras. The spectral matrix of the integrable couplings may be a polynomial of arbitrary order in λ . The resulting transformations were applied to generalized D-Kaup-Newell integrable couplings and solutions to the *m*-th coupling system were found. Explicit formulas of soliton-like solutions were presented. The example of solutions to the *m*-th coupling system shows that a set of solutions to each coupling system has been worked out. It is expected that these transformations may be used to find explicit solutions for a number of integrable couplings.

6 Concluding Remarks

We constructed two soliton hierarchies in chapter two. Each hierarchy has infinitely many highorder symmetries and conserved densities. Both hierarchies were formulated from spectral matrices based in $\widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$. Recently, the matrix Lie loop algebra $\widetilde{so}(3,\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{so}}(3,\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \sum_{i\geq 0} A_i \lambda^{n-i} | A_i \in \mathrm{so}(3,\mathbb{R}), n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}$$
(329)

with basis elements

$$e_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, e_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, e_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(330)

and commutator relations

$$[e_1, e_2] = e_3, \quad [e_2, e_3] = e_1, \quad [e_3, e_1] = e_2,$$
(331)

have been studied [32], [47]- [50]. Mostly, spectral matrices with two dependent variables have been discussed:

$$U(u, \lambda) = \lambda e_1 + p e_2 + q e_3,$$

$$U(u, \lambda) = \lambda^2 e_1 + \lambda p e_2 + \lambda q e_3,$$

$$U(u, \lambda) = \lambda e_1 + \lambda p e_2 + \lambda q e_3,$$

$$U(u, \lambda) = \lambda q e_1 + (\lambda^2 + \lambda p) e_2 + (-\lambda^2 + \lambda p) e_3$$

A spectral matrix with three dependent variables has been analyzed [49] of the following form:

$$U(u,\lambda) = (\lambda^2 + r)e_1 + \lambda pe_2 + \lambda qe_3.$$

We hope to see more soliton hierarchies using three or more dependent variables. For instance, what kind of beautiful structure is possible for a spectral matrix similar to (152) associated with $so(3, \mathbb{R})$?

The third chapter uses a relatively new idea of having $\frac{\partial U_1}{\partial \lambda} \neq 0$ in the enlarged spectral matrix \overline{U} . This idea helped generate two integrable couplings for a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy and for a special reduction. Although the calculations are more difficult, many new applications may arise from integrable couplings starting from enlarged spectral matrices of this form. One application is the Darboux transformation method for the construction of soliton solutions to integrable couplings. Such a new process of construction creates new integrable systems associated with non-semisimple Lie algebras and brings us new insightful thoughts to classify integrable systems from an algebraic point of view.

The last chapter formulated Darboux transformations for integrable couplings from a spectral matrix which is a polynomial of order n in λ , i.e., $\bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \bar{U}_j \lambda^{j-n}$. The Darboux transformations were applied to the integrable couplings found in chapter three. It is expected that many

other integrable couplings can be solved using this method. In particular, based on the structure of the spectral matrix, we predict the transformations may be applied to an integrable coupling system where the subsystem is of AKNS type and we find integrable couplings through perturbations, i.e., a spectral matrix given as

$$\bar{U} = \bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} U & U_1 \\ 0 & U \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & p & 0 & s \\ q & -\lambda & v & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & \lambda & p \\ 0 & 0 & q & -\lambda \end{bmatrix}.$$
(332)

We also imagine that solutions may be found for a spectral matrix that generates integrable couplings of the Kaup-Newell type,

$$\bar{U} = \bar{U}(\bar{u}, \lambda) = \begin{bmatrix} U & U_1 \\ 0 & U \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda^2 & \lambda p & 0 & \lambda s \\ \lambda q & -\lambda^2 & \lambda v & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & \lambda^2 & \lambda p \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda q & -\lambda^2 \end{bmatrix},$$
(333)

through the Darboux and Bäcklund transformations formulated in chapter four.

References

- J. S. Russell. Report of the committee on waves. Report of the 7th meeting of the British association for the Advancement of Science. John Murray, London. 417-496 (1838).
- [2] J. S. Russell. Report on waves. Report of the 14th meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science. John Murray, London. 311- 390 (1844).
- [3] D. J. Korteweg and G. de Vries. On the change of form of long waves advancing in a rectangular canal, and on a new type of long stationary waves. Philos. Mag. Ser. 539: 422-443 (1895).
- [4] N. J. Zabusky and M. D. Kruskal. Interaction of solutions in collisionless plasma and the recurrence of initial status. Phy. Rev. Lett. 15(6): 240-243 (1965).
- [5] C. S. Gardner, J. M. Greene, M. D. Kruskal, and R. M. Miura. Method for solving the kortewegdevries equation. Phys. Rev. Lett. 19: 1095-1097 (1967).
- [6] P. D. Lax. Integrals of nonlinear equations of evolution and solitary waves. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 21: 467-490 (1968).
- [7] P. D. Lax. Periodic solutions of the Korteweg-de Vries equation. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 28. 141-188 (1975).
- [8] P. D. Lax. A Hamiltonian approach to the KdV and other equations, in "nonlinear evolution equations. M. Cra. 5: 207-224 (1978).

- [9] M. J. Ablowitz, D. J. Kaup, A. C. Newell, and H. Segur. The inverse scattering transform-Fourier analysis for nonlinear problems. Stud. Appl. Math. 53: 249-315 (1974).
- [10] P. G. Drazin and R. S. Johnson. Solitons: an introduction. Cambridge University Press (1989).
- [11] B. Fuchssteiner and A. S. Fokas. Symplectic structures, their Bäcklund transformations and hereditary symmetries. Physica D. 4: 47-66 (1981).
- [12] M. Blaszak. Multi-Hamiltonian Theory of Dynamical Systems. Springer, New York (1998).
- B. Fuchssteiner. Application of hereditary symmetries to nonlinear evolution equations. Nonlinear Anal. TMA 3: 849-862 (1979).
- [14] W. X. Ma and B. Fuchssteiner. Integrable theory of the perturbation equations. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals. 7: 1227-1250 (1996).
- [15] F. Magri. A simple model of the integrable Hamiltonian equation. J. Math. Phys. 19: 1156-1162 (1978).
- [16] V. E. Zakharov and A. B. Shabat. A scheme for integrating the nonlinear equations of mathematical physics by the method of the inverse scattering problem I. Funct. Anal. Appl. 8: 226-235 (1974).
- [17] J. D. Gibbon. A survey of the origins and physical importance of soliton equations. Phil. Trans.
 R. Soc. Lond. A. **315**: 335-365 (1985).
- [18] M. J. Ablowitz and P. A. Clarkson. Solitons, Nonlinear Evolution Equations and Inverse Scattering. Cambridge University Press, Campbridge (1991).
- [19] D. Y. Chen. Introduction to Solitons. Science Press, Beijing (2006).
- [20] V. G. Drinfeld and V. V. Sokolov. Equations of Korteweg-de Vries type and simple Lie algebras.
 Soviet Math. Dokl. 23: 457-462 (1981).

- [21] M. A. McAnally and W. X. Ma. An integrable generalization of the D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy and its Hamiltonian reduced hierarchy. Appl. Math. Comput. (2017) DOI: 10.1016/j.amc.2017.11.004.
- [22] D. J. Kaup and A. C. Newell. An exact solution for a derivative nonlinear Schrödinger equation.J. Math. Phys. 19: 798-801 (1978).
- [23] X. G. Geng and W. X. Ma. A generalized Kaup-Newell spectral problem, soliton equations and finite-dimensional integrable systems. Il Nuovo Cimento A. 108: 477-486 (2010).
- [24] W. X. Ma and K. S. Li. Virasoro symmetry algebra of Dirac soliton hierarchy. Inverse Probl.
 12: L25-L31 (1996).
- [25] Y. Q. Yao, S. F. Shen, and W. X. Ma. A soliton hierarchy associated with a spectral problem of 2nd degree in a spectral parameter and its bi-Hamiltonian structure. Adv. Math. Phys. 2016: 3589704, 6 pages (2016).
- [26] C. H. Gu, H. S. Hu, and Z. X. Zhou. Darboux Transformations in Integrable Systems: Theory and their Applications to Geometry. Springer, The Netherlands (2005).
- [27] W. X. Ma. A method of zero curvature representation for constructing symmetry algebras of integrable systems. Proceedings of the 21st International Conference of the Differential Geometry Methods in Theoretical Physics, World Scientific. 535-538 (1993).
- [28] G. Z. Tu. The trace identity, a powerful tool for constructing the Hamiltonian structure of integrable systems. J. Math. Phys. 30: 330 (1989).
- [29] W. X. Ma. A new hierarchy of Liouville integrable generalized Hamiltonian equations and its reduction. Chin. Ann. Math. A. 13: 115-123 (1992); Chin. J. Contemp. Math. 13: 79-89 (1992).

- [30] W. X. Ma. An integrable counterpart of the D-AKNS soliton hierarchy from so(3, ℝ). Phys. Lett. A. 378(24-25): 1717-1720 (2014).
- [31] G. Z. Tu. On Liouville integrability of zero-curvature equations and the Yang hierarchy. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 22: 2375-2392 (1989).
- [32] W. X. Ma and Y. Zhou. Reduced D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchies from sl(2, ℝ) and so(3, ℝ).
 Int. J. Geo. Meth. Mod. Phys. 13: 1650105, 16 pages (2016).
- [33] W. X. Ma, C. G. Shi, E. A. Appiah, C. X. Li and S. F. Shen. An integrable generalization of the Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy. Phys. Scr. 89: 065203, 8 pages (2014).
- [34] M. Wadati, H. Sanuki and K. Kunno. Relationships among inverse method, Bäcklund transformations and infinite number of conservation laws. Prog. Theor. Phys. 53: 418 (1975).
- [35] R. Miura. Korteweg-de Vries equation and generalizations, I: A remarkable explicit nonlinear transformation. J. Math. Phys. 9: 1202 (1968).
- [36] V. S. Gerdjikov and I. Ivanov. A quadratic pencil of general type and nonlinear evolution equations. II. Hierarchies of Hamiltonian structures. J. Phys. Bulgar. 10: 130-143 (1983).
- [37] H. Yilmaz. Exact solutions of the Gerdjikov-Ivanov equation using Darboux transformations.J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 22: 32-46 (2015).
- [38] W. X. Ma and R. G. Zhou. A coupled AKNS-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy. J. Math. Phys. 40: 4419-4428 (1999).
- [39] R. M. Miura, C. S. Gardner, and M. D. Kruskal. Korteweg-de Vries equation and generalizations II- Existence of conservation laws and constants of motion. J. Math. Phys. 9: 1204-1209 (1968).

- [40] G. Falqui, F. Magri, and M. Pedroni. Bi-Hamiltonian geometry, Darboux coverings, and linearization of the KP hierarchy. Comm. Math. Phys. 197: 303-324 (1998).
- [41] P. Casti, A. Della Vedova, and G. Ortenzi. The soliton equations associated with the affine Kac-Moody Lie algebra $G_2^{(1)}$. J. Geom. Phys. **58**: 377-386 (2008).
- [42] W. Hereman, P. J. Adams, H. I. Eklund, M. S. Hickman, and B. M. Herbst. Direct methods and symbolic software for conservation laws of nonlinear equations, Advances in Nonlinear Waves and Symbolic Computation, loosa errata. Nova Sci. Publ., New York, 19-78 (2009).
- [43] W. X. Ma. The algebraic structures of isospectral Lax operators and applications to integrable equations. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 25: 5329-5343 (1992).
- [44] W. X. Ma. Lax representations and Lax operator algebras of isospectral and nonisospectral hierarchies of evolution equations. J. Math. Phys. 33: 2464-2476 (1992).
- [45] W. X. Ma. Lie algebra structures associated with zero curvature equations and generalized zero curvature equations. Brit. J. Appl. Sci. Tech. 3: 1336-1334 (2013).
- [46] P. J. Olver. Applications of Lie groups to differential equations. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. 107: Springer-Verlag, New York (1986).
- [47] W. X. Ma. A soliton hierarchy associated with so(3, ℝ). Appl. Math. Comp. 220: 117-122 (2013).
- [48] W. X. Ma. A spectral problem based in so(3, ℝ) and its associated commuting soliton equations.
 J. Math. Phys. 54: 103509. 8 pages (2013).
- [49] C. G. Shi, W. X. Ma, and M. A. McAnally. Integrable counterparts of the D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy. Appl. Math. Comp. 248: 463-469 (2014).

- [50] S. Manukure and W. X. Ma. A soliton hierarchy associated with a new spectral problem and its Hamiltonian structure. J. Math. Phys. 56: 021502. 8 pages (2015).
- [51] W. X. Ma. Integrable couplings of soliton equations by perturbations I-A general theory and application to the KdV hierarchy. Methods Appl. Anal. 7: 21-55 (2000).
- [52] W. X. Ma. A bi-Hamiltonian formulation for triangular systems by perturbations. J. Math. Phys. 43: 1408-1423 (2002).
- [53] W. X. Ma. Enlarging spectral problems to construct integrable couplings of soliton equations.
 Phys. Lett. A. 316: 72-76 (2003).
- [54] F. K. Guo and Y. F. Zhang. A new loop algebra and a corresponding integrable hierarchy, as well as its integrable couplings. J. Math. Phys. 44: 5793-5803 (2003).
- [55] Y. F. Zhang. A generalized multi-component Glachette-Johnson (GJ) hierarchy and its integrable couplings system. Chaos Soliton Fract. 21: 305-310 (2004).
- [56] F.K. Guo, Y. F. Zhang, and Q. Y. Yan. New simple method for obtaining integrable hierarchies of soliton equations with multicomponent potential functions. Inter. J. Theor. Phys. 43: 1139-1146 (2004).
- [57] W. X. Ma. Integrable couplings of vector AKNS soliton equations. J. Math. Phys. 46: 0333507, 19 pages (2005).
- [58] T. C. Xia, F. J. Yu, and D. Y. Chen. The multi-component generalized Wadati-Konono-Ichikawa(W-KI) hierarchy and its multi-component integrable couplings system with two arbitrary functions. Chaos Soliton Fract. 24: 877-883 (2005).
- [59] W. X. Ma, X.X. Xu, and Y.F. Zhang. Semi-direct sums of Lie algebras and continuous integrable couplings. Phys. Lett. A. 351: 125-130 (2006).

- [60] W. X. Ma, X. X. Xu, and Y. F. Zhang. Semi-direct sums of Lie algebras and discrete integrable couplings. J. Math. Phys. 47: 053501, 16 pages (2006).
- [61] M. X. Ma. Loop algebras and bi-integrable couplings. Chin. Ann. Math B. 33: 207-224 (2002).
- [62] J. H. Meng. Bi-integrable and tri-integrable couplings and their Hamiltonian structures (Ph.D. Dissertation). University of South Florida (2002). jhttp://scholar.commons.usf.edu/etd/4371j.
- [63] M. A. McAnally and W. X. Ma. Bi-integrable couplings associated with so(3, ℝ). B. Malays. Math. Sci. So. (2017) DOI: 10.1007/s40840-017-0580-y.
- [64] W. X. Ma and M. Chen. Hamiltonian and quasi-Hamiltonian structures associated with semidirect sums of Lie algebras. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 39: 10787-10801 (2006).
- [65] Y. P. Sun and H. W. Tam. A hierarchy of non-isospectral multi-component AKNS equations and its integrable couplings. Phys. Lett. A. 370: 1898-1902 (2007).
- [66] F. K. Guo and Y. F. Zhang. The computational formula on the constant λ appeared in the equivalently used trace identity and quadratic-form identity. Chaos Soliton Fract. 38: 499-505 (2008).
- [67] F. J. Yu and H. Q. Zhang. Hamiltonian structures of the integrable couplings for the multicomponent Dirac hierarchy. Appl. Math. Comput. 197: 828-835 (2008).
- [68] W. X. Ma. Variational identities and applications to Hamiltonian structures of soliton equations. Nonlinear Anal. 71: e1716-e1726 (2009).
- [69] W. X. Ma. Variational identities and Hamiltonian structures, in: W.X.Ma, X.B. Hu and Q.P. Liu (Eds.), Nonlinear and Modern Mathematical Physics. 1212: pages 1-27, AIP Conference Proceedings, American Institute of Physics, Melville, NY (2010).

- [70] W. X. Ma and Y. Zhang. Component-trace identities for Hamiltonian structures. Appl. Anal. 89: 457-472 (2010).
- [71] T. C. Xia, H. X. Chen, and D. Y. Chen. A new Lax integrable hierarchy, N Hamiltonian structures and its integrable couplings system. Chaos Soliton Fract. 23: 451-458 (2005).
- [72] M. Blaszak, B. M. Szablikowski, and B. Silindir. Construction and separability of nonlinear soliton integrable couplings. Appl. Math. Comput. 219: 1866-1873 (2012).
- [73] W. X. Ma, J. H. Meng, and H. Q. Zhang. Tri-integrable couplings by matrix loop algebras. Int.
 J. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul. 14: 377-388 (2013).
- [74] W. X. Ma. Nonlinear continuous integrable Hamiltonian couplings. Appl. Math. Comput. 217: 377-388 (2011).
- [75] Y. J. Zhang, W. X. Ma, and O. Unsal. A novel kind of AKNS integrable couplings and their Hamiltonain structures. Turk. J. Math. DOI: 10.3906/mat-1511-123.
- [76] M. A. McAnally and W. X. Ma. Integrable couplings of a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy and their Hamiltonian structures. Appl. Math. Comput. (Preprint, 2017).
- [77] L. Frappat, A. Sciarrino and P. Sorba. Dictionary on Lie Algebras and Superalgebras. Academic Press Inc. San Diego, CA (2000).
- [78] W. X. Ma and Y. Zhuo. Reduced D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchies from sl(2, ℝ) and so(3, ℝ).
 Int. J. Geo. Meth. Mod. Phys. 13: 1650105, 16 pages (2016).
- [79] V. B. Matveev and M. A. Salle. Darboux Transformations and Solitons. Springer, Berlin (1991).
- [80] W. X. Ma. Darboux transformations for a Lax integrable system in 2n-dimensions. Lett. Math. Phys. 39: 33-49 (1997).

- [81] D. Zhao, Y. J. Zhang, W. W. Lou, and H. G. Luo. AKNS hierarchy, Darboux transformation and conservation laws of the 1-D nonautonomous nonlinear Schrödinger equations. J. Math. Phys. 52: 043502 (2011).
- [82] X. Lü. Soliton behavior for a generalized mixed nonlinear Schröddinger model with N-fold Darboux transformations. Chaos. 23: 033137 (2013).
- [83] B. L. Guo, L. M. Ling and Q. P. Liu. Nonlinear Schrödinger equation: Generalized Darboux transformation and rogue wave solutions. Phys. Rev. E 85: 026607 (2012).
- [84] J. S. He, L. H. Wang, L. J. Li, K. Porsezian and R. Erdéli. Few-cycle optical rogue waves: Complex modified Korteweg-de Vries equation. Phys. Rev. E 89: 062917 (2014).
- [85] R. Hirota. The Direct Method in Soliton Theory. (Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 155). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2004).
- [86] W. X. Ma and Y. J. Zhang. Darboux transformations of integrable couplings and applications. Rev. Math. Phys.: RMP-D-16-00015 (2017).
- [87] M. A. McAnally and W. X. Ma. Darboux transformations of integrable couplings and an application to a generalized D-Kaup-Newell soliton hierarchy. (Preprint, 2017).
- [88] G. Darboux. Sur une proposition relative aux équations linéaires. Compts Rendus Hebdomadaires des Seances de l'Acadamie des Sciences. Paris 94: 1456 (1882).